
 

 
 

Scan the code above or visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings 
for a full copy of the agenda. 

 

 

 

 
 
Meeting CABINET 
 
Time/Day/Date 5.00 pm on Tuesday, 29 September 2020 
 
Location Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams 
 
Officer to contact Democratic Services (01530 454512) 
 
 

AGENDA 
 

Item  Pages 

 
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
 

2.  DECLARATION OF INTERESTS  
 

 

 Under the Code of Conduct members are reminded that in declaring 
disclosable interests you should make clear the nature of that interest and 
whether it is pecuniary or non-pecuniary. 
 

 

3.  PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION  
 

 

4.  MINUTES  
 

 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2020. 
 

5 - 12 

5.  COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN 2020/21 FORMAL ADOPTION, 2019/20 Q4 & 
2020/21 Q1 MONITORING  
 

 

 Report of the Chief Executive  
Presented by the Leader of the Council 
 

13 - 86 

6.  MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING SYSTEM: CONSULTATION ON 
CHANGES TO PLANNING POLICY AND REGULATIONS  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Place 
Presented by the Planning and Infrastructure Portfolio Holder  
 
 
 
 

87 - 112 

http://www.nwleics.gov.uk/meetings


 

 

7.  REVIEW OF MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Housing and Customer Services 
Presented by the Corporate Portfolio Holder 
 

113 - 132 

8.  PROVISIONAL FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2019/20  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Housing and Customer Services 
Presented by the Corporate Portfolio Holder 
 

133 - 144 

9.  NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLY STRATEGY 2020  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Housing and Customer Services 
Presented by the Housing, Property and Customer Services Portfolio Holder 
 

145 - 184 

10.  PROCUREMENT OF HOUSING NEW BUILD CONTRACTOR  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Housing and Customer Services 
Presented by the Housing, Property and Customer Services Portfolio Holder 
 

185 - 192 

11.  MINUTES OF THE COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES WORKING PARTY  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Place 
Presented by the Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

193 - 200 

12.  PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION IN RELATION TO THE COUNCILS DOG 
WARDEN AND KENNELLING SERVICES  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Place 
Presented by the Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

201 - 202 

13.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 

 The officers consider that the press and public should be excluded during 
consideration of the following items in accordance with Section 100(a) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 as publicity would be likely to result in disclosure 
of exempt or confidential information.  Members are reminded that they must 
have regard to the public interest test and must consider, for each item, 
whether the public interest in maintaining the exemption from disclosure 
outweighs the public interest in making the item available. 
 

 

14.  THE RECOVERY OF OUR LEISURE CENTRES AND THE PARTNERSHIP 
CONTRACT WITH EVERYONE ACTIVE  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Place 
Presented by the Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

203 - 216 

15.  AGILE IT EQUIPMENT SUPPLIER PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION  
 

 

 Report of the Strategic Director of Housing and Customer Services 
Presented by the Housing, Property and Customer Services Portfolio Holder 
 

217 - 220 

 
 
 



 

 

Circulation:  
 
Councillor R Blunt (Chairman) 
Councillor R Ashman (Deputy Chairman) 
Councillor R D Bayliss 
Councillor T Gillard 
Councillor N J Rushton 
Councillor A C Woodman 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Chairman’s initials 

MINUTES of a meeting of the CABINET held in the Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams on 
THURSDAY, 23 JULY 2020  
 
Present:  Councillor R Blunt (Chairman) 
 
Councillors R Ashman, R D Bayliss, T Gillard, N J Rushton and A C Woodman  
 
In Attendance: Councillors  D Bigby 
 
Officers:  Mr J Arnold, Mrs B Smith, Mr A Barton, Mrs T Bingham, Miss E Warhurst, Mr T Delaney 
and Mrs M Long 
 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

2. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
Councillor N Rushton declared a pecuniary interest in agenda item 16 – Newmarket due 
to his business interests and he left the meeting during consideration of this item taking no 
part in the discussion and decision thereon. 
 

3. PUBLIC QUESTION AND ANSWER SESSION 
 
No members of the public had requested to speak at the meeting. 
 

4. MINUTES 
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2020.  

 
It was moved, seconded and  

 

RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 9 June 2020 be approved as a correct record. 
 
Reason for decision:  To comply with the Constitution. 
 

5. COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN 2020/21 & QUARTER 3 REPORTING 2019/20 
 
The Leader presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
He explained that due to the delays and rescheduling of meetings due to COVID19 
Cabinet was being asked to endorse the Corporate Development Plan (CDP) in principle, 
subject to comment from Corporate Scrutiny in September. This is so that development 
and work plans could be commenced as the council starts to return to normal operation 
post the impacts created by COVID19. The CDP will then follow the normal decision 
making route, returning to Cabinet post scrutiny in September and on to Council in 
November. It was reported that due to the amended dates and reprioritised staffing 
resources, the Q4 reporting will not be published until September. For this year an end of 
year report will not be published due to the need to focus limited resources on addressing 
the demands around COVID19 recovery. A very similar retrospective review forms part of 
the Annual Statement of Accounts. 

 
The Leader invited questions and comments from Members.   

 

5

Agenda Item 4.



2 
 

Chairman’s initials 

Councillor Rushton advised that at Quarter 4 there would likely be more surpluses due to 
the delay of the commencement of the Leisure Centre build and other projects. Councillor 
Gillard extended his thanks to the Business Focus Team and the Finance Team for all 
their hard work over these past few months. He also referenced the commencement of 
the work to the new Leisure Centre in Whitwick and asked if the expected completion date 
was known and he was advised that it was two years from now.  Councillor Bayliss 
referred to the delayed accommodation review and advised that this work was still on the 
agenda, although in light of recent events, it may follow a different path. He also advised 
that the work around empty properties was ongoing, as too was the work around buying 
affordable homes from developers. Councillor Woodman advised that the re-launch date 
of the new improvements to the Leisure Centre in Ashby would be Spring 2021.  

 
The recommendation as set out on page 7 of the agenda was moved by Councillor Blunt, 
seconded by Councillor Rushton and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 

 
(1)  The draft Corporate Delivery Plan 2020/21, as shown in Appendix A to the report, be 

approved in principle for use in monitoring and work programme development from 
Quarter 1; 

 
(2)    The draft  Corporate Delivery Plan 2020/21 be referred the Corporate Scrutiny 

Committee for comment ahead of a decision by Cabinet in September and 
subsequent adoption by Council in November; 

 

(3) It be agreed not to publish a final year report for 2019/20, referring to the Annual 
Accounts Statement in its place; 

 
(4)    The performance report for Quarter 3 for 2019/20 as set out in Annex B and the 

comments from the Corporate Scrutiny Committee, as set out in Annex C, be noted.  
 
(5)   The forthcoming review of the medium term financial plan, where any issues identified 

in connection with the financing of the Plan will be reported, be noted.  
   

Reason for decision:  To ensure that the Council has in place a full suite of policy 
documents, that members have set direction for the year ahead and that members are 
aware of current performance against the plan. 
 

6. COVID-19 FINANCIAL IMPACT REPORT 
 
Councillor Nick Ruston presented the report to Cabinet and provided Cabinet with an 
understanding of the financial impact of the Covid-19 pandemic to the Council’s finances. 

 
Cabinet was advised that the Section 151 Officer considered the council to be financially 
stable. Moving forward, the council needs to consider its cashflow and forecast borrowing 
very closely with a view to bridging the pandemic funding gap; and this may mean that 
some tough decisions may well have to be made. One such area is the review of 
earmarked reserves.   

  
The Leader thanked Councillor Rushton and invited questions and comments from 
Members.     

 
Councillor Bayliss referred to the Housing Revenue Account and the reduced rental 
income and advised that this stood at 97% which was only slightly lower than it was pre- 
COVID-19, largely due to the fact the majority of council house rent payers are in receipt 
of a benefit which have been less impacted upon.     

 

6



3 
 

Chairman’s initials 

The recommendation as set out on page 61 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Rushton, seconded by Councillor Bayliss and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 
The contents of the report be noted and the comments made be taken into account by the 
S151 officer when addressing the budget implications for this and subsequent years. 
 
Reason for decision:  For Cabinet to be aware of the scale of financial impact of the 
Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

7. TREASURY MANAGEMENT STEWARDSHIP REPORT FOR 2019/20 
 
Councillor Nick Ruston presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
The report set out a summary update of the Treasury Management activity for the year 
and Councillor Rushton reassured Cabinet that reports were considered by the Audit and 
Governance Committee on a quarterly basis. He reported that, for the financial year 
2019/20, the council has complied with its Prudential Indicators, which were approved as 
part of the council’s Treasury Management Strategy Statement. He also confirmed that 
during the financial year, other than the breach of prescribed limit as set out in the report, 
the Council has complied with its Treasury Management practices. 

 
The Leader thanked Councillor Rushton and invited questions and comments from 
Members.  There were none .  

 
The recommendation as set out on page 74 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Rushton, seconded by Councillor Gillard and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The report be approved.  
 
Reason for decision:  Informing Cabinet of the Council’s treasury management activity is 
a statutory requirement. 
 

8. FORMER TENANT RENT ARREARS, CURRENT TENANT RENT ARREARS, 
COUNCLI TAX, NON DOMESTIC RATES AND SUNDRY DEBTOR WRITE OFFS 
REPORT FOR 2019/20 
 
Councillor Nick Ruston presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
The report advised Members of the total amount of debt written off by fund type during the 
previous financial year. It was noted that that write-offs are only considered where 
appropriate recovery and enforcement options have been taken, or, where the council is 
legally prohibited from pursuing the debt. 

 
The Leader thanked Councillor Rushton and invited questions and comments from 
Members.   

 
Councillor Bayliss advised that the Council did employ an officer whose job it was to 
pursue former tenant rent arrears and he is assured that her costs are more than covered.  
   

 
The recommendation as set out on page 87 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Rushton, seconded by Councillor Bayliss and subsequently  

 

7



4 
 

Chairman’s initials 

RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The information contained within the report be noted as a true representation of write offs 
undertaken during 2019/20. 
 

Reason for decision:  To comply with proper accounting practices. 
 

9. LOCAL PLAN SUBSTANTIVE REVIEW - OBJECTIVES 
 
Councillor Ashman advised Cabinet that he had received a number of questions from 
Councillor Bigby on this report which he had responded to; and details of the questions 
and responses had been circulated to Cabinet ahead of the meeting. Councillor Bigby was 
invited to ask a supplementary question.  

 
Councillor Bigby thanked Councillor Ashman for his reply and welcomed the agreed 
changes. However he expressed disappointment that the suggested changes in relation to 
objective 5 had been rejected. Whilst accepting the challenges that COVID-19 will 
present, Councillor Bigby strongly disputed the assumption that the economic interests of 
businesses in general were compatible with the economic interests of local residents. He 
didn’t accept that the building of more large warehouses across the district which were 
likely to be encouraged by the draft policy as it currently stands, would necessary be in 
the interests of local people. He therefore advised that he would continue to give some 
thought to this particular objective with a view to a revised recommendation which he 
hoped would find agreement by the Local Plan Committee.  

 
Councillor Ashman thanked Councillor Bigby and advised that he stood by his original 
response and accepted that there is a balance to be struck between encouraging new 
businesses to settle in the district bringing with them local employment and building large 
warehouses in the countryside.  

 
Councillor Robert Ashman presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
The report set out draft objectives which, subject to the consideration of both Cabinet and 
the Local Plan Committee, it was intended that they be included in the next stage of 
consultation on the Local Plan Substantive Review.   

 
The recommendation as set out on page 89 of the agenda, as amended, was moved by 
Councillor Ashman, seconded by Councillor Blunt and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The Local Plan Committee be requested to agree the draft objectives, as set out in 
paragraph 2.8 of the report, as amended by the response by Councillor Ashman to 
Councillor Bigby’s questions, in the next consultation stage of the substantive Local Plan 
review.  
 
Reason for decision:  The preparation of the Local Plan is a Cabinet function. 
 

10. STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT 
 
Councillor Robert Ashman presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
The report invited Cabinet to consider amendments to the Council’s adopted Statement of 
Community Involvement (February 2019) in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, and in other 
such circumstances that may arise when locations referenced in the Statement of 
Community Involvement are not available. 
 

8



5 
 

Chairman’s initials 

The Leader thanked Councillor Ashman and invited questions and comments from 
Members.  There were none.    

 
The recommendation as set out on page 103 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Ashman, seconded by Councillor Blunt and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 

 
(1) An addendum to the adopted Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) as set out 

in 4.1 of the report, to outline how the Council will consult in the event of  locations 
referenced in the SCI not being available, be agreed; 

 
(2) The Local Plan Committee be informed of the Cabinet’s decision.  

 

Reason for decision:  In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, approval of changes 
to the Statement of Community Involvement falls within the remit of Cabinet. 
 

11. USE OF ARTICLE 4 DIRECTION: HOUSES IN MULTIPLE OCCUPATION IN 
KEGWORTH 
 
Councillor Robert Ashman presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
The report invited Cabinet to consider the confirmation of an Article 4 Direction in 
Kegworth prohibiting the change of use of a dwelling to a small House in Multiple 
Occupation by way of permitted development rights. 

 
The Leader thanked Councillor Ashman and invited questions and comments from 
Members.   

 
Councillor Bayliss was pleased with the quantity and quality of the comments made as 
part of the consultation.      

 
The recommendations as set out on pages 157 and 158 of the agenda were moved by 
Councillor Ashman, seconded by Councillor Bayliss and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT CABINET: 

 
(1) Confirms that from Friday 19 February 2021, the Kegworth Article 4 direction 2020 

will be applied to the village of Kegworth to remove Permitted Development Rights for 
the change of use of a dwelling house (C3 use) to small houses in multiple 
occupation (C4 use); 

 
(2) Considers the public comments received during the publicity period in making its  

decision on the above recommendations: 
 
(3) Authorises the issue of public notices of this decision and sends a copy of the new 

direction to the Secretary of State, in accordance with Schedule 3 of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development Order) (England) Order 2015. 

 

Reason for decision:  In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, making on Article 4 
Direction falls within the remit of Cabinet. 
 

12. CONFIRMATION OF CASTLE DONINGTON (APIARY GATE & CLAPGUN STREET) 
ARTICLE 4(1) DIRECTION 
 
Councillor Robert Ashman presented the report to Cabinet. 

9



6 
 

Chairman’s initials 

 
The report invited Cabinet to confirm an Article 4(1) Direction in relation to Castle 
Donington (Apiary Gate & Clapgun Street). The report also referenced that the approval of 
the Chairman of the Council had been given to the exemption of the call-in of the decision, 
as any call-in would prejudice the ability of the Council to confirm the provisional direction 
on or before the 5 August 2020.” 

 
The Leader thanked Councillor Ashman and welcomed this report which would ensure 
that original windows are preserved to ensure the area retained its character.   

 
The recommendation as set out on page 183 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Ashman, seconded by Councillor Blunt and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT CABINET: 

 
(1) Confirms the Castle Donington (Apiary Gate & Clapgun Street) Article 4(1) Direction; 

 
(2) Notes the making of the Supplementary Direction set out In Appendix 2; 
 
(3) Delegates confirmation of the Supplementary Direction to the Strategic Director of 

Place in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Infrastructure, 
provided that no objections are received. 

 
Reason for decision:  Confirmation of the Article 4(1) Direction and making of the 
supplementary provisional direction would support the Council in fulfilling its duties under 
the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 relating to the 
management of conservation areas. 
 

13. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 

 
It was moved by Councillor Rushton, seconded by Councillor Bayliss and subsequently 

 
In pursuance of Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public 
be excluded from the remainder of the meeting on the grounds that the business to be 
transacted involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 
of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act and that the public interest in maintaining this 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 
 
Reason for decision: To enable the consideration of exempt information. 
 

14. EXEMPTION FROM THE COUNCIL'S CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES - FINANCE 
SYSTEM 
 
Councillor Nick Rushton presented the report to Cabinet. 

 
The Leader thanked Councillor Rushton and invited questions and comments from 
Members.  There were none.   

 
The recommendation as set out on page 197 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Rushton, seconded by Councillor Blunt and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Cabinet approves the recommendation as set out on page 197 of the agenda. 
 

10



7 
 

Chairman’s initials 

Reason for decision:  To ensure the contract for the Council’s finance system is 
compliant. 
 
 

15. THE RECOVERY OF OUR LEISURE CENTRES AND THE PARTNERSHIP CONTRACT 
WITH EVERYONE ACTIVE (JULY TO SEPTEMBER) 
 
Councillor Andrew Woodman presented the report to Cabinet. It was acknowledged that 
this report had been considered by the Community Scrutiny Committee earlier in the week 
and their comments had been circulated to Cabinet ahead of its meeting.  

 
The recommendation as set out on page 205 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Woodman, seconded by Councillor Blunt and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Cabinet approves the recommendation as set out on page 205 of the agenda. 
 
Reason for decision: To agree a financial support package for July to September 2020 
inclusive on an open book basis to rebuild the community access to our leisure centres in 
a Covid safe environment.  
 

16. NEWMARKET 
 
Councillor Andrew Woodman presented the report to Cabinet. It was acknowledged that 
this report had been considered by the Community Scrutiny Committee earlier in the week 
and their comments had been circulated to Cabinet ahead of its meeting. 

 
The recommendation as set out on page 227 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Woodman, seconded by Councillor Ashman and subsequently  

 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
Cabinet approves the recommendation as set out on page 227 of the agenda. 
 
Reason for decision:  To allow the Council to complete works on site. 
 

The meeting commenced at 5.00 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 5.59 pm 
 

 

11



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN 2020/21 FORMAL ADOPTION & Q4 
2019/20 MONITORING 
 

Presented by Councillor Richard Blunt 
Leader of the Council  
 

Background 
Papers 

The Council Delivery Plan for 2019/20 can be 
found on our website - 
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/performance 
 
Cabinet Report July 2020  
 
Corporate Scrutiny Report September 2020  
 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial 
Implications 

The ‘Review of the Medium Term Financial Plan’ report on the same 
agenda sets out the range of scenarios associated with the funding 
position of the Council over the next 5 years and plans to deliver savings 
built into plans, and should be read in conjunction with this report.  
 
Due to the impact of COVID-19 on the council’s financial position, there is 
a deficit of £0.978m on the General Fund forecast for the current financial 
year.  As such there is a reliance on a contributions from the Self-
Sufficiency reserve in order to deliver the Council Delivery Plan. Including 
the current year, the forecast deficit on the 5 year General Fund MTFP is 
£5.3m and there is £6.3m in the Self-Sufficiency reserve meaning that the 
Council would be able to deliver an ongoing balanced budget. 
 
On the HRA the 5 year MTFP position is a surplus of £1.1m over the five 
year period.  

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications This report sets in place the CDP for the current year and as such is a key 
policy document for the council as part of the budget and policy framework 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and 
Corporate 
Implications 
 

These are addressed under the Team Plans for each area of the council 
and through the MTFP.  
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service:  Yes 
 
 

Purpose of Report To report on the final Council Delivery Plan (CDP) for the current year 
(2020/21) and agree to recommend the CDP to Full Council.  
 

Reason for 
Decision 

To ensure that the council has a Delivery Plan in place for the current year 
in line with the constitution.  
 

Recommendations 1. NOTE THE COMMENTS FROM CORPORATE SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE IN ANNEX A REGARDING THE CDP AND 
PERFORMANCE REPORTING.  

2. TO AGREE THE CDP IN ANNEX B AND RECOMMEND THIS TO 
FULL COUNCIL FOR ADOPTION.  

3. TO NOTE THE PERFORMANCE REPORTING FOR Q4 2019/20 
AND Q1 2020/21 IN ANNEX C. 

 

13

Agenda Item 5.

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/pages/performance
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=126&MId=2239&Ver=4
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=352&MId=2156&Ver=4


 

1.0 COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN 2020/21 
 
1.1 The Council Delivery Plan (CDP) is produced annually to set out the priority areas of work 

and performance targets and information for the year ahead. This plan has been developed 
through discussions at the Corporate Leadership Team, Scrutiny and Cabinet. This process 
has been delayed this year due to the COVID19 pandemic as reported to Cabinet in July 
2020. At that meeting Cabinet agreed ‘in principle’ to the draft CDP presented subject to 
comments from Corporate Scrutiny Committee. 
 

1.2 Corporate Scrutiny considered the draft CDP earlier this month and a copy of the minutes 
in attached in Annex A. In summary scrutiny comments were regarding detail and wording 
of particular objectives. Where appropriate these have been updated in the CDP attached 
as Annex B to this report. Assuming Cabinet agreement, the CDP will be reported to 
Council at its next meeting for final adoption.  
 

1.3 The Council’s priorities for the year ahead are underpinned by a balanced budget, a 
constant focus on value for money, local income generation where appropriate and a 
balanced, prudent approach to the future challenges to our funding and expenditure as set 
out in the Medium Term Financial Strategy.  As with all Councils, we are still assessing the 
impacts of COVID19 on our finances.  The Medium Term Financial Plans (MTFPs) 
presented elsewhere on the agenda currently show a forecast deficit outturn for the 
General Fund for the 2020/21 financial year, based on monitoring undertaken in Quarter 1.  
The Q1 forecast position presents a projected deficit of £0.978m on the General Fund.  As 
such, the CDP presented in this report fits with the MTFP, but there is a reliance on a 
contribution from the Self-Sufficiency reserve.  Further assessment through regular budget 
monitoring will continue to focus on recovering the impact of COVID, seeking as much as is 
reasonably possible to balance the budget for 2020/21.  Members can find full details 
relating to Q1 forecasts for 2020/21 in the medium term financial plan report. 

 
2.0 QUARTER 4 2019/20 & QUARTER 1 2020/21 – PERFORMANCE REPORTING 
 
2.1 This report sets out the performance and progress against the Council Delivery Plan priority 

actions, performance indicators, sickness absence management and finance. As noted 
above due to the COVID19 related issues the reporting has been delayed, and is reported 
for completeness. The latest monitoring was presented to Corporate Scrutiny Committee 
on the 2 September 2020, and an extract of the minutes of that meeting are included in 
Annex A. A high level report of the Council’s performance for Q4 and Q1 is included in 
Annex C. We will resume normal quarterly reporting at the end of Q3 to scrutiny and 
Cabinet when the revised Council Delivery Plan has been approved and team plans 
amended and updated to reflect the refocussed activities and performance of the Council in 
view of the COVID-19 impacts. 

 

SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE QUARTER 4 

2.2 In summary of the 46 actions in the Council Delivery Plan 21 were achieved during the 
year, good progress was made with 18 of the actions and 7 were not progressed.  The 
following notable achievements in the final quarter of 2019/20 were:- 

 

2.3 Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town 

 The Council submitted a Stage 1 expression of Interest application to the 
governments Future High Street Fund in March 2019 and a grant of £150,000 was 
subsequently awarded to assist with the development of a full business case. We 
also secured grant funding of £100,000 from the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership Business Rates Pool fund to continue the development of 
the projects identified within the Coalville Regeneration Framework. 

 

 A methodology for the delivery of a cinema in Coalville was been identified and 
agreed in principle with interested parties – to bring the project to fruition external 

14



 

funding will be needed and this will be sought as part of the  Future High street 
fund. 

 

 The redesign of the Marlborough square project continued during the quarter and 
construction work commenced on the new indoor market. 

 
2.4 Our communities are safe, healthy and connected. 

 We continued to increase the number of customer on-line accounts and an 
increasing number of forms and requests can now be made online, enabling 
customers to contact us 24/7 for an increasing number of service requests across 
the Council’s services. 

 With the COVID-19 lockdown we started to review how we could continue to 
communicate and provide services to members of the community using remote 
channels. 

 The majority of internal improvements to the leisure centre in Ashby were 
completed in the quarter, and all planning and other consents were agreed for 
construction of the new Leisure Centre in Coalville. The final discussions around 
the Highways agreements were being completed with Leicestershire County 
Council. 

 The actions in the Health and Wellbeing strategy continued to seek to address the 
health inequalities in the district. 

 The partial review on revisions to the Local Plan was submitted in the quarter. 
 

2.5 Local people live in High quality, affordable homes 

 There were delays to the house building programmes as a result of excessive rain 
and the impacts of COVID-19 in the quarter. These programmes  will be brought 
back online as soon as circumstances allow. 

 All major planning proposals now involve detailed consideration of the Building for 
life criteria and our Good Design guide. 

 £4.2m was spent during the year on capital works to improve tenants homes. 
Improvements included work on fire risk remedial work, decent  homes 
improvement works, the installation of Air Source Heat Pumps and improvements 
to sheltered housing buildings. 

 Proactive enforcement work was undertaken to ensure eligible property owners 
have the correct Houses in Multiple Occupation licenses. 
 

 
2.6 Support for businesses and helping people into jobs  

 We provided advice to small businesses and start-ups on food hygiene and 
allergen controls. 

 In partnership with the National Forest Company, we have been working with 
consultants on an options appraisal for Moira Furnace – progress has been 
delayed by the COVID-19 crisis. 

 Information on the exit from the EU and the development of HS2 has been 
reduced due to COVID-19. 

 We are continuing to work with our partner Everyone Active to ensure a robust and 
deliverable plan is established to maximise opportunities for local material 
suppliers, contractors and labour during the construction of the Coalville Leisure 
Centre. 

 
2.7 Developing a clean and green district 

 A weekly food waste collection trial commenced during the year was operational 
until mid March but had to be suspended as we refocussed our refuse and 
recycling efforts to meet social distancing and a reduced workforce as a result of 
employees needing to shield from the risks of COVID-19. 

 Plans for the expansion of our free tree scheme started in Q1 but there may be 
delays as a result of COVID-19. 

15



 

 Air Source Heat pumps were installed in 335 properties since 2018. We are 
continuing to work with partners and tenants to seek to further increase this 
number. 

 
2.8 Finance 

 
2.9 At the end of the financial year the Council’s budgets have been managed effectively. 

Increased revenue surpluses have been achieved for both the General Fund and Housing 
Revenue accounts. The Special Expenses accounts has now contributed to reserves rather 
than the forecast contribution from reserves. 
 

2.10 Further slippage than forecast has been identified on the General Fund capital programme, 
due to a number of projects slipping into 2020/21. An underspend remains on the HRA 
capital programme, which has increased from quarter 3 mainly due to the new supply and 
estate improvement programmes. 

 
2.11 Performance Indicators 

 
2.12 The use of both qualitative and quantitative measures (indicators) to supplement the 

delivery of actions in the Council Delivery plan provides a picture of how we are performing 
against the expected outcomes. Progress against the Council’s key indicators is detailed in 
Appendix C with explanations of the progress against each of the key tasks identified for 
the current financial/operating year. Some of the indicators were affected by the start of the 
COVID-19 pandemic which started to have an impact on our activities during the last month 
of the quarter. Nevertheless, the overall performance against the indicators was good  -  25 
were on target or better than the target, 2 were within target or within tolerance and 5 were 
behind target. 

 
2.13 The following indicators are highlighted as being behind their original target during Q4. 

 

 Spend on agency workers 
This is showing a spend of £469K in the quarter against a target of £250K.  It is important 
to emphasise that while the spend is over the target, all of the spend has been within 
existing salary budgets. Agency workers are used where there are absences of 
permanent employees or where we have been unable to recruit permanently to vacancies 
occurring in the workforce. There were increases in the use of Agency workers in the 
Planning, Finance, Housing and Legal services work areas during the quarter. In a 
number of these areas we struggled to recruit to permanent posts and therefore needed 
to rely more on Agency support. We did recruit agency workers to permanent roles during 
the quarter to minimise the reliance on temporary staff.  
 
A number of Agency workers were retained during the early COVID period as their 
retention was seen as being critical to the COVID response or where we wanted to retain 
them for the recovery work that would be needed in the future. This has been kept under 
review for each agency worker as the response to the pandemic has developed. Many of 
the labour markets we compete in have changed significantly during the COVID-19 crisis 
with vacancy response rates increasing significantly in a number of occupational areas 
and this may well have an impact on our reliance on agency workers in the future. 
 

 Sickness absence. 
In Q4 (2019/20) there were 1095 FTE days lost due to sickness - 155 FTE days fewer 
when compared with the same period in 2018/19. However the final figure for 2019/20 
was 10.68 days/FTE, which was also higher than the previous year figure of figure of 9.67 
days/FTE, and was also above the corporate target of 8.0 days.  
 
A high proportion of the sickness absence (66%) in the quarter, was long term. There 

were 30 long term cases of sickness and 26 were managed to return to work. While many 

employees commenced a period of self-isolation due to the start of the corona virus 

16



 

pandemic during the quarter, we did not have any confirmed cases of sickness due to 

COVID-19 during 2019/20 in the Council workforce. 

We continued to implement a number of preventative measures to try to reduce the 
sickness rate including the provision of flu injections, a developing programme of activities 
to encourage health and well-being in the workforce, and we continued our work with the 
task and finish group in the refuse and recycling team to more proactively manage the 
higher level of long term absences in that work area.  
 
 

 Percentage of commercial units occupied per annum 
 
Occupancy was at 82% at the end of Q4 against a target of 90%. Pre-COVID we had a 
number of offers and viewings from a recently entered commercial agreement with FHP 
property consultants, who are marketing the commercial units on our behalf. The levels of 
interest from potential occupants have been maintained during Q1 despite the impact of 
COVID-19. 

 

 Shop vacancy rates in the Belvoir Centre are more positive than the national average. 
 

 The vacancy rates were 21.8% compared to a nationwide vacancy rate of 9.8% with 12 of 
the 55 units vacant at the end of the quarter. A number of the actions in the Council 
Delivery plan are designed to help improve the occupancy rate during 2020/21, but the 
impact of COVID-19 is likely to have a negative impact on this indicator the year ahead. 

 

 Value of Coalville shop fronts grants awards. 
 

 There were no new grants awards during Q4 against a target spend of £40,000 due to the 
impact of COVID-19 which has delayed site inspections and progress with applications. 

 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

The CDP support all council priorities: 
- Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family-

friendly town 
- Support for businesses and helping people into 

local jobs 
- Developing a clean and green district 
- Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 
- Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

None Directly  

Safeguarding: 
 

None Directly  

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

None Directly  

Customer Impact: 
 

None Directly but programme of work will positively 
impact  

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The CDP includes a series of economic and social 
aims programmes and deliverables 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The CDP includes a series of environmental and 
climate change aims programmes and deliverables 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

None directly but individual programmes will  

Risks: 
 

Noted in the report  

Officer Contact 
 

Andy Barton - Strategic Director 
Andy.Barton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 

17

mailto:Andy.Barton@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX A – EXTRACTS OF MINUTES FROM CORPORATE SCRUNITY 2 SEPT 2020 

EXTRACT of MINUTES of a meeting of the CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in 

the Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams on WEDNESDAY, 2 SEPTEMBER 2020  

Present:  Councillor R Boam (Chairman) 

Councillors J Hoult, E G C Allman, A J Bridgen, G Hoult, R Johnson, S Sheahan, N Smith, D 

E J Tebbutt and M B Wyatt  

In Attendance: Councillor R Bayliss   

Officers:  Mr A Barton, E Tomlinson, Miss A Wright, Mrs T Bingham, Mr C Brown, M D'Oyly-

Watkins, Mr T Delaney, Mrs A Harper, Mrs M Long, Mr M Murphy, Mr P Sanders, Mr D 

Scruton and Walford 

 

8. COUNCIL DELIVERY PLAN 2020-21 
 
Andy Barton, Strategic Director, presented the report to the Committee.  
 
He advised the Committee that the Council Delivery Plan (CDP) outlined the key tasks that 
would be undertaken to deliver in the priority areas during 2020/21 and also the aspirations 
for the priorities over a three year period. 
 
There are a number of themes coming through this year’s CDP, the details of which were set 
out in the report. Due to the delays and rescheduling of meetings due to COVID19, Cabinet 
endorsed at its July meeting the draft CDP ‘in principle’, subject to comment from Corporate 
Scrutiny at this meeting. This was so that development and work plans could be commenced 
as the council starts to return to normal operation post the impacts created by COVID19. The 
CDP will then follow the normal decision making route, returning to Cabinet post scrutiny in 
September and on to Council in November. In future years, the CDP and MTFP processes 
will be aligned to avoid a potential repeat of this issue in the future. 
 
The Chairman thanked the Director for his report and invited questions and comments from 
Members.  
 
Councillor Sheahan asked for expected completion dates for Marlborough Square and 
Newmarket, to which he was advised that these would be made available once the dates have 
been firmed up. Councillor Sheahan asked if he could be emailed the ‘best guess’ dates.   
 
Councillor Sheahan asked what the targets were in terms of the objective to reduce the levels 
of obesity, and he was advised that more detail can be provided and the wording made clearer.  
 
Turning attention to the new Leisure centre, Councillor Sheahan asked for construction 
timescales so members could see how it was panning out and whether the targets were being 
met. He was advised that the CDP does not contain this level of detail but the performance 
monitoring reports would have this. He then asked what was meant by dwell time and how 
might this be measured and he was advised that details would be provided outside the 
meeting.  
 
Councillor Sheahan asked a question on behalf of Councillor Bigby in relation to the highest 
priority routes from the Ashby cycling strategy and asked when the objective might be 
available and was advised that if Councillor Bigby wanted to contact officers directly this would 
be provided.  

19



 
Councillor Sheahan asked whether all the objectives and actions would be completed within 
the timescale and he was advised that the level of detail being sought would be picked up as 
part of the performance monitoring reports. He was also reminded that there was an Economic 
Recovery Plan coming off the back of the COVID crisis which will also be updated. 
 
Councillor Sheahan finished off his questions by stating that there should be a complete 
section on ‘Clean and Green’ and specifically reducing carbon emissions; and at the very least 
there should be an objective, as reference to the Carbon reduction plan is a bit vague.  He 
gave an example of switching over to electric vehicles and increasing the number of electric 
charging points.  
 
It was explained the CDP linked into other longer-term strategies, as the CDP itself could not 
include each individual strategy and objective; and that action on these would be monitored 
through the performance monitoring framework.    
 
Councillor Wyatt referred to the free tree scheme and stated that he felt this should be included 
as part of the carbon reduction scheme and the number of trees given out should be 
highlighted, together with how much carbon this was helping to reduce. He advised that the 
County Council was currently acting as a stumbling block, as it was not permitting the planting 
of the trees on highways, so we need to work with them to overcome this in order to move 
forward. Councillor Wyatt stated that some housing stock still had the old lighting systems in 
place and these need to be sorted as soon as possible to enable energy efficient lighting. 
 
Councillor Allman asked of there was a list of all the private empty properties and a strategy 
on reducing the number on the lists. 
 
He was advised that there is a strategy on bring back into use empty properties and the 
number and the list will be supplied outside the meeting as this was not immediately to hand.  
 
Councillor Johnson echoed the earlier comments of Councillor Sheahan in respect of electric 
vehicles and asked why this Council was falling behind in this regard.  
 
It was reported that this had been looked at, taking into account the distance the service 
vehicles need to travel and the current lack of charging points but this will be looked at again 
as we move forward. 
 
Councillor Wyatt did not support the CDP as he considered it not be to detailed or complete 
enough.  
 
The recommendation as set out on page 41 of the agenda was moved by Councillor Allman,  
seconded by Councillor Smith and by affirmation of the meeting, with the exception of 
Councillor Wyatt as referred to above:- 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 

The report be duly noted and the comments made at this meeting be reported to Cabinet.  

9. 2019/20 Q4 & 2020/21 Q1 PERFORMANCE REPORTS 
 
Mike Murphy, Head of Human Resources and Organisational Development presented the 
report to the Committee.  
 
He advised the Committee that the report provided Members with information on the 
performance and progress made against the Council Delivery Plan actions and performance 

20



indicators for Quarter 4 (Q3) (January - March 2020) and a summary of key performance for 
Quarter 1 (Q1) (April – June 2020).  
 
It was acknowledged that many areas of work were paused or ceased during recent months 
due to the COVID pandemic and these were highlighted in the report.   
 
 The Chairman thanked the Head of Service for his report and invited questions and comments 
from Members.  
 
 Councillor Sheahan raised issues on behalf of Councillor Bigby in relation to off street parking 
in Ridgway Road, Ashby as planning permission was received in March but work had not yet 
started. He asked for the start and completion dates and whether a contractor had been 
appointed. He also asked for updates on a number of car parking issues referred to in the 
report and when the report on car parking improvement would be available.  He also asked 
for an update on Moira Furnace and welcomed the campaign on fly tipping although he 
considered more detail should be provided on the number of incidents and prosecutions.   
 
 Councillor Johnson asked a question regarding the Marlborough Square project and reference 
to the construction having commenced and stated that nothing was happening on site so 
asked for clarification on when it would commence. He also asked why the spend on agency 
workers had increased. 
 
 In terms of the latter point, it was explained that there were a number of areas within the 
Council’s workforce which had experienced difficulties in recruitment and therefore additional 
agency spend was necessary. In terms of the other points raised by Members it was agreed 
to provide this information outside the meeting as it was not readily available. 
 
 The recommendation as set out on page 51 of the agenda was moved by Councillor Sheahan, 
seconded by Councillor J Hoult and by affirmation of the meeting:- 
 
 RESOLVED THAT: 

That the report be duly noted and the comments made at this meeting be reported to 

Cabinet. 

 

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Council Delivery Plan for 2020-21

SEGRO Logistics Park East Midlands Gateway development

23



Thank you messages for Waste services 

   Councillor Richard Blunt – Leader 

   Bev Smith – Chief Executive 

Welcome to our  
Council Delivery Plan for 2020-21

2

North West Leicestershire District 
Council is proud to put our 
communities and customers at the 
heart of what we do. 
This has been evident more than ever 
in our response and ongoing recovery 
work regarding the Covid-19 pandemic.
We are now looking to the future and 
preparing our strategies to support 
the local economy, businesses and 
communities in the long-term, creating 
growth and employment while 
encouraging residents to spend locally 
and support each other. 
Our council priorities show the areas 
where we think the council can 
have most influence. Our Corporate 
Development Plan sets of how we will 
achieve these targets in the coming 
year and beyond. 
Our plans and priorities our guided by 
our corporate values and driven by our 
Customer First approach to everything 

we do. A balanced budget and our 
focus of providing value for money also 
underpin all of work.
We will strive as an organisation to 
achieve the aims and actions set out in 
this plan, ensuring we have a positive 
impact on those that live and work in 
North West Leicestershire.  

Our priorities 

•  Supporting Coalville to be a more 
vibrant, family-friendly town 

•  Our communities are safe, healthy 
and connected 

•  Local people live in high quality, 
affordable homes 

•  Supporting businesses and helping 
people into local jobs 

•  Developing a clean and green 
district

24



Value for money 

NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

It is our ethos to manage our budgets carefully and sensibly. This allows us to provide excellent value for money in our services; investing in 
key schemes and infrastructure that make a real difference in our communities, whilst balancing the books and planning for the future. 

Th
e 

G
en

er
al

 F
un

d

General Fund - Income General Fund - Spending and saving plans

Income from 

Council tax 

Fees and charges

Business rates

Recycling

Other local income

In 2020/21 we plan to collect:     

Council tax £5.5 million 

Planning fees £1.1 million

Business rates £6.9 million

Recycling £474,000

Government grant  
(the Revenue Support Grant) £NIL 

Spending and saving plans

We plan to spend £15.2 million of our 
£15.8 million budget 

We will add £630,000 to our Self-
Sufficiency Fund to protect us against 
future financial challenges 

Key investments
£17 million (of £23 million) investment 
in a new leisure centre in Coalville

£1.6 million for the redevelopment of 
Marlborough Square

£1.3 million investment in the 
council’s fleet

£0.6 million for the development of 
Appleby Magna Caravan Park

H
ou

si
ng

 R
ev

en
ue

 A
cc

ou
nt

 

Housing Revenue Account - Income Housing Revenue Account - Spending and saving plans

Income from 

Rents 

In 2020/21 we plan to collect: 

Rents and service charges £18 million

Spending and saving plans 

We plan to spend £8.2 million on 
council housing services 

£2.8 million retained to use flexibly 
in the future, for instance we could 
repay loans or use this to fund future 
capital programme works, such as 
the purchase of new houses when 
opportunities arise. 

Key investments 

£4.7 million improving and maintaining 
our existing council homes

£3.8 million building or buying new 
council homes 

For more information on our income, spending and saving plans, please visit www.nwleics.gov.uk/mtfs

3

25



An aerial shot of Coalville Memorial Clock Tower 

Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family-friendly town

4

Town centres are changing and adapting to the new ways that people 
spend their leisure time, and we want Coalville to evolve in tandem 
with this. 

Covid-19 has introduced new pressures on town centres like Coalville, 
with businesses adopting new ways of operating to ensure the safety 
of customers. The financial impact of the pandemic has also been 
significant.

We intend to encourage everyone to shop local and shop safe in the 
coming year, supporting town centres and independent shops and 
businesses. This will be a significant part of our Covid-19 recovery plan.

We will assess what could help to bring more people into the town 
centre, set out where key development sites are and work with 
partners to create exciting entertainment and retail opportunities. 

We can’t do this work on our own. That’s why we plan to support 
community groups and businesses to make their own contributions to 
improving the town; through events, funding bids, grants and advice. 

Together we can help to build a vibrant Coalville with lots to offer our 
families and communities.

NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

26



NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town

Our aims 

Key tasks 2020-21 In the next three years we will...

Coalville is a vibrant town - Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville town centre - Coalville is a good place to do business 

Begin priority projects in the Regeneration Framework for Coalville

Enable and initiate new developments and public realm projects, 
supporting the district’s high aspirations for design quality

Support the redevelopment of key housing sites in Coalville

Work with the Belvoir Shopping Centre to make it a more attractive 
destination and reduce the number of vacant shops 

Ensure that links to the new leisure centre are maximised focusing 
on Hermitage Recreation Ground and the future of the leisure centre 
building

Commence delivery of the Coalville Regeneration Framework to enhance 
the town centre

Seek external funding, including the new national Future High Streets 
Fund to support town centre regeneration, and recovery post COVID19 

Seek a cinema operator for Coalville

Deliver a community events programme, where appropriate in line with 
the current COVID19 guidance

Start the implementation of Marlborough Square redevelopment

Complete the new indoor market on Marlborough Square

Work with partners to make the most of our heritage to bolster the 
town’s identity and sense of place

Provide grants to at least ten businesses in Coalville to improve the fronts 
of their buildings, creating a better street scene

Consider how the Councils accommodation and property ownership 
can assist with the delivery of regeneration and reduce environmental 
impacts

Continue to provide support and funding for Coalville Market traders to 
grow their business

5





27



Our communities are safe, healthy and connected

NWLDC leader Richard Blunt breaking the earth on the new site with partners from Everyone Active and Metnor

6 NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

We want North West Leicestershire to be a safe and healthy place 
that is well-connected and great for growing families. 

We will put the Customer First in all our decisions and actions. 
Covid-19 has already, and will continue too, have an impact on how 
we deliver our services to customers.

We will ask for and respond to customer feedback to continually 
improve our customer service. This includes our online self-serve 
options, phone service and our face-to-face service, which will 
need to adapt and be improved to ensure public safety. 

We want communities to be well connected so we’re supporting 
infrastructure investment to make sure people can easily get to 
their jobs and pursue leisure interests. 

We will work to ensure our town centres and events to be inviting 
and welcoming, but also safe for all. 

The health and wellbeing of our communities is important to us. 
This year will see work advance on our £22.5m leisure centre in 
Coalville which began in July 2020.

28



NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

Our communities are safe, healthy and connected

Our aims 

Key tasks 2020-21 In the next three years we will...

Put our customers at the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) throughout our communities – Support safer neighbourhoods

Ensure that our communities recover from the impacts of COVID19, 
including the continued delivery of the ‘hub’ for our shielded and 
vulnerable residents

Develop and deploy an ‘agile’ working policy and approach 

Make sure our customers can interact with us in a way which meets their 
needs, improving our services, promoting  self-serve and digital options 
as well as providing face-to-face support compliant with COVID19 
guidance 

We intend to work with our partners to deliver the proposed Obesity 
Strategy for Leicestershire and support the Leicestershire Weight 
Management service by providing physical activity for their clients as 
part of the integrated Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Work with our leisure partner to start the construction of the new 
Whitwick and Coalville Leisure Centre

Working with local schools, parish councils and leisure centres, improve 
the community leisure facilities in Castle Donington and at Ibstock and 
Measham Leisure Centres

Develop our tourism offer to encourage inward investment, dwell time 
and connecting visitor attractions

Encourage and support town and parish councils to write and prepare 
their own Neighbourhood Plans

Adopt the partial review of the Local Plan

Develop a network of locations for mobile CCTV

Stabilise and reduce if possible our sickness absence levels through a 
combination of measures in our People Plan

Work towards increasing participation levels at Coalville and Ashby 
Leisure Centres by 58% by 2026

Achieve accreditation from the Surveillance Camera Commissioner for 
our CCTV system

7



29



8

 Brand new council homes in Greenhill - Chris Lambert, Head of Housing and Property at NWLDC and Andy Cassels, Senior Project Manager at Robert Woodhead Ltd

NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

Local people live in high quality, affordable homes
We will continue our programme of building new council homes 
and also buying or acquiring new properties from developers as 
they build private homes in the area. 

We remain committed to delivering 30 more homes in our district 
per year, extending our housing stock and providing families on 
our waiting list with high-quality living spaces.

We are committing to improving our own housing through a 
planned programme of improvements to the value of £14 million, 
as well as working to make sure the private rented accommodation 
in our district is up to standard.

30



Local people live in high quality, affordable homes

Our aims 

Key tasks 2020-21 In the next three years we will...

Increase the number of affordable homes in the district – Improve the quality of our council housing – Improve the quality of private rented accommodation

NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

Get planning permission and start building new council homes in 
Whitwick and Measham and pursue other sites where viable

Ensure residential development takes place on brownfield sites in Moira 
and Measham

Ensure all new housing in the district meets the standards of the NWLDC  
Good Design Guide.

Invest up to £5 million to upgrade tenants’ homes and their 
neighbourhoods

Alter tenants’ homes where there is an assessed medical need, by 
spending up to £300,000 on level access showers, stair lifts and other 
aids and adaptations

Invest £770,000 in estate improvements including off-street parking, 
improvements to footpaths and roads and mobility scooter stores 

Carry out proactive, targeted enforcement so all eligible landlords have a 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) License

Commence delivery of the redevelopment of Appleby Magna Caravan 
Park  

Provide at least 15 new council homes through new build or by acquiring 
through agreements with developers and market purchase  

Maximise the number of private empty properties that are brought back 
into use

Selectively buy back long term empty properties 

Work with local housing associations to supply 300 new affordable homes

Invest up to £14 million to improve council homes

9



£

31



Moira Furnace

Support for businesses 
and helping people  
into local jobs

10

North West Leicestershire traditionally has a low 
unemployment rate but with the impact of Covid-19 still 
being assessed, and likely to impact jobs, we need to be 
ready to offer our skills and support to employers and 
producers, large and small. 

We will support growth across our district, encourage 
private investment and help to equip the workforce with the 
skills needed to maintain a strong local economy. 

We will play a key role in supporting those that lose their 
jobs to understand where they can find the support they 
need. 

Our commitment to promote a ‘shop local, support North 
West Leicestershire’ ethos is also designed to mitigate the 
impact of Covid-19 on the district’s businesses.

The UK will leave the European Union on 31 January, 2021. 
We will continue to work with businesses affected by the EU 
exit to make sure they are prepared for any changes.

32



Support for businesses and helping people into local jobs

Our aims 

Key tasks 2020-21 In the next three years we will...

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – Help young people into work 

NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

Working in partnership with the National Forest Company, carry out an 
options appraisal for Moira Furnace as part of an application for Resilient 
Heritage funding to the Heritage Lottery Fund

Provide targeted support for local business who may be impacted by 
HS2

Deliver the aspirations of the North West Leicestershire Economic Growth 
Plan 2019-21

Working with our new leisure partner, increase local employment, 
training and apprenticeship opportunities with a key focus on local 
supply chains in the construction of the new Whitwick and Coalville 
Leisure Centre

Work with food establishments to further reduce the number that have a 
hygiene rating of 0, 1 or 2

Ensure that we minimise the negative impacts and maximise the positive 
of COVID19 on our business community

Play our part in readying our businesses for the effects of BREXIT 

Encouraging the public to support local businesses as part of our 
recovery from COVID19

Maintain 12 apprentice placements each year

Provide a £250,000 programme of grant funding and business support

Promote North West Leicestershire as a key location for business growth 
and support £1 million of new business investment and 4,000 new jobs

Work with partners and public transport providers to enhance 
transport connectivity so local people can access new job opportunities 
throughout the district

Work with three schools / colleges and local businesses on skills 
development with a focus on career advice

Provide face-to-face business and environmental health advice to 20 
growing businesses each year

Work closely with Kegworth Parish Council and other partners to 
engage the public and businesses and deliver a scheme that focuses on 
improving the village’s infrastructure, stimulating economic growth and 
supporting businesses.

11



33



Resident Charlie from Measham trailing the food waste collection service with Recycle More officer Lily Walker 

Developing a clean and 
green district
We are proud to be right at the heart of the National Forest 
and committed to being a green and clean district.  

We have set out our Carbon Zero ambition to be achieved 
by 2030 and our work towards this will continue this year. 
We plan to lead by example in our Carbon Zero work in an 
effort to encourage other to follow suit.

Being a clean and green district requires the support of 
businesses and individuals who we work with on littering 
and fly tipping campaigns to keep our environment cleaner 
for everyone to enjoy. 

Our Recycle More campaign will also continue as we 
look to achieve a 50 per cent recycling rate in North West 
Leicestershire by 2023.

12

34



NWLDC Delivery Plan 2020-21

Developing a clean and green district

Our aims 

Key tasks 2020-21 In the next three years we will...

Lead by example by reducing our own carbon footprint – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote the work of the National Forest

Increase recycling rates by at least 1% every year through our Recycle 
more… campaign

Continue our Free Tree Scheme

Support towns and villages to develop an identity associated with the 
National Forest

Support private householders to improve the energy efficiency of their 
homes and help those in greatest need to access Government grants for 
affordable warmth

Complete the installation of air source heat pumps in council homes and 
assess tenant satisfaction

Undertake feasibility studies for 4 EV charging points across the district 

Commence the Delivery of our Carbon Reduction Plan

Review our employee travel and allowances to help deliver the Carbon 
Reduction Plan

Support the Litter Strategy for England through our partnership working 
within the Roadside Litter Working Group

Work in partnership with local haulage companies to tackle layby litter

Achieve 50% recycling rates by 2023

Reduce carbon emissions at the new Whitwick and Coalville Leisure 
Centre and Ashby Leisure Centre by 20% by 2024

Replace lighting in NWLDC buildings with LED lighting to reduce energy 
consumption

Reduce vehicle emissions from licensed  Hackney Carriage and Private 
Hire vehicles

Help 250 fuel poor households to receive funding for loft and cavity wall 
insulation and replacement boilers

13



35



Useful information
If you would like more information about the
Council Delivery Plan or any council service,
please use the contact details below:

www.nwleics.gov.uk

customer.services@nwleicestershire.gov.uk

       @NWLeics

       This is NWLeics

North West Leicestershire District Council,
Council Offices,
Coalville,
Leicestershire,
LE67 3FJ

01530 454545 (main switchboard)
If you have an emergency outside of normal hours
please call 01530 454789

Fax:
01530 454506 (Reception)

36



ANNEX C – PERFORMNACE REPORTING Q4 2019/20 

Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly 

town 

Our aims 

Coalville is a vibrant town – Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville town 
centre 

 – Coalville is a good place to do business 
 

Key tasks 2019/20 Quarter 4 Performance 

Develop a Coalville Regeneration Framework to 
enhance the town 
 

Business Focus have continued working with a 
consultancy team led by WYG to prepare the ‘Full 
Business Case’ for the Coalville Future High 
Streets Fund submission.  
 
The deadline set by MHCLG for the business case 
to be submitted has been extended to July 2020 as 
a consequence of the COVID-19 Outbreak.  
 
The five key project areas identified within the 
Coalville Future High Street Fund form the Coalville 
Regeneration Framework which will be presented 
in Cabinet in Q1 (June 2020). 
 
The Framework will identify barriers and delivery 
options to help tackle some of the most difficult and 
complex regeneration projects that Coalville has 
aspired to see delivered over the past ten years. 
 
In March 2020 the Council secured grant funding of 
£100,000 from the Leicester and Leicestershire 
Enterprise Partnership Business Rates Pool fund 
to continue the development of the projects 
identified within the Coalville Regeneration 
Framework. 
 
These projects will continue to be developed as 
part of the preparation of the Full Business Case 
submission and through quarter 2 to the Autumn 
when it is expected that MHCLG will determine the 
Coalville Future High Street Fund submissions. 
 
(see below for further information on the Future 
High Streets Fund). 

Seek external funding, including the new national 
Future High Streets Fund to support  town centre 
regeneration 
 
 

The Council submitted a Stage 1 Expression of 
Interest application to the governments Future High 
Street Fund in March 2019. 
 
Stage 1 was a competitive process and the 
Coalville submission was the only successful bid in 
Leicestershire. 
 

37



A grant of £150,000 was awarded to North West 
Leicestershire District Council by to assist with the 
development of a full business case, which forms a 
Stage 2 submission to the Future High Streets 
Fund. 
 
Based on feedback from the Community Drop in 
sessions held in 2019 and previous work 
undertaken by the Princes Foundation, the 
Business Focus Team set about preparing the 
Regeneration Framework for Coalville which forms 
the Stage 2 Submission. 
 
Stage 2 is still a competitive process. The Council 
are required to submit a Full Business Case to 
MCHLG. If the bid is approved Coalville could be 
awarded up to £25 Million to deliver the key 
projects identified in the stage 2 submission.   
 
Development of the Full Business Case is 
underway and will be presented to Cabinet in Q1 
(June 2020) ahead of the planned submission in 
Q1 (July 2020). 
 
(see above for further information on the Coalville 
Regeneration Framework). 
 

Seek a cinema operator for Coalville 
 
 

A methodology for the delivery of a cinema in 
Coalville has been identified and agreed in principle 
with interested parties. The arrangements are the 
subject of a Non-Disclosure Agreement which limits 
the amount of additional information that can be 
given in a public document. 

To bring the development to fruition external 
funding will be required which is being sought as 
part of the councils Full Business Case submission 
to the Future High Street Fund to MHCLG and will 
be presented to Cabinet in Q1 (June 2020). 

Establish and maintain an events programme in 
our public spaces 
 
 

In February venues in Ashby and Coalville took part 
in the Leicester Comedy Festival as part of the BIG 
Weekend in the National Forest.  This was first for 
the district and over 600 people supported nine 
comedy performances in venues ranging from the 
Century Theatre, Conkers, The Lyric Rooms and 
Ashby and Coalville libraries.  The weekend also 
hosted the National Forest’s Funniest Kids which 
saw children from Belvoirdale and All Saints 
schools performing. 

Start the redesign of Marlborough Square 
 
 

Redesign of the Marlborough Square project has 
commenced. As a result of the need to liaise 
closely with LCC in regard to what will be permitted 
as S278 works, it is expected that this process will 
continue in to Q3 2020/21. 

38



Create a vibrant indoor market on Marlborough 
Square 
 
 
 

Construction work began on 6 January in line with 
programme, however, construction work ceased by 
way of suspension due to COVID 19. 
 
A four week extension of time was granted, this is 
currently being reviewed as government 
restrictions are still in place. 
 
Elements of the project have continued, steel works 
are 95% completed and it is expected that other 
trades will follow if the supply chain is operational 
and therefore further construction could take place. 

Work in partnership to make the most of our 
heritage to bolster the town’s identity and  sense 
of place 
 
 
 

We continue to engage in the redevelopment of 
Snibston Park working with Leicestershire County 
Council. 

We support the group that is progressing the 
application to establish the Snibston Charitable 
Incorporated Organisation (the outcome of their 
application was anticipated in early 2020.  The 
application is to be resubmitted as further 
information was required). 

Work with the community and interest groups to 
celebrate and promote Coolville’s heritage 
including 100 years of Palitoy 
 
 

We continue to work with Coalville Heritage Society 
to progress ‘The Many Faces of Palitoy’ project.  
The progression of some elements of this project 
have been postponed due to the impact of COVID-
19, a project extension has been granted by the 
main funding body National Lottery Heritage Fund 
and the project will continue to be delivered when 
possible. 

Provide grants to at least ten businesses in 
Coalville to improve the fronts of their  buildings, 
creating a better street scene 
 
 
 

The Coalville Frontage Improvement Scheme was 
relaunched in July 2019. To date, the scheme has 
received fifteen initial applications for grant funding. 
Eleven applications are being developed between 
the grant applicant, the Business Focus team and 
our appointed architects, Simon Foote Architects. 
The other four applications have been placed on a 
waiting list as the scheme is currently 
oversubscribed against the available budget. 

There has been no new grant awards in Quarter 
four. 

Council Officers continue to work with applicants 
and Simon Foote Architects to develop applications 
remotely. However, restrictions resulting from 
COVID 19 has delayed site inspections and further 
application from being completed.  

To date the project has made completed 16 grant 
projects totalling nearly £300K of grant funding to 
improve frontages in Coalville. Projects include:  

Martin & Co, former Sugar and Ice, Number 22, 
Pauls Baber, Bitter & Twisted, the Constitutional 
Club, Turning Point (Swansell), La Torre, PJ 
Collier, Music Maker, Kats Antiques, Lady Lingerie, 

39



Strandz, Newton Fallowell, The Emporium and 
Desirable Car (Formerly the bus deport on Ashby 
Road). 

Provide a tailored support programme for 20 retail 
businesses in Coalville 
 
 

The project has been restructured to allow officer 
capacity to respond to the Future High Streets 
Fund bid. 

In quarter three the Council delivered a retail 
support programme for 10 Coalville Market Traders 
to help them maximise sales across the festive 
period. 

In quarter four the Business Team delivered 1:2:1 
support to 28 businesses across the district, four 
repeat enquires and 6 businesses attended a 
business support seminar hosted by the Business 
Focus Team. 

The total number of unique businesses supported 
by the Business Focus Team in 2019/20 was 199. 

The Business Focus team continue to deliver the 
‘Women in Business’ programme and in quarter 
four £500 start-up grants were paid to 3 
participants. Whilst no physical workshops took 
place in March due to COVID 19 support was 
delivered for free via phone and email to all 22 
women who took part in the programme. 
 
In addition, from the 12 March to the 30 March, 
Business Focus responded further 45 enquiries 
from businesses in response to COVID 19. 

Continue to provide support and funding for 
Coalville Market traders to grow their  business 
 
 

Application forms were circulated to 12 existing 
market traders. Follow up meetings were 
undertaken to explain the process. Business 
support was offered to all traders to assist with the 
completion of their individual applications. 
 
In addition business support has been offered to 
assist with the transition to the Newmarket. This is 
being provided via external consultants contracted 
through the Business Focus team. It was 
disappointing that only 1 trader took up the offer of 
this support. 
A subsequent training day was offered via the 
same provider, once again with little or no take up. 
 
Therefore the Protect Manager and Team Manager 
visited the Traders and spoke with them on an 
individual basis to understand the barriers to their 
take up. A new business support package was 
agreed as a result of the meetings. Unfortunately 
before this could be implemented with Traders 
COVID 19 meant that the consultants cannot 
deliver this support at the moment. 
 
In this quarter, 6 traders have returned completed 
application forms. 

40



 
11 New traders have expressed an interest and 
have received application forms. 3 have been 
completed and returned. Follow up emails are 
being circulated. 
 
Next steps will be to re-launch board meetings, 
construction progress meetings to review the 
programme into recovery stage. Leases, license 
and terms & conditions are being finalised and will 
be circulated to traders to consider. 

 

41



Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 

Our aims 

Put our customer sat the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) 
throughout our communities 

– Support safer neighbourhoods 
 

Key tasks 2019/20 Quarter 4 Performance 

Make sure our customers can contact us in a way 
that suits them, with self-serve options  as well as 
face-to-face support 
 
 

Quarter four saw 2,481 new online accounts 
opened, this brings the overall total to 
23,880.  7,054 forms were submitted during this 
period with the ordering waste containers form 
being the most popular.  
 
As part of the self-service upgrade a self-serve 
payment kiosk has been ordered, this will be wall 
mounted and enable the customer to make various 
payments without the need for face to face 
assistance. Two touch screen PC’s were also 
purchased and work to build customer friendly 
applications is underway.  
 
The digital visitor sign in went live also there were 
a few minor teething problems but these were 
resolved and it is now running efficiently. 

Make all appropriate transactions ‘digital by 
default’ 
 
 

Phase one has now been completed and all forms 
within this project have now been built, the team 
are concentrating on building their own integrations 
to Uniform from the experiences they have learned 
during phase one.  We now have an emerging skill 
set to build and integrate requested forms in house 
which has drastically reduced contactor costs. 
 
The team will now be concentrating their efforts 
working with customer services to understand 
customers’ needs and identify processes that can 
be made digital.  The team has also received a 
request from the Burial Team to help them digitise 
some of their customer facing process.  

Improve the accessibility of our customer service 
environments, continuing to reduce call wait times 
 
 

Call wait times were marginally longer than desired 
for the quarter, due to spikes in demand and 
resource availability. 
 
The long term trend continues to be positive.  Both 
the Customer Service and Customer Experience 
Teams continue to focus on maintaining a swift and 
efficient access to our customer service 
environments. The end of quarter four saw the 
closure of our customer service centre to face to 
face appointments. 

Identify locations for customers to access our 
services in their own communities 

There has been a continued uplift in the number of 
customers who are choosing to interact with us 

42



 
 

digitally, with several new processes becoming 
digitalised within the quarter.  

The end of quarter four saw a closure of our face 
to face services in response to the COVID 19 
pandemic, which has enabled the reallocation of 
resources into responding to customers digitally 
and via the phone in the most efficient manner.  
Furthermore, we are trailing the technology for 
remote video / web calls, to explore the opportunity 
around this. 

Deliver the actions in our Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 
 
 
 

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy continued to 
develop, below are some of the highlighted areas 
of work from Q4.   
 
MECC (Making Every Contact Count) now known 
as Healthy Conversations, which features heavily 
within the strategy and underpins many of the 
other actions has seen excellent buy in from 
partners and NWLDC services. A number of 
partners such as Everyone Active, Go Learn, LCC 
LAC, Housing and Health and Wellbeing Teams 
at NWLDC are committed to training staff to 
deliver Healthy Conversations training to frontline 
workers within their own organisation as well as 
others across the district. All partners within the 
Staying Healthy Partnership have committed to 
staff undertaking the Healthy Conversations 
training and support the delivery of this model 
district wide. Unfortunately, due to Covid-19 
restrictions training (due to take place April and 
June) has been suspended, we are awaiting the 
potential of online training.  
 
The staying Healthy Partnership and Community 
Safety Partnership have committed to working on 
a project that tackles both health inequalities and 
community safety concerns using Healthy 
Conversations as the tool. Again, Covid-19 
restrictions have temporarily suspended this 
project, which we will look to progress later in 
2020.  
 
Sustrans have been engaged with regards to 
walking and cycling as have British Cycling with 
more detailed actions arising towards 
improvements around cycling, walking and open 
spaces. We have worked with LCC to support a 
bid to Places to Ride to enhance the cycling offer 
at Snibston Country Park. Planners are working 
on planning guidance around active places/active 
design etc. as part of the Local Plan review. 
Health and Wellbeing Team continue to support 
local schools with Bikeabilty with officers trained 
for delivery and our bikes loaned out to schools. 
We continue to deliver walk leader training and 
have commissioned British Cycling to deliver 
cycle leader training to continue to support the 

43



active travel agenda. We have also been involved 
in the consultation of the National Forest 25 year 
vision looking to improve access to outdoor 
space.  
 
We have engaged with the Sustainable Food 
Partnership Coordinator at LCC. Together we are 
pulling together a project in Coalville to address 
Food Poverty, Food Education and Food Waste. 

Working with our leisure partner to secure planning 
consent and start the construction of a new leisure 
centre in Coalville 
 
 

The project has now secured planning consent for 
all required construction, landscaping and 
highways works.  Works to finalise the detailed 
designs have been ongoing and extensive liaison 
with key stakeholders has been of key importance.  

The construction contract is nearing signing and 
works will commence once the final Highways 
agreements are in place with the County Council. 

Modernise, reconfigure and enhance the leisure 
centre in Ashby 
 
 

All improvements have now been completed with 
the exception of the external façade and the 
relaunch of the facility as Ashby Leisure Centre 
and Lido.  In partnership with Everyone Active, all 
improvements have been effectively promoted 
culminating in an increase in attendances from 
36,718 in January 2019 to 51,144 in January 2020. 
Because of Coronavirus no attendance figures 
have been collated yet for February and March 
2020. 

Develop our tourism offer to encourage inward 
investment, dwell time and connecting  visitor 
attractions 
 
 

The draft North West Leicestershire Tourism 
Strategy was presented at Community Scrutiny 
Committee in November.  The strategy was 
scheduled to be reported to Cabinet in quarter four.  
The presentation of the strategy to Cabinet is to be 
rescheduled in 2020/21. 

Working with local schools, parish councils and 
leisure centres, improve the community leisure 
facilities in Castle Donington and at Ibstock, and 
Measham leisure centres 
 
 
 

Support is ongoing but has been held up by 
COVID-19 - Measham Leisure Centre commenced 
the process of procuring contractors, but the 
developments at Ibstock Leisure Complex and 
Castle Donington College were put on hold due to 
the closure of the schools. 

Achieve accreditation from the Surveillance 
Camera Commissioner for our CCTV system 
 
 

Contracts for the CCTV control room has been 
signed and the installation of the control room has 
commenced.  BT will install the secure cable from 
the shopping centre to the new control room late in 
June.  It is expected the new control room will open 
very soon after the closure of the existing control 
room allowing for the transfer of equipment. The 
accreditation process will commence soon after. 

Consult on revisions to Local Plan 
 
 

The Partial Review was submitted for 

Examination on 18 February 2020. 
 

44



Encourage and support town and parish councils 
to write and adopt their own  Neighbourhood Plans 
 
 

Community Focus and Planning held an event on 
4 March 2020 to promote Neighbourhood Plans to 
town and parish councils. A number of the Parish 
Councils attended where presentations were given 
from those who are already completing the 
process.  The Community Focus Team are offering 
support to those Parish Councils who wish to start 
the process. 

45



Local People live in high quality, affordable homes 

Our aims 

Increase the number of affordable homes in the district 
Improve the quality of our council housing – Improve the quality of private rented accommodation 

 

Key tasks 2019/20 Quarter 4 Performance 

Get planning permission and start building new 
council homes in Coalville, Whitwick and  
Measham 
 
 

The Council began work on the next phase of the 
new build programme in August 2019 when work 
began on the Cropston Drive site in Coalville. 
 
The build had been progressing well although the 
excessive rain earlier in the year did delay 
progress. The site is currently mothballed as a 
result of the current restrictions and so it is not 
possible to forecast a completion date at this time. 
 
Work is ongoing on the next phase of new build 
development sites with a number currently in the 
design stage. 
 
A planning application has been submitted for a 
small site in Moira and work is ongoing on sites in 
Measham and Whitwick. Architects are working up 
drawings and site surveys have been 
commissioned with a view to planning applications 
being submitted in the new financial year. 

Establish a local housing/trading company 
 
 

Work to consider the development of a local 
housing / trading company will recommence now 
that the new Strategic Director has joined the 
Council.  

Buy affordable homes from developers to increase 
the availability of council housing 
 

The Council completed the purchase of 2 homes 
from Bellway earlier in the year provided as part of 
a section 106 agreement. 
Throughout the year, the Council has been making 
offers on section 106 units when approached by 
developers and there are currently two sites where 
the Council is the preferred partner. 
 
The impact of the current situation on new housing 
development however means we cannot currently 
forecast when the units are likely to be completed 
and the Council be in a position to take ownership. 

Ensure residential development takes place on 
brownfield sites in Moira and Measham 
 
 

A planning application has now been submitted for 
a small brownfield site within Moira and work is 
being progressed on a larger previously developed 
site owned by the housing department with a 
planning application in due course once options for 
wider regeneration have been explored. 
 
A planning application is also progressing for the 
Queensway House site in Measham. Preliminary 

46



drawings have been produced and a firm to 
undertake site investigations has now been 
appointed. 

Ensure all new housing in the district meets the 
standards of the NWLDC Good Design Guide 
 
 

All major proposals are subject to consultation with 
the Council’s Urban Designer who assesses the 
schemes design objectively using Building for Life 
Criteria, the Council’s Good Design Guide, and the 
new National Design Guide (September 
2019).  The use of the design guides are now 
embedded into our normal business processes. 
 
All major planning proposals in this period have 
achieved a high quality design.  

Invest up to £7.6 million to upgrade tenants homes 
and their neighbourhoods 
 
 

The HRA capital programme provides funding for a 
range of works to improve tenant’s homes and 
estates. Overall spend against this budget to the 
end of quarter four was £4.2 million. The key 
elements of this budget are: 

The Home Improvement Programme, £2.8 million 
spent, which includes ‘Decent Homes’ 
improvement work to tenant’s homes, which are 
now being completed by our In-house Repairs 
Team (IRT). 

Fire Risk Remedial works, £822,000 budget with 
£269,000 spent on urgent works to sheltered 
schemes which have largely been completed, with 
two remaining schemes to be finished in 2020/21. 
The remaining budget is for non-urgent works to 
low rise flats identified following the outcome of a 
programme of Fire Risk Assessments. This work is 
currently being specified and a delivery contractor 
will be procured when COVID 19 restrictions are 
lifted. The remaining budget will be carried forward 
to 2020/21 for delivery. 

ASHP programme, £855,000 spent on the ASHP 
programme, with outturn to be determined by 
success of negotiations with tenants to secure 
access/agreement to works from those currently 
refusing to have work completed. 

Sheltered housing improvements, the budget of 
£200,000 will be carried forward to 2020/21 to 
commence the remodelling and upgrading all of our 
sheltered buildings. 

Active asset management, £532,000 spent on the 
demolition of two decommissioned sheltered 
schemes, and capital improvements to empty 
homes. 

New ICT system, £477,000 spent to deliver our new 
computer systems that will provide a 
comprehensive information platform for the whole 
housing service when it is commissioned in June 
2020. 

47



Delivery overheads and costs of delivering the 
capital programme, £335,000 spent on staffing 
related costs incurred while delivering the 
programme. 

Alter tenants’ homes where there is an assessed 
medical need, by spending £295,000 on  level 
access showers, stair lifts and other aids and 
adaptations 
 
 

During the year adaptations with a combined value 
of £270,000 have been completed. Minor 
adaptations include grab rails and lever taps, whilst 
major adaptations are more significant building 
works such as ramps, stair lifts, off street parking 
and level access showers.  

It was anticipated that the budget would be fully 
spent during the financial year, however during 
March two major adaptations were put on hold due 
to COVID 19 and will be undertaken when safe to 
do so and the contractors are able to undertake the 
work. The £25,000 underspend will be carried 
forward to 2020/21. 

Invest £778,000 in estate improvements including 
off street parking, improvements to footpaths and 
roads and mobility scooter stores 
 
 

Off street car parking, a contractor has now been 
appointed to complete this work with Ridgway Road 
scheduled to be the first to be completed during 
2020/21.  Further work has been undertaken to re-
assess our situation for the other sites planned 
(The Biggin and Wakefield Court in Castle 
Donington) and identified planning permission and 
Highways approval needs to be obtained, £375,000 
will be carried forward to 2020/21 for off street 
parking. A report detailing our future plans for the 
car parking improvement programme will be 
submitted to Scrutiny and Cabinet in during 
2020/21. 

Mobility scooter stores, further work was 
undertaken to re-assess our situation and 
procurement of a contractor commenced but was 
put on hold due to COVID 19 As was the 
consultation with residents regarding the specific 
proposal drawn up for each scheme, £109,000 will 
be carried forward to 2020/21.    

Footpaths and un-adopted roads, the primary uses 
of this budget for 2019/20 are the fencing 
improvement programme to Riverview estate in 
Measham and resurfacing of car park entrance 
roads at various locations. 

Handrail replacement work has been completed at 
Mount Pleasant flats to a value of £19,000 with an 
additional £14,000 for external redecoration. The 
barriers and height barrier for Cropston Drive will 
be undertaken by the Parks team during quarter 
two of 2020/21 when Parks complete the 
procurement of a contractor.  

Extensive garage demolition to the value of 
£34,000 has been completed across the district 

48



including those at Bakewell Street and New Street 
Measham during quarter four. 

Carry out a proactive, targeted enforcement so all 
eligible landlords have a Houses in  Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) Licence 
 
 

Council tax records were used to identify student 
accommodation within Kegworth.  All of these 
properties were contacted by letter and where 
necessary by door knocking to establish if they met 
the criteria for a licensable HMO as well as 
standards within the property. 
 
 A number of unlicensed properties were identified 
and the owners and agents contacted to inform of 
licensing requirements.   
 
Ten applications were processed in accordance 
with the licensing procedure.  There remain a small 
number of properties to inspect as part of this 
process, which will be carried out as COVID 19 
restrictions allow. 

 

  

49



Support for businesses and helping people into jobs 

Our aims 

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – 
Help young people into work 

 

Key tasks 2019/20 Quarter 4 Performance 

Give comprehensive compliance advice to smaller 
businesses and start-ups with a  focus on food 
hygiene and allergen controls 
 
 

Compliance advice was delivered to 71 smaller 
businesses and start-ups with a focus on food 
hygiene and allergen controls. The advice was 
provided by qualified Environmental Health 
Practitioners, face to face at each of the food 
businesses. 

Working in partnership with the National Forest 
Company, carry out an options  appraisal for Moira 
Furnace as part of an application for Resilient 
Heritage funding to  the Heritage Lottery Fund 
 
 

The options appraisal brief for Moira Furnace is on 
schedule to be finalised in quarter four, with the 
options appraisal being progressed in 2020 / 21. 
The progress of this will be impacted by COVID-19 
as it will not be possible to appoint consultants to 
undertake the work until later in 2020/21. 

Launch a grant funding programme that supports 
the growth of existing Coalville  businesses as well 
as support new business start ups 
 
 

In 2019 the Council launched Enterprising 3, a 
small grants programme to support growing SME’s 
in North West Leicestershire. 
 
In quarter 4, six new grant offers were made 
bringing the total number of grant offers for the 
financial year 19/20 up to fourteen grant awards to 
local businesses. 
 
Due the number of applications received, 
Enterprising 3 closed to new applications. In 
quarter four it was decided that the scheme would 
not reopen. 
 
To date 14 businesses were award Enterprising 
Grants valuing over £175k. These grants 
generated over £750k of private sector investment 
in North West Leicestershire and created over 70 
new local jobs. 

Provide targeted support for local business who 
may be impacted by HS2 and EU Exit 
 
 

Due to COVID 19, information on both exit from EU 
and HS2 has been limited. 

Businesses will be informed as soon as new 
relevant information is available on both subjects. 

Adopt and start to deliver the aspirations of the 
North West Leicestershire Economic  Growth Plan 
2019-21 
 
 

Due to COVID 19 and the reprioritisation of work, 
progress on the Economic Growth Plan has been 
limited. 

The Growth Plan will be reviewed in light of COVID 
19 and the changing economy. 

50



Working with our new leisure partner increase local 
employment, training and  apprenticeships 
opportunities with a key focus on local supply 
chains in the  construction of the new Coalville 
Centre 
 
 

A key work stream of the leisure project has been 
the approach to Corporate Social Responsibility 
and Social Value more generally.  The Council is 
working with our leisure operator to ensure a 
robust, measurable and deliverable plan is 
established to maximise opportunities for local 
material suppliers, contractors and labour.  

Another key aspect is local employment 
opportunities and works are ongoing with local 
colleges and schools to provide opportunities for 
youngsters within the District.  A Social Value 
matrix is being established that sets key targets for 
the leisure operator to meet (aligned with their 
original bid) that will allow the Council to track 
progress as we move forward. 

 

  

51



Developing a clean and green district 

Our aims 

Lead by example by reducing our own carbon footprint – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote 
the work of the National Forest 

 

Key tasks 2019/20 Quarter 4 Performance 

Increase recycling rates by at least 1% every year 
through our Recycle  more… campaign 
 
 

As reported in quarter three, a weekly food waste 
collection trial for 2,000 households commenced 
on 26 November 2019. The trial area is in part of 
Measham and the outlying villages of Newton 
Burgoland, Snarestone, Swepstone, Appleby 
Magna, Appleby Parva and Chilcote.  
 
During quarter four we have collected a further a 
30.86 tonnes and in addition to the 10.30 tonnes 
collected in quarter three, a total of 41.16 tonnes 
has been collected and diverted away from landfill.  
This has also saved 30.89 tonnes of CO2, than if 
the food waste had been disposed of at landfill. 
 
The food waste is sent to an anaerobic digestion 
facility where it is heated up to produce green 
electricity and bio-fertiliser, which is used on local 
farmland.  
 
The participation in the service by households has 
remained between 35-45%, defined by Defra as 
“average”. 
 
The average amount of food waste collected per 
household per week is between 2.97 kg – 3.34kg. 
This is defined as “yield” by The Waste and 
Resources Action Programme (WRAP), which 
works with governments, businesses and 
communities. WRAP calculates the average yield 
per household receiving a separate weekly food 
waste collection service is 1.5 kg, to date the 
average yield for the trial is twice this figure. 
 
Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, the food waste trial 
was suspended on 18 March 2020 as result of 
depleted staffing resources as the food waste 
operatives were deployed onto other waste and 
recycling collections. The weekly food waste 
collection trial will resume as soon as operationally 
possible. 
 
As reported in quarter three, mobile phones and 
household battery kerbside recycling commenced 
on 1 December 2019. We are still collecting 
good quantities and on the 11 February 2020, the 
first collection of batteries was made weighing near 
1 tonne at 960kg. The batteries are sent for 
processing where they are recycled. 

52



Develop and run a high profile fly tipping campaign 
‘Breaking the Cycle’ 
 
 

Approval for the new gates at the old Little Chef site 
to prevent access to unauthorised vehicles as per 
the current Public Space Protection Order has 
been granted and the gates have been made. 
These will be installed by our Parks Team however, 
there is a delay due to capacity. 

Expansion of our Free Tree scheme 
 
 

The 2020 Free Tree Scheme planning with the 
National Forest in Q1 and is expected to launch in 
November 2020. Plans are being created if the 
Launch needs to be delayed until early 2021.  

The targets for the scheme will be negotiated with 
the National Forest as part of the agreement, 
however we anticipate the target will be above 
20,000. 

Run an electric car charging point pilot in the 
Ashby 
 
 

Procurement of feasibility studies through our 
approved supplier have ceased due to COVID 19, 
however, a number of locations have been 
identified in line with the council’s car parking 
service review and these will be pursued as part of 
recovery plans. 

Support towns and villages to develop an identity 
associated with the National Forest 
 
 

The draft North West Leicestershire Tourism 
Strategy supports the progression of this priority. 
Ashby de la Zouch (supported through the Ashby 
Project) and Coalville are target areas for 
progression. These areas are also priorities in the 
Leicester and Leicestershire Tourism Growth Plan, 
through ‘destination development’ and ‘uncover the 
story’ priorities. 

We are supporting The Heart of the Forest 
Masterplan. The project focusses on an area of 10 
square miles, incorporating a number of towns and 
villages in the district: Moira, Donisthorpe, 
Oakthorpe, Measham and Ashby de la Zouch. This 
initiative will present opportunities to develop this 
priority in 2020 and future years.  

Sponsor the National Forest Company’s 
international Timber Festival in 2019 and  2020 
 
 

The delivery of Timber 2020 has been postponed 
until 2021 due to the impact of COVID-19.  The 
funding allocated for the 2020 could be deferred to 
support the 2021 festival (it has been confirmed 
that the festival will be delivered in 2021). 

Support private householders to improve the 
energy efficiency of their homes and help those in 
greatest need to access Government grants for 
affordable warmth 
 
 

The Council received 4 referrals into the Eco Flex 
scheme in quarter four however none of these 
progressed to actual measures. Reasons for 
dropping off included, households not qualifying for 
the scheme either due to eligibility or already 
having measures in place. The Covid-19 situation 
means that canvassing and insulation works are 
currently on hold. 
 

53



In the Collective Switching auction in February 
2020 64 people registered and 11 switched with the 
scheme. Average annual savings ranged between 
£184 and £337 depending on the customer 
type.   The next auction is due to take place in May 
2020.  
 

Complete the installation of 400 air source heat 
pumps in council homes and assess tenant 
satisfaction 
 
 

Since March 2018, we have installed 335 air source 
heat pumps leaving 65 homes within the 
programme still outstanding. Of these, 18 are in the 
process of Western Power upgrading the electrical 
network capacity to the properties, and as soon as 
this is completed the heat pumps will be installed. 
5 properties have been identified as not suitable for 
an ASHP due to no suitable location for the pump, 
3 are awaiting External Wall Insulation and the 
remaining 39 properties are where the tenants has 
refused to have the new heating, preferring to 
retain their existing solid fuel system. During 
quarter four we wrote to all of these tenants to 
encourage them to have the new heating system 
installed unfortunately to no avail. 

Consideration has been given to legal enforcement 
action to secure access to upgrade heating 
systems, but this is not considered to be a 
proportionate response, so efforts will continue to 
negotiate agreement. The installations will also 
occur when the properties become empty at the 
end of tenancies. The contract with Everwarm has 
been extended until December 2020 with a new 
contract to be procured prior to the contract with 
Everwarm expiring. 

54



Value for Money 

It is our ethos to manage our budgets carefully and sensibly. This allows us to provide excellent value for money in our services; investing in key 
schemes and infrastructure that make a real difference in our communities, whilst balancing the books and planning for the future. 

 

Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Amount of income generation from the sale 
of Legal Services  

£17,843.48  £10,890 
  

 
 

Income was quite high for the last month 
because invoices have been raised to fulfill 
end of financial year requirements.  

Percentage of rent loss 

 

0.84%  0.75% 
 

 

 

 

The cumulative performance is 0.84% which 
is only 0.09% outside of target. In monetary 
terms the total rent loss this financial year is 
£146,491.06. As the performance is only 
marginally below target, no corrective action 
is required. 

Amount of spend on agency workers is 
reduced to £1m in 19/20 

 

£469,413  £250,000.00 

 

 

 

 

Mirroring the situation in previous quarters, a 
higher proportion of agency workers were 
retained in the Housing Repairs, Legal and 
Finance work areas due to difficulties in 
recruitment to permanent roles and 
prevailing labour market conditions during 
the year. All of the spend on agency staff was 
within the existing staffing budgets. 

Percentage of Council Tax Collected (in year 
target) 

 
97.6%  96.7% 

   
The impact of COVID 19 prevented debt 
recovery action being taken in March 2020. 

Percentage of National Non Domestic Rates 
(in year target) 

 
99.2%  99.20% 

   Target exceeded by 0.02%. 

Amount of days taken to process new claims 
 

 
13.3 days  18.7 days 

   Exceeded target. 

55



Percentage of rent collected from 
commercial tenants 

 

98.49%  98% 

 

 

 

The total percentage rent collection for 
2019-20 stands at 98.49% as at 31st March. 
 
This represents £12,871.74 not collected 
from a total of £854,233.08. 

Percentage of commercial units occupied 
per annum 

 

82%  90% 

 

 

 

Occupancy was at 82% at the end of Q4. 
Pre-COVID we had a number of offers and 
viewings from a recently entered commercial 
agreement with FHP property consultants. 

Amount of annual income achieved by the 
In-house Repairs Team at  least £5.2 million 

 

£1,432,417   £1,300,000 

 

 

 

The total annual income by the end of Q4 
was £4,874,847.65 which was £325,152.35 
less than budgeted for at the start of the year, 
is a great result for the first full year of 
internal trading.  However, the impact of the 
coronavirus in Q4 translated into tenants 
refusing access for Home Improvement 
Work, from late February and prior to the 
eventual total lockdown in March.  This 
equated to at least 3 full weeks of lost 
production. At the average of £60k per week 
this resulted in a potential loss of income of 
£180,000.  In addition to this, the value of 
work under the Home Improvement 
Program, provided to the IRT, was less than 
colleagues had budgeted for at the start of 
the year.  This had a consequential adverse 
impact on the IRT’s ability to realise the 
forecast income. 
 

 

56



Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family friendly town 

Coalville is a vibrant town – Local people choose to spend their time and money in Coalville town centre  
 Coalville is a good place to do business 

 

Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of people attending Coalville events 
organised 

 

300  200 

 

 

 

The BIG Weekend in the National Forest, there 
were nine performances in venues in Coalville 
and across the district.  Coalville school 
children were involved in performances from 
Belvoirdale and All Saints Primary School. 

Number of events delivered in Coalville 
 

1  1 
   

The BIG Weekend in the National Forest, part 
of the Leicester Comedy Festival. 

Number of visitors/tourists spending is increased by 
2%  across the District 

 

2.2%  2% 

   

The data is based on a STEAM report for the 
whole National Forest Area: 
2017 visitor/tourist spend in the National 
Forest = £445.3 million 
2018 visitor/tourist spend in the National 
Forest = £455.2 million 
2.2% increase in visitor/tourist spend in the 
National Forest from 2017 to 2018 
 
Figures for 2019 will be available in Autumn 
2020. 

Shop vacancy rates in the Belvoir Centre are more 
positive than the national average. 

 

21.8%  9.8% 

 

 

 

The latest void monitoring results taken on 16 
January 2020 shows that the Belvoir Centre 
has a vacancy rate of 21.8% (12 vacant units 
out of 55) compared the nationwide vacancy 
rates of 9.8% (supplied by 
Springboard).  Coalville Town Centre as a 
whole recorded a vacancy rate of 16.8% (34 
vacant units). 

57



Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 

Put our customer sat the heart of all we do – Increase connectivity (physically and virtually) throughout our communities 
Support safer neighbourhoods 

 

Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of online accounts 

 

23,880 
(cumulative) 

 22,500 
(annual) 

 

 

 

Accounts have exceeded the annual target by 
1,380 which is impressive and gives the 
council confidence that our residents are 
utilising our online services provided.    
 

Number of online forms submitted (transactions) 

 

2,304  1875 

 

 

 

Monthly usage of forms has exceeded the 
targets, this is due to growing customer 
confidence and also the increasing choice of 
forms that are available.  This is continually 
expanding with departments recognising the 
importance of customer digital accessibility 
24/7 and also the convenience of system 
integrations which takes away the rekeying of 
data.  
 

Percentage of customer satisfaction  
(Customer Services) 

 

90.67%  92% 

 

 

 

There was a lower response rate this quarter 
due to COVID-19, 68 were good and above of 
only 75 responses. 
 

Percentage of high risk ASB cases recorded and 
actioned within 48 hours 

 

100%  100% 

 

 

 

All Cases are assessed via a risk matrix when 
being submitted and all cases identified as 
high risk were responded to within 48 Hours. 
 
ASB remains a priority for the Community 
Safety Team, but not the CSP.  All high priority 
cases have been assessed and actioned 

58



within the target period of 48 
hours.  Neighbour disputes continue to feature 
in work that the partners need to tackle.  The 
main area of change in 2019 saw an increase 
in ASB and criminal damage was monitored in 
the Parks and open spaces across North West 
Leicestershire, but a significant trend in the 
Coalville area.  Working in partnership with the 
police the issues are being tackled to prevent 
any escalation of the risk, new innovations are 
being planned for 2020 should the same 
pattern occur in 2020. 
 

 

  

59



Local People live in high quality, affordable homes 

Increase the number of affordable homes in the district – Improve the quality of our council housing 
Improve the quality of private rented accommodation 

 

Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Percentage of major residential development 
schemes  scoring / performing positively 
 

 

100%  90% 

 

 

 

All major planning proposals are subject to 
consultation with the Council's Urban Designer 
who assesses the schemes objectively using 
Building for Life criteria and the Council's Good 
Design Supplementary Planning Document. 
All major planning proposals in this period 
have achieved a high quality design. 

Percentage of major planning applications 
determined within  13 weeks 
 

 

100%  75% 

 

 

 

Performance in determining major applications 
(e.g. greater than 10 dwellings and 1000 
square metres of commercial development) 
remains strong and in Q4 stood at 100% with 
16 out of 16 majors determined within 13 
weeks or with an extension of time. This is 
significantly above the national performance 
target of 60% and the local performance target 
of 75%. 

Percentage of minor planning applications 
determined within  8 weeks 

 

93.5%  80% 

 

 

 

Performance on minor applications (e.g. less 
than 10 dwellings and 1000 square metres of 
commercial development) in Q4 remains 
strong and stood at 93.5 with 58 out of 62 
minor applications determined within 8 weeks 
or with an extension of time. This is 
significantly above the national performance 
target of 65% and the local performance target 
of 80%. 

60



Percentage of other planning applications 
determined within  8 weeks 

 

88%  85% 

 

 

 

Performance on other applications (e.g. 
householder developments) remains strong 
and in Q4 stood at 88% with 85 out of 97 
applications determined within 8 weeks or with 
an extension of time. This is above the national 
performance target of 80% and the local 
performance target of 85%. 

Percentage of all repairs completed within target 
 

97% 
 

 94% 
   A positive outcome against the target. 

Average length of time taken to re-let a Council 
property when it becomes vacant 

 

 18 
(Q4 stand-

alone 
average) 

 
 

21 
(YTD 

Average) 

 22 
 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Performance in quarter four has been positive 

when compared to the previous quarter. The 

performance for the quarter was 18 days 

which is in an improvement of 14 days 

compared with the preceding quarter. The 

cumulative performance of 21 days exceeded 

the target of 22 days. 61



Support for businesses and helping people into jobs 

Match local people with skills and jobs – Support new and growing businesses to create jobs – Help young people into work 
 

Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of jobs in the tourism sector is increased in 
the  District 
 

 

3.8%  3.8% 

 

 

 

The data is based on a STEAM report for the 
whole National Forest Area: 

2017 total employment in tourism (direct and 
supplier chain) = 5171 

2018 total employment in tourism (direct and 
supplier chain) = 5367 

3.8% increase in the number of jobs in the 
tourism sector from 2017 to 2018 

 
Figures for 2019 will be available in Autumn 

2020. 

Number of food businesses improving hygiene 
standards 
 

 

11  11 

 

 

 

The Environmental health team has continued 
to deliver a support programme to a number of 
food businesses with a hygiene rating of 0, 1 
or 2. 
 
We are pleased with the response received 
from businesses who have listened to the 
advice provided and have improved their 
standards. Eleven food businesses previously 
with a hygiene rating of 0, 1 or 2 now have a 
rating of 3, 4 or 5.  
 
A good hygiene rating provides consumers 
with confidence which ultimately has to be 
good for business. 

Number of business enquires received and 
supported 

 
83  25 

   
In quarter four the Business Team delivered 
1:2:1 support to 28 businesses across the 

62



 district (and four repeat enquires) and 6 
businesses attended a business support 
seminar hosted by the Business Focus Team. 
In addition, from the 12 March to the 30 March 
Business Focus responded further 45 
enquiries from businesses in response to 
COVID 19. 

Value of Coalville shop fronts grant awards 
 

 

nil  £40,000 

 

 

 

There has been no new grant awards in 
quarter four. Council Officers continue to work 
with applicants and the projects architects to 
develop applications remotely. However, 
restrictions resulting from COVID 19 has 
delayed site inspections and further 
applications from being completed. 

Number of businesses supported - Market Towns 
business support programme 
 

 

32  20 

 

 

 

The project has been restructured to allow 
officer capacity to respond to the Future High 
Streets Fund bid. 
 
The restructured programme delivered 
specialist retail support programme for 10 
Coalville Market Traders in quarter three to 
help them maximise sales across the festive 
period.  Also the restructured programme 
continues to support 22 women from NWL to 
be supported in quarter four through the 
Women in Self Employment (WISE) 
programme. All participants in the WISE 
programme we supported with a virtual 1:2:1 in 
quarter four. 

 

  

63



Developing a clean and green district 

Lead by example by reducing our own carbon footprint – Reduce littering and fly tipping – Promote the work of the National Forest 

 

Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual  Target  RAG  Commentary 

Number of trees delivered to the local community to 
expand  the district's National Forest area 

 

25,689  13,000 

 

 

 

The target for the 2019 Free Tree scheme was 
13,000 trees to be delivered in North West 
Leicestershire.  The target was exceeded by 
an impressive 12.689, with a total of 25, 689 
trees being given out over the whole 
district.  The number planted in the National 
forest are is 20,872 and a further 4,817 being 
[planted within the district outside the National 
Forest boundary.  Since 2008 a total of 
129,136 trees have been planted in 
partnership with the National Forrest.  
 

Percentage of fly tipping in district is reduced by 3% 
over the  year 

 

3% 
(reduction) 

 3% 
(reduction) 

 

 

 

All Councils report fly tipping figures to DEFRA 
each quarter. These figures are then published 
nationally in an annual fly tipping report. The 
figures for 2019/20 show a 3% reduction in fly 
tipping across the District against the previous 
year. 

Percentage increase on yearly recycling rate by 1% 
 

1%  1% 
   

Recycle More started 2019/20, recycling rates 
confirmed by DEFRA December 2020. 

Amount in kgs of household waste sent to landfill 
per house,  per year 

 
119.7kgs  125kgs 

    

 

 

64



Performance Indicator 2019/20  Actual    RAG  Commentary 

Number of targets achieved 
 

 25       

Number of targets within 5% variance of target 
(10% financial) 

 2    
 

 Percentage customers satisfied 1.3% off 
target. 

Percentage of rent loss 0.09% off target 

Number of targets Not achieved  5       

  

65



  Management of Absence Report Q4 2019-2020 

 

1.1 In Q4 (2019/20) there were 1065 FTE days lost due to sickness - 155 FTE days fewer when compared with the same period in 2018/19. 

This is the equivalent of 2.37 days per full time equivalent (FTE). The final figure for 2019/20 is 10.68 days/FTE, this is higher than last 

year’s figure of 9.67 days/FTE, and continues to remain above the corporate target of 8.0 days. 

 
1.2 HROD (3.86 days/FTE), Finance (3.03 days/FTE) and Community Services (2.71 days/FTE) were the work areas with the highest levels of 

sickness in this Quarter.  

 
1.3 Almost all sickness in HROD (95.97%) and Finance (100%) was the result of long term sickness, which has now ended. 75% of all sickness 

in Community Services was long term. 

 
1.4 Waste Services accounted for a quarter of all sickness, this was followed by Housing repairs (14.17%) and Leisure Services (including 

Grounds Maintenance) (10.81%). The most common reasons for sickness in Waste Services and Leisure Services were Musculoskeletal 

and non-work related stress.   

 
1.5 Across the organisation musculoskeletal accounted for nearly a quarter of all sickness, majority of it occurring in the Waste Services (42%), 

nearly a third in Grounds Maintenance (30%). Personal stress (19%), work related stress (13%) and cold and flu (11%) were the other most 

commons reasons for sickness. There is no obvious pattern of stress related sickness, instances are spread across teams and services. 

 
1.6 Table below illustrates total sickness as a percentage by reason: 

 

Sickness Reason Percentage of 
sickness by 

reason 

 Sickness Reason Percentage of 
sickness by 

reason 

Asthma - bronchitis - respiratory 0.77% 
 Gynaecological - obstetric 2.11% 

Back pain - sprain - strain - musculo- skeletal 24.38% 
 Headache - migraine - neurological 1.12% 

Blood conditions 2.25% 
 Heart - cardiovascular 1.25% 

Cancer - malignancy 0.00% 
 Infectious diseases 0.23% 

Cold and Flu 11.32% 
 Operation / Post Op 9.71% 

Diabetes 0.00% 
 Stomach - bowel - gastric - intestinal 10.59% 

66



Ear nose & throat - dental 
2.94% 

 Stress - depression - anxiety -  psychological 
(non-work related) 19.64% 

Eye - ophthalmic 
0.38% 

 Stress - depression - anxiety -  psychological 
(work related) 13.19% 

Genito-urinary 0.12% 
 Disability Related Illness 0.00% 

 

 

1.7 Sixty-six percent of all sickness, in this quarter, was long term. There were 30 long term cases of sickness of which 26 have returned back 

to work, either full-time or on a phased return. Senior HR advisor closely monitor and manage long term cases in conjunction with 

Occupational Health and their line managers. Where needed, employees have been referred to Everyday Advice Line, the council’s 

employee assistance plan. 

 
1.8 While many employees have had to self-isolate due to the corona virus, we had no confirmed cases of sickness due to COVID-19. 

 
1.9 Completion of return to work interview forms across the Council was a rate of 95% until the end of February. March figures (69% return to 

work completion) reduced the overall figure for the quarter to 87%. Lower rate of returns in March could be attributed to managers adjusting 

to the new ways of working. The HR team will continue to monitor this rate as the return to work interviews are known to be a critical first 

process in managing sickness. New arrangements have been put in place to manage this process as the majority of staff and managers 

 

 

67



 

 

 
  

68



Health and Safety Report 

There were a total of 38 reported accidents/incidents in 2019/20 which compares to 30 in the previous year. All of the accidents were to employees. In 

previous years we had a much higher rate of accidents to visitors (129 in 2018/19) – the majority of those accidents took place at the Leisure Centres 

in Whitwick and Ashby-de-la-Zouch, and with the transfer of the centres to our Leisure provider Everyone Active in May 2019, the number of visitor 

accidents fell to zero during 2019/20.  

There were 6 Near misses reported, mainly in the Refuse and Recycling service. These were all investigated and actions taken to minimise the 

likelihood of a re-occurrence. 

One accident was reported to the Health and Safety Executive under the Reportable, Injuries Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations 

(RIDDOR) (compared to two the year before). The single report was for an employee who was absent for 18 days following a slip on mud/ice.  

The increase in reported accidents may be attributed to a number of factors:-   improvements in the management of health and safety and control 

measures particularly in Housing; improved Health and Safety training and awareness, and proactive and targeted support and advice following the 

action plan developed from the internal audit report conducted in 2018/19. 

The table below shows the types of accidents and incidents reported:-  

Category 2018/19 2019/20 

1 .Slip, trips and falls 11 8 

2. Manual Handling 7 5 

3. Contact with static object       2  10 

4. Struck by moving object 7 12 

5. CoSHH 0 0 

6. Other types of incident 3 3 

Near Misses 2 6 

 

69



 
 

 
 

As can be seen the majority of employee accidents have, since 2005, been around 50 annually or approximately 1 per week. 
 
A new Health and Safety system (SHE Assure) has now been procured and is being used for the recording management and storage of risk 
assessments  - the focus on these has been critical during the COVID-19 pandemic as decisions have been made about the safe operation of our 
many service areas incorporating social distancing rules, cleaning and sanitising arrangements etc. The assessments have also been adapted to 
permit assessment of the risks at an individual level taking into account known Coronavirus risk factors including gender, age and medical factors etc.  
 
Workplace Inspections 

The annual/bi-annual and quarterly inspections were undertaken across sites in the authority. These have identified consistent good practice in general 

with just a few areas for improvement. The significant hazards have been identified during the inspections for 2019/20 and a programme of rectification 

is underway. 

There has also been continuous improvement in site responsible persons understanding the importance of undertaking the inspections, which included 

regular meetings with both Union representatives and Team Managers. 

A revised escalation process within SHE Assure system will ensure that actions not completed are escalated this to the next management level, 

whenever necessary, although we have not been to utilise the SHE processes to their full potential due to having to delay management training due to 

COVID-19. The training is now taking place virtually in September 2020. 

 

0

50

100

150

200

250

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Accidents within the Authority 2005 2020

Employee accidents Visitor Accidents

70



Customer Feedback 
 
Compliments:  

 
Compliments were received by the following service area as follows: 

January: Community Services 5 Customer Services 2 Housing and Property 3 

February: Community Services 2 Economic Regeneration 1 Housing and Property 13 Planning and Infrastructure 1 

March: Community Services 6 Customer Services 4 Economic Regeneration 2 Finance 2 Housing and Property 7 

 

There has been a steady increase throughout the quarter. 

 

Complaints: 

  The stage 2 complaints figures were as follows: 

  January - 3 complaints with 2 answered within ten days. 

  February -  4 complaints with 3 answered within ten days 

  March – There were no stage 2 complaints received so unable to respond within ten days. 

  

  MP enquiries responded to within 10 days: 

  January - 12 queries answered 

  February - 8 queries answered. 

  March -  4 queries answered from the 13 received. 

 

 

 

 

71



Customer Feedback Graph 

 

 

 

72



Customer Services Call Centre Statistics 

 

Quarter 4 saw an increase in telephone contact of more than 3500 calls on the same period in 2018/19 which is a 14% increase.  We saw a 23% increase in 

January, only 5% in February and a 13.66% in March.  The increase of calls for January was the result of reduced staff capacity from sickness and no agency 

which were improved in February. Due to this increased contact, we saw an upsurge of 5.46% abandonment for the quarter, of which 41% was for January, 

only 3% for February and 36% for March, March being due to Annual Billing contact. Also due to COVID-19, for 3 days at the end of March, a further 230 calls 

were unable to connect due to capacity. Despite the increase in calls, we have successfully answered 5.62% more calls this quarter than the same time last 

year and achieved an abandoned rate of 9.64% for the whole year against 16.43% of 2018-19. 

Customer Services experienced a slightly longer average call handling time of 17 seconds more on last year and with that came a longer waiting time, increase 

of 38 seconds to 1:18 average.  This can be attributed to the fact with the addition of the Summons service, we answered 250 summons calls with an average 

handling time of 5:51 minutes, this was an additional 22.50 hours more talk time than Q4 18-19.  Overall for the year we saw a huge improvement for customers 

compared to 2018-19 when the call waiting time averaged at 1:38.  Whilst we did not achieve our ambitious target of 30 seconds, we came below 1 minute at 

0:55 for 2019-20, a reduction of 42 seconds waiting time. 

On the whole, we had a successful year, in spite of receiving over 5,500 more calls we answered over 10,000 more calls, 17,639 more calls within 60 seconds 

of which 91.73% were within in 30 seconds and achieved our call answered target for the year at 85.82%. 

For face to face, we saw 661 less customers in Q4 2019-20 compared to last year hence the ability to take calls in between visitors.  Our transaction time 

increased slightly up to 13:02 per customer and our average queue time still remained well under 10 minutes at 7:46.  

Whilst the average transaction time increased overall for the year by 44 seconds and the visitor waiting time target has not been meet for the quarter, we 

achieved our target for the year at 07:01 average waiting time, a reduction of 40 seconds on 2018-19. We can see that 1537 less people visited us and 

attribute this not only to us answering more calls quicker but could also be attributed to the accessibility of services online, giving the customer more ways to 

contact us. 

73



Customer Services Call Centre Statistics Graph

 

 
 
  

74



 

 

Finance 
General Fund Annual Budgeted Position Q4 Annual Forecast 

Position 
Forecast Variance Movement from Q3 

Budgeted Contribution 
to/(from) Reserves 

£161,000 £1,158,000 £997,000 £805,000 

During quarter 4, there has been adverse variances of £300k, which have been offset against favourable variances of £996k. The net variances 

of £805k have been financed by additional grants of £193k in relation to EU Exit grants and the Transparency Code, reduction by £84k of 

business rates, with the remaining £613k being transferred to the General Fund balance. Explanations of the significant variances (over £50k) 

between quarter 3 and 4 are detailed below. 

 

An underspend on planning appeals and technical support of £115k, additional £73k planning fee and £94k investment income received than 

previously anticipated, a £60k homelessness grant was received, an increase in recharges of £95k from the general fund, reduction in rent 

rebates of £188k and a underspend of the new burdens grant of £66k. 

  

Across the general fund, there is forecast salary savings of £408k compared to budget for the year, a decrease of £91k from quarter 3.  The 

savings are due to a number of vacant posts across the authority. 

 

The outturn for business rates is an additional £278k compared to the budget. £86k relates to an increase of the share received through taking 

part in the Business Rates Retention Pilot, in addition to the £550k budgeted for. The remaining increase was due to additional Section 31 grants 

received and as a result of accounting differences, compared to the budgeted level stated in the council’s NNDR1 return. 

Housing Revenue Account Annual Budgeted Position Q4 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q3 

Budgeted Surplus/(Deficit) £1,418,000 £2,427,000 £1,009,000 £651,000 

75



Since Q3, the forecast HRA surplus has increased by £651k to £2,427k. The surplus was boosted by the depreciation charge to the account, 

which is calculated at year-end, being £454k lower than budgeted. The surplus on the in-house repair team’s trading account also increased, 

from a predicted surplus of £487k at Q3 to £826k at Q4 – a rise of £339k.  

 

Other smaller underspends between Q3 and Q4 include the contribution to bad debts being £94k below forecast, repair and maintenance costs 

comes £76k below forecasts, and net staff costs (after agency costs) falling by £40k.  

 

We also increased the revenue contribution to capital outlay by £590k, as higher right to buy sales during the year mean we needed to contribute 

more of our own resources to match the receipts we are able to retain from the sale.  

Special Expenses Annual Budgeted Position Q4 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q3 

Net Expenditure £536,000 £534,000 -£2,000 -£11,000 

The net cost of Special Expenses services are funded through Council Tax and Localisation of Council Tax Support Grant. The budgeted 

contribution to Special Expenses reserves was £4,000 and the actual outturn was a transfer to reserves of £6,000. This movement was a result 

of increased expenditure on approved in year projects, salaries and service management recharges, offset by increased burial fee income and 

reduced expenditure on general repairs and operational purchases. 

General Fund  Capital 
Programme 

Annual Budgeted Position Q4 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q3 

Budgeted Expenditure £15,348,000 £4,392,000 -£10,956,000 -£624,000 

There has been additional slippage between quarter 3 and 4 of £624k. There has been less expenditure than forecast since quarter 3 on a 

number of projects including Telephony Unified Communication (£130k), Linden Way Welfare Facilities (£92k), Hood Park Leisure Centre 

improvements (£121k), Marlborough Square (£70k) and New Market (£74k).  During the quarter, additional budget of £143k has also been 

agreed for the New Market Provision. All of the expenditure is in line with anticipated spend.  

Housing Revenue Account  
Capital Programme 

Annual Budgeted Position Q4 Annual Forecast 
Position 

Forecast Variance Movement from Q3 

Budgeted Expenditure £13,109,000 £7,164,000 -£5,946,000 -£655,000 

76



By Q4, we spent £7.2 million on the HRA Capital Programme, £655k less than we had forecast at Q3. The biggest movement was in the New 

Supply programme, where delays on the Cropston Drive site led to an underspend in year of £175k. Underspends on other schemes that are at 

the early stage of planning to another £61k underspend, and so in total we spent £285k less than we had forecast at Q3 on New Supply.  

 

Estate improvements work also saw forecast expenditure fall by £260k between Q3 and Q4. This was mainly caused by off street parking not 

being completed by 31 March as expected. There was also a £125k underspend against the Q3 forecast on Fire Risk Assessment Remedial 

Work as a new contractor needs to be procured. 

 

Where work is not completed in the year where it is budgeted, it gets carried forward into the next financial year. We have carried forward £2.6 

million into 2020-21 for work that will continue.  

 

Expenditure on the renewable energy installation programme, which was been replacing solid fuel heating systems with air source heat pumps, 

as £134k above forecast expenditure, and ended the year £200k above budget as we completed more installations than budgeted.  

  

77



Quarter 1 2020/21 – PERFORMANCE REPORT  

 

1.0 The usual performance monitoring of the Council was significantly affected by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, which meant that many of the 

Council’s normal activities and projects were suspended and the focus of the Councils work was to provide a response to the pandemic. Our priority 

during the early months of the lockdown was on the continued operation of key service areas and providing support to our communities at local and 

regional level with new service areas which included the delivery of new requirements, including the establishment and delivery of community hubs, 

new grants schemes to support businesses within the district, and a multitude of wider support according to government guidance across all service 

areas. This involved the reassignment of many staff to the new service areas and new areas of focus, a challenge which a large number of our staff 

responded to with enthusiasm and vigour. 

 

 With the suspension of a number of our service areas and the impact of the lockdown on partners, businesses, suppliers etc, the normal performance 

data collection was suspended during the first and second quarters of 2020/21. The following information provides members with the available key data 

and updates on key projects where there was some progress during quarter 1. 

 

 Key projects update 

 Sickness absence management update and statistics  

 Customer Service Call Centre  

 

KEY PROJECTS UPDATE QUARTER 1 

2.1  This section sets out the performance and progress on key projects 

 

2.2 New Leisure Centre 

 

The new Leisure Centre construction works commenced on site on 20 July 2020 with the required access and bridge works now well 
underway.  The S278 Agreement which gives formal consent and agreement to the highways-related works, has been a complex process 
requiring input from a range of key stakeholders. 
 
A section of public highway was formally stopped-up that enabled the new access to be created, the process ran smoothly without any 
challenges. Continued engagement with utility providers has resulted in the required water and electricity supplies being provided as required 
 
The freehold sale of a sliver of land was concluded between Leicestershire County Council and North West Leicestershire District Council to 
permit the new vehicular access to be in the Council’s ownership, with an onward license to Everyone Active under the operating contract. 
 

78



The required amendments to the contract with Everyone Active have been worked through in a collaborative manner, are now agreed and 
social value targets have been agreed to ensure local jobs, local suppliers and engagement with local schools/colleges are prioritised 
wherever possible. 

 

2.3 Hood Park 

 

All external improvement works to Hood Park Leisure Centre have been completed. Due to Covid-19, the relaunch of the facility as Ashby 

Leisure Centre and lido had to be postponed and this will now be undertaken in May 2021 to coincide with the opening of the lido for the 

2021 season. 

 

2.4  New Coalville Market 

At the beginning of June, the council received notification that the contractor Westone Housing Ltd intended to terminate the contract, with 
immediate effect, citing the impact of COVID-19 and the challenges that had been placed on the day-to-day operation of their business. 
  
A number of discussions took place to understand whether or not the council could further-support WHL to enable them to conclude the 
project. Westone considered their position but decided that pressures on their internal resource and cash flow prevented them from finishing 
the project.  
  
The council therefore took the following steps to safeguard the site until the legal position could be confirmed and next steps agreed. There 
were increased security patrols, the existing compound security fencing has been retained, new padlocks    have been installed to secure 
the site and the council’s insurance company were notified of the change in circumstances.      
A recommendation to engage a new contractor was considered at Cabinet and the Councils appointed Contract Administrators have been 
instructed to progress with the appointment of a main contractor to complete the project at pace.  
 
  

2.5  Regeneration  
 
A ‘Full Business Case’ for the Coalville Future High Streets Fund submission has been completed and will be submitted to Ministry of Housing, 

Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) in early quarter two.  

Five key Coalville Regeneration projects were identified in the Full Business Case and these form the first draft Coalville Regeneration 

Framework. The projects were presented to Cabinet in June 2020. 

In March 2020 the Council secured grant funding of £100,000 from the Leicester and Leicestershire Enterprise Partnership Business Rates 

Pool fund to continue the development of the five key projects. 

Project preparation, due diligence and de-risking is proposed to be progressed during Q2 in the expectation that Future High Street Funding 

is confirmed in quarter three. This will allow clarification of the Regeneration Framework in quarter four, with the identification of those 

79



schemes were all resources are in place for delivery and those that remain pipeline schemes requiring funding and delivery mechanisms to 

be secured. 

 

A Full Business Case for Future High Street Funding to delivery Coalville’s five key regeneration projects has been prepared and will be 

submitted to MHCLG at the beginning of quarter two. The process once submitted will remain competitive, but a decision is expected by the 

end of quarter three. 

A methodology for the delivery of a cinema in Coalville has been identified and agreed in principle with interested parties. The arrangements 

are the subject of a Non- Disclosure Agreement which limits the amount of additional information that can be given in a public document. 

To bring the development to fruition external funding will be required which is being sought as part of the councils Full Business Case 

submission to the Future High Street Fund to MHCLG. 

The funding submission will be made in early quarter two with a decision expected by late quarter three. The intervening period will be used 

by council Officers to work with private sector partners to de-risk the project. 

 

Redesign of the Marlborough Square project has progressed to the point where ‘confirming fine grain details’ is being undertaken, such as 

checking vehicle tracking in various scenarios, along with other ‘safety’ auditing. It is hoped that consents and permits can be applied for in 

late quarter two, early quarter three. 

 

There have been no new grant awards in quarter one. 

Council Officers continue to work with applicants and Simon Foote Architects to develop applications remotely. However, restrictions resulting 

from COVID 19 has delayed site inspections and further application from being completed.  

Following a temporary pause of any site work between March and June due to social distancing measures, Business Focus are back working 

with our appointed architects to finish the final Coalville Frontage Improvement Scheme projects. 

 

Four of the planned schemes in the project pipeline now will not now be progressing. 

To date the project has made completed 16 grant projects totalling nearly £300K of grant funding to improve frontages in Coalville.  

In addition to the festive one to one retail support programme delivered for 10 Coalville Market Traders in 2019, a further retail support and 

small grants for Coalville Market Traders will be delivered as part of the transition from the old market hall to New Market. 

Throughout lockdown Business Focus maintained a first port of call for business contacting North West Leicestershire District Council looking 

for support and the team actively worked alongside council colleagues to ensure eligible local business were applying for government funding.  

80



Business Focus has provided one to one support to over 400 business in quarter one and to over 700 businesses since the outbreak of the 

Coronavirus in March. Many of these businesses were facing hardship and seeking financial support.   In addition, the Business Focus Team 

have provided support to 48 new start-up business or business growing in the same period. 

 
3.0  Sickness Update 

3.1 In quarter one (2020/21) there were 471 FTE days lost due to sickness, this is 624 FTE days fewer when compared with the same period in 2019/20. 

 This equates to 1.03 days lost per full time equivalent (FTE).  

3.2 Projecting ahead, based on quarter one results, the annual absence rate will be 4.12 days lost per FTE against a corporate target of 8.0 days. However, 

 the rate of sickness reporting was significantly lower in this quarter as a result of the Covid-19 measures taken by the council. Due to the lockdown 67 

 clinically vulnerable members of staff were unable to work for part or all of the quarter; a further 31 employees were quarantined in this period due covid-

 19 related symptoms, as well as 11 employees who were under shielding measures. 

3.3 Absence due to Covid-19 is not included in the sickness figures unless the employee tested positive. This approach is in line with National Joint Council 

 (NJC) guidance. 

 
3.4 Housing (2.19 days/FTE) and Community Services (1.08 days/FTE) were the work areas with the highest levels of sickness in this quarter. Almost all 

 sickness in Housing (86%) and Community Services (78%) was the result of long term sickness, which have now ended.  

 
3.5 The teams with the highest levels of sickness include, Waste Services accounting for over 30% of all sickness, this was followed by Housing Management 

 (19%) and Asset Management (14%). The most common reasons for sickness in Waste Services and Leisure Services were Musculoskeletal. 

 Furthermore in Housing Management and Asset Management work-related stress were the highest causes of sickness.  

 
3.6 Across the organisation musculoskeletal accounted for nearly a quarter of all sickness, majority of it occurring in the Waste Services (66%), nearly a 

 third in Grounds Maintenance (20%). Work related stress (28%) and personal stress (18%) were the other most common reasons for sickness. There is 

 no obvious pattern of stress related sickness, instances are spread across teams and services. Covid-19 accounted for 3.02% of sickness, or 14.25 FTE 

 days. 

 
  

81



 

The Table below illustrates total sickness as a percentage by reason: 

Sickness Reason Percentage of 
sickness by reason 

 Sickness Reason Percentage of 
sickness by reason 

Stress - depression - anxiety -  psychological 
(work related) 27.79% 

 Cold and Flu 
 3.61% 

Back pain - sprain - strain - musculo- skeletal 25.33% 
 Ear nose & throat – dental 3.23% 

Stress - depression - anxiety -  psychological 
(non-work related) 17.91% 

 Covid-19 
 3.02% 

Operation / Post Op 7.85% 
 Headache - migraine - neurological 2.89% 

Stomach - bowel - gastric - intestinal 6.20% 
 Blood conditions  2.17% 

 

1.10 Organisationally long term sickness accounted for 79% of all sickness. There were 13 long-term cases of sickness of which all but 1 have returned 

back to work, either full-time or on a phased return, or left the employment of the council. 

  

1.11 Completion of return to work interview forms across the Council was a rate of 81%, this lower than previous quarter, however this can be attributed to 

the new way of mostly remote working. We have re-emphasised the need for managers to complete and return these during the past quarter. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

82



Management of Absence 

 
 

 

  
  

83



Customer Services Call Centre  
 
During quarter one the Visitor centre remained closed to customers due to COVID-19 pandemic, operating with a skeleton staff remaining in the office to cover 

the incoming and outgoing post, with distribution by way of scanning to other services as well as printing for the team and accepting deliveries for the whole of 

the council offices.  

There were four members of our team in the At Risk group, who were prioritised for laptop configuration with VPN remote access, softphone licenses and 

headsets in order for us to be able to set staff up for home working, with a further three being completed every few days. Our at home set up was fully rolled out 

within three weeks. North West Leicestershire District Council operating systems were available with the remote access with further work to provide access to 

the Revenues and Benefits system also completed within this timescale.  

We are now reliant on the staff to have effective and reliable home WIFI. Problems have been experienced and whilst frequent, have not been prohibitive to the 

successful running of our service. The home working environments vary from home offices to working in their bedrooms and every variation in between. 

The change in the working environment and the resources did initially have an impact on the service, but this was quickly resolved with the call abandonment reducing during 

May and June and the percentage of calls answered increasing.  

Call volume increased in June by more than 20% on the previous month, with new business rates support and cardboard collection recommenced as well as 

localised flooding, with a  small average increase of 10 seconds for customer waiting time.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

84



Customer Services Call Centre Graph 
 

 
 

 

 

85



  

 
 

 

 

86



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 

 
Title of Report 
 

 
MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING 
SYSTEM: CONSULTATION ON CHANGES TO PLANNING 
POLICY AND REGULATIONS 

Presented by Councillor Robert Ashman 
Planning and Infrastructure Portfolio Holder  

Background Papers National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
Planning for the Future 
 
North West Leicestershire 
Local Plan 
 
Consultation on the design 
and delivery of First Homes 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications Changes to the standard method for assessing local housing 
need are likely to affect the future Council Tax base, planning 
application fee income, developer contributions and the costs 
associated with reviewing the North West Leicestershire Local 
Plan to accommodate housing growth. 
 
Raising the small sites threshold would lead to a reduction in 
affordable housing provision and a reduction in developer 
contributions to affordable housing. The introduction of a First 
Homes policy would have similar effects. 
 
The extension of the Permission in Principle (“PiP”) consent 
regime has the potential to affect planning application fee 
income. 
 
These impacts are difficult to quantify at this stage, but further 
analysis will be undertaken and if of a material nature will be 
presented in the council’s Medium Term Financial Plan as 
appropriate. 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications Raising the small sites threshold may require the renegotiation 
of S106 Agreements. 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

Changes to the standard method result in a significantly 
increased housing requirement. This may impact upon the t the 
staff resources required to support the review of the North West 
Leicestershire Local Plan  
 
Housing growth proposals will result in a greater number of 
planning applications with implications for Development 
Management staffing resources. 
 

87

Agenda Item 6.

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20Statement.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20Statement.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf


 

The introduction of a First Homes policy will require 
administering by the Council which will an impact upon staff 
resources. 
 
Raising the small sites threshold may require the renegotiation 
of S106 Agreements which would impact upon staff resources. 
 
The extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 
places an extra burden on authorities to make decisions within 
a 5-week determination period and a 14-day period for 
consultation with the public and statutory consultees. Further, 
PiP introduces additional processing and staff and member 
training costs and time by adding to the complexity of the 
planning regime. 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 
 

Purpose of Report To consider the Government’s proposed changes to planning 
policy and regulations as set out in the consultation document 
“Changes to the current planning system”. 

Reason for Decision To determine the Council’s response to the consultation.  

Recommendations THAT CABINET RESPONDS TO THE CONSULATION IN 
RESPECT OF CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING 
SYSTEM AS SET OUT IN APPENDICES 1-4 OF THE 
REPORT ATTACHED AT APPENDIX A OF THIS REPORT. 

 
1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is seeking views on changes 
to planning policy and regulations. The consultation document can be viewed here. This 
consultation closes at 11:45pm on 1 October 2020. 

1.2 The consultation sets out proposals for measures to improve the effectiveness of the current 
planning system. The four main proposals are: 

 changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need; 

 securing of First Homes through developer contributions in the short term until 
the transition to a new system; 

 supporting small and medium-sized builders by temporarily lifting the small sites 
threshold below which developers do not need to contribute to affordable 
housing; and 

 extending the current Permission in Principle to major development. 
 

1.3 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is also separately seeking 
views on ‘Planning for the Future’ which sets out plans to undertake a fundamental reform of 
the planning system. Consultation on proposals for reform of the planning system in England 
will be reported to future meetings of both Cabinet and Local Plan Committee as there is a 
longer consultation period- to 29 October 2020. The consultation on changes to planning 
policy and regulations sets out proposals for measures to improve the effectiveness of the 
current system and would be implemented in the short term. 

1.4 The consultation sets out a number of questions. These and the suggested responses are 
set out in Appendices 1 to 4 of this report. The questions are focussed on specific matters. It 
is disappointing that there is not a specific question whereby the Council is invited to 
comment on the overall outcome from the proposed changes to the standard method.  

 
1.5 The  “Changes to the current planning system” consultation and the suggested response 

were considered by the Local Plan Committee at its meeting on 24 September 2020. A copy 

88

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907215/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf


 

of that report is attached at Appendix A of this report. The views of the Local Plan Committee 
will be reported verbally to Cabinet at its meeting. 

 
2.      KEY MESSAGES FROM THE CONSULTATION 
 
2.1    The key messages from Appendices 1-4 attached to this Cabinet report are outlined below       

with the detailed responses to the questions asked by the consultation contained within 
Appendices 1-4. 

 
2.2     Appendix 1 - Changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need 
 
         The standard method was introduced by government to make the process of identifying the 

level of need in an area simple, quick and transparent. It was intended that it would avoid 
unnecessary debate at Examinations which took both time and money. 

 
          The effect of the latest proposed change to the standard methodology for assessing local 

housing need is to increase the requirement for North West Leicestershire from 761 
dwellings using the 2018-based household forecasts up to 1,153 dwellings. This level of 
increase is considered to be unacceptable, particularly when coupled with using the 
Principal Projection from the household forecast which only builds in two years data for 
internal migration which is not robust statistically. From a North West Leicestershire 
perspective this has coincided with a significant increase in build rate across the district 
well above that required in the adopted Local Plan. Therefore, the projection is a self-
fulfilling prophecy; the more that has been built recently means more is required in the 
future. 

 
2.3     Appendix 2 - Delivering first homes 
 

First Homes are properties to be made available in perpetuity at a discount and aimed 
primarily at first time buyers. 

The 25% of affordable housing as First Homes would mean that the Council would be 
delivering over our identified need for Low Cost Home Ownership (LCHO) which was only 
21% in the Housing and Economic Development Needs Assessment and as such is not 
supported by local evidence. 
 
It is considered that that the requirement that sites must contain First Homes should be 
waived on wholly affordable developments where other products better meet the affordable 
housing need although these may be other LCHO options such as shared ownership. 

 
2.4     Appendix 3 - Supporting small and medium-sized developers (SMEs) 
 

To stimulate economic recovery with a particular focus on SMEs, the Government is seeking 
views on raising the threshold for affordable housing contributions to either 40 or 50 new 
homes. Sites of between 10 and 50 dwellings make a significant contribution to the supply of 
housing, including affordable housing, across the district. Excluding such sites from the 
provision of affordable housing will result in less affordable  housing being provided to the 
detriment of those most in need. The opportunity to provide bungalows for older, disabled or 
vulnerable households could also be substantially reduced. 
  
It is recognised that increasing the threshold could benefit small and medium sized 
developers. However, it is considered that a jump to 40 or 50 dwellings would represent to 
big an increase in the threshold. An increased threshold of 25 dwellings is suggested instead. 
This would still provide benefit to small and medium sized developers, but would also ensure 
that affordable housing continues to be provided. Any changes should be for a limited period 
of time. 

 
 
 

89



 

 
2.5     Appendix 4 - Extension of the permission in principle consent (PiP) 
 

Permission in Principle was introduced in 2017 as a new faster way of obtaining planning 
permission for housing-led development, which reduced the need for landowners and 
developers to incur significant costs to establish the principle of development for housing. It 
is recognised that in theory the extension of the PiP regime might provide small and medium-
sized house builders with an alternative way of reducing their upfront planning costs and 
provide certainty more quickly about the principle of development. 
 
However, whilst the PIP system is intended to help developers avoid the cost and time of 
submitting technical reports necessary to demonstrate the effects of their developments, it 
would appear to simply change the point at which developers need to do this. Permission in 
Principle could in effect be granted and then a major technical issue could be raised at the 
detailed stage which is not helpful to house builders. 
 
It is considered that Permission in Principle may include other uses such as retail, offices, or 
community spaces although housing must occupy the majority of the scheme. 
 
It is considered that local communities should have greater opportunity to make 
representation on major development that might affect them. Applications for PiP on large 
sites should be subject to publicity beyond just a site notice and website publication. 
However, traditional publicity requirements such as notices in newspapers are ineffective 
and costly. Local planning authorities should be given the flexibility to publicise applications, 
including using social media.  
 
A simple, banded fee structure is preferred but it should be similar to that required for an 
existing outline consent. 

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Local people live in high quality, affordable homes. 
First Homes would contribute towards meeting the 
Council’s priority to increase the number of affordable 
homes in the district, although as noted in the report 
this may be at the expense of other types of 
affordable housing. Raising the small sites threshold 
would lead to a significant reduction in affordable 
housing provision with rural areas disproportionally 
affected. In the last 5 years 20% of all affordable 
housing provision has been delivered on sites of 50 
or less units. 
Supporting businesses and helping people into local 
jobs 
The proposals support SME housebuilders in the 
medium term during economic recovery from Covid-
19. 

Policy Considerations: 
 

The introduction of the First Homes policy as set out 
in the consultation may require amendments as part 
of the current review of the Local Plan. 

Safeguarding: 
 

None identified at this time. 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

See section 6 in the Local Plan report attached. 

Customer Impact: 
 

None identified at this time. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

As set out in Council Priorities above. 

Environment and Climate Change: None identified at this time. 

90



 

 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

By limiting the consultation period and reducing 
technical detail, local people will find it more difficult 
to engage in major applications that use the 
Permission in Principle consent regime. 

Risks: 
 

The proposed changes to the current planning 
system could have an impact financially upon the 
Council, for example a reduction in income if there are 
more Permission in Principle applications. It will also 
require new administrative procedures in view of the 
different timescales for determining Permission in 
Principle schemes than other planning applications.  
 
The proposals are likely to lead to a significant 
reduction in affordable housing provision with rural 
areas disproportionally affected. 
 
The proposed changes to the standard method 
results is a significant increase in the amount of 
housing that will need to be provided for. Such a scale 
of development will impact upon local communities 
and infrastructure.  This could also impact upon the 
timetable for the review. There is a possibility that the 
Council would have to declare an unmet need.  

Officer Contact 
 

Chris Elston  
Head of Planning and Infrastructure  
chris.elston@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
  
Chris Lambert  
Head of Housing  
chris.lambert@nwleicestershire.gov.uk    

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

91

mailto:chris.elston@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:chris.lambert@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

ANNEX A 
 
REPORT TO  LOCAL PLAN COMMITTEE – 24 SEPTEMBER 
2020 
 
 

 
Title of Report 
 

 
MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL 
GOVERNMENT CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING 
SYSTEM: CONSULTATION ON CHANGES TO PLANNING 
POLICY AND REGULATIONS 

Presented by Ian Nelson  
Planning Policy Team Manager   
 

Background Papers National Planning Policy 
Framework 
 
Planning for the Future 
 
North West Leicestershire 
Local Plan 
 
Consultation on the design 
and delivery of First Homes 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications Changes to the standard method for assessing local housing 
need are likely to affect the future Council Tax base, planning 
application fee income, developer contributions and the costs 
associated with reviewing the North West Leicestershire Local 
Plan to accommodate housing growth. 
 
Raising the small sites threshold would lead to a reduction in 
affordable housing provision and a reduction in developer 
contributions to affordable housing. The introduction of a First 
Homes policy would have similar effects. 
 
The extension of the Permission in Principle consent regime 
has the potential to affect planning application fee income. 
 
These impacts are difficult to quantify at this stage. 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications Raising the small sites threshold may require the renegotiation 
of S106 Agreements. 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

Changes to the standard method result in a significantly 
increased housing requirement. This may impact upon the the 
staff resources required to support the review of the North West 
Leicestershire Local Plan.  
 
Housing growth proposals will result in a greater number of 
planning applications with implications for Development 
Management staffing resources. 
 
The introduction of a First Homes policy will require 
administering by the Council which will have an impact upon 
staff resources. 
 

92

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907647/MHCLG-Planning-Consultation.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20Statement.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20Statement.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/864265/First_Homes_consultation_document.pdf


 

Raising the small sites threshold may require the renegotiation 
of S106 Agreements which would impact upon staff resources. 
 
The extension of the Permission in Principle (“PiP”) consent 
regime places an extra burden on authorities to make decisions 
within a 5-week determination period and a 14-day period for 
consultation with the public and statutory consultees. Further, 
PiP introduces additional processing, staff and member training 
costs and time by adding to the complexity of the planning 
regime. 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report To consider the Government’s proposed changes to planning 
policy and regulations.as set out in the consultation document 
“Changes to the current planning system”. 

Recommendations THAT CABINET BE ADVISED THAT THIS COMMITTEE 
RECOMMENDS THAT CABINET RESPONDS TO THE 
CONSULTATION IN RESPECT OF CHANGES TO THE 
CURRENT PLANNING SYSTEM AS SET OUT IN 
APPENDICES 1-4 OF THE REPORT. 

 
1. BACKGROUND 

1.1 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is seeking views on changes 
to planning policy and regulations. The consultation document can be viewed here. This 
consultation closes at 11:45pm on 1 October 2020. 

1.2 The consultation sets out proposals for measures to improve the effectiveness of the current 
planning system. The four main proposals are: 

 changes to the standard method for assessing local housing need; 

 securing of First Homes through developer contributions in the short term until 
the transition to a new system; 

 supporting small and medium-sized builders by temporarily lifting the small sites 
threshold below which developers do not need to contribute to affordable 
housing; and 

 extending the current Permission in Principle to major development. 
 

1.3 The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government is also separately seeking 
views on ‘Planning for the Future’ which sets out plans to undertake a fundamental reform of 
the planning system. Consultation on proposals for reform of the planning system in England 
will be reported to future meetings of both Cabinet and Local Plan Committee as there is a 
longer consultation period- to 29 October 2020. The consultation on changes to planning 
policy and regulations outlined in this report sets out proposals for measures to improve the 
effectiveness of the current system and would be implemented in the short term. 

1.4 The consultation sets out a number of questions. These and the suggested responses are 
set out in Appendices 1 to 4 of this report. The questions are focussed on specific matters. It 
is disappointing that there is not a specific question whereby the Council is invited to 
comment on the overall outcome from the proposed changes to the standard method.  
 

2. CHANGES TO THE STANDARD METHOD FOR ASSESSING LOCAL HOUSING NEED 
 
What is the standard method? 

2.1 The standard method was introduced by government to make the process of identifying the 

level of need in an area simple, quick and transparent. It was intended that it would avoid 

unnecessary debate at Examinations which took both time and money. 

93

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/907215/200805_Changes_to_the_current_planning_system_FINAL_version.pdf


 

2.2 In accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) “ to determine the 

minimum number of homes needed, strategic policies [in local plans] should be informed by 

a local housing need assessment, conducted using the standard method [unless exceptional 

circumstances justify an alternative approach]”.  

2.3 The current standard method involves 3 steps: 

Step 1 - Setting the baseline using household projections 

Step 2 - An adjustment to take account of affordability using an authority’s median 

workplace-based affordability ratio  

Step 3 - Capping the level of any increase to that in an adopted Local Plan (if less than 5-

years old) or at 40% above the annual requirement where the Local Plan is more than 5-

years old 

2.4 At the present time the baseline is provided by the 2014-based household projections. 

Although 2016-based household projections are also available, the government has 

stipulated that the older 2014-based projections should be used as nationally they project a 

bigger increase in the number of households and so are more  “consistent with the 

Government’s objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes “ (Planning Practice 

Guidance - Housing and economic needs assessment, paragraph 005).  

Why are changes required? 

2.5 The consultation document notes that the 2014-based projections “have attracted criticism 

for their volatility and the way in which they can result in artificially low projections in some 

places, where overcrowding and concealed households suppress the numbers. Crucially, 

they cannot in isolation forecast housing need – they project past trends forward”. 

2.6 The proposed changes are, according to the consultation document, designed to:  

• Ensure it is more agile in using up-to-date data.  

• Achieve a better distribution of homes where homes are identified in more high- 

 demand areas and in emerging demand areas across the country (such as the 

Northern Powerhouse).  

• Provide stability to the method by smoothing out areas of potential volatility so that 

the basis on which local authorities are expected to plan for is more predictable. 

• Be consistent with the Government’s ambition for a housing market that supports 

300,000 homes by creating a method with a suitable overall national number that 

enables achievement of this aim. 

 

2.7 It should be noted that the government’s stated target of 300,000 new homes is a policy 

target which has not changed for a number of years irrespective of forecasts which have 

tended to be decreasing since 2014.  

 What is proposed? 

2.8 The proposed revised method has only two steps but some additions: 

Step 1: Setting the baseline – providing stability and certainty by incorporating a blend of 

household projections and stock 

• Baseline is the higher of 0.5% of existing housing stock in each local authority OR 

 the latest projected average annual household growth over a 10-year period. 

Step 2: Adjusting for market signals – maintaining price signals using the current affordability 

ratio and the change in affordability over the last 10 years 

• The current affordability ratio is calculated as per the existing method (i.e. for each 

1% the ratio is above 4, the baseline is increased by a quarter of a percent). 

94



 

However, where affordability has improved the method now allows for a downward 

adjustment. 

• The change in affordability over the last 10 years is calculated by multiplying the 

difference by a factor of 0.25. 

2.9 The latest household projections are 2018-based. These set out five alternative projections 

and the consultation confirms that the Principal Projection is to be used.    

2.10 The previous Step 3 which set a cap is proposed to be removed. The consultation document 

states “The Government is clear that in order to significantly boost the supply of homes and 

address the past under-supply as quickly as possible, a step change is needed. Capping the 

level of need is not compatible with this aim.” 

2.11 Nationally the new standard method results in a housing need of 337,000 on the basis of 

currently available data. This is more than the government’s stated ambition of 300,000 new 

homes. This would, the consultation document states, account for the fact that "not all homes 

that are planned for are built". 

2.12 The ‘Planning for the Future’ consultation highlights that the government are considering 

further changes to the standard method in order to factor in constraints on development. 

Therefore, if the current proposals are agreed, and hence the requirement figure becomes 

‘fixed’, it is possible that it might change again.  

What is the outcome for North West Leicestershire?  

2.13 Under step 1 North West Leicestershire would be required to use the baseline from the 

household projections as these (761) are much higher than 0.5% of the housing stock (228). 

2.14 Using the revised method the local housing need for North West Leicestershire is 1,153 

dwellings per annum. The total requirement for the plan period (2020-39) would be 23,060 

dwellings. 

2.15 This compares to the figure using the current standard method (with 2014-household 

projections) of 379 dwellings each year and 481 dwellings in the adopted Local Plan. The 

increase compared to the adopted Local Plan is 140%. 

2.16 The housing requirement in the adopted Local Plan is 481 dwellings each year. The total 

number of new dwellings built since 2011 (5,466 dwellings) is 26% above the requirements 

and is an average of 607 dwellings every year. The requirement of 1,153 dwellings would 

represent an increase of 90% compared to build rates to date.  

What might this mean for North West Leicestershire? 

2.17 A significant amount of development is already committed. It is estimated that this would 

result in about 8,800 dwellings by 2039. This would still leave a need to allocate land for 

about 14,300 dwellings.  

2.18 The Council has a Strategic Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment (SHELAA) 

which, in accordance with government policy, identifies a future supply of land which is 

suitable, available and achievable for housing and economic development uses over the plan 

period. 

2.19 On the basis of the above, the majority of the sites in the SHELAA would be required.  

2.20 This could mean significant growth in many settlements in North West Leicestershire. The 

table below highlights the potential scale of growth that could be required in some 

settlements. The total number of dwellings in these settlements exceeds the residual 

requirement and it is only intended as an illustration. It is also likely that not all of the sites 

would come forward for development, for example because the landowner decides to not 

pursue or because of some form of constraint.  

95



 

Settlement Potential 
additional 
dwellings 
2020-39 

Increase in 
dwellings 
compared to 
2020 

Appleby Magna  1,100 200% 

Ashby de la Zouch  4,000 62% 

Breedon on the Hill  200 53% 

Castle Donington  2,500 76% 

Coalville Urban 
Area  

7,000 43% 

Donisthorpe 390 47% 

Heather 350 75% 

Ibstock 1,600 52% 

Kegworth 500 28% 

Measham 540 22% 

Oakthorpe 360 115% 

Ravenstone 1,200 132% 

 

2.21 It could also lead to at least one new settlement. 

2.22 Included in the figures above are sites which the Council has sought to resist for a number 

of years, including those won at appeal where government Inspector’s backed the Council 

and the local community. For example, land south of Ashby de la Zouch (Packington Nook) 

and also Stephenson Green in Coalville (i.e. the Green Wedge).  

2.23 The impact of such a scale of growth on individual communities would be significant and it 

would put pressure upon a range of infrastructure including roads, drainage, education and 

health. 

2.24 As part of the Local Plan review it will be necessary to consider whether all of the growth can 

be accommodated and delivered. Officers have begun work to address this.  

2.25 The revised standard method now includes two different measures for affordability. This has 

the effect of increasing the requirement by 52% from the baseline figure of 761 to 1,153 

dwellings. Whilst recognising that affordability is an issue, it is considered that the proposed 

changes give too much emphasis to affordability.  

2.26 It is important to not restrict supply, but equally over estimating future needs can result in 

additional problems. Ultimately the market will only deliver what there is a demand for and 

for which there is sufficient return against investment by a developer. As noted above, the 

build rate required would be 90% above that achieved since 2011. It is very questionable as 

to whether such a rate could be achieved and sustained over such a long period. If it was not 

possible to achieve and maintain, this would create problems in terms of maintaining a 5-

year supply of housing land which in turn would leave the Council vulnerable at appeal and 

to adhoc applications elsewhere. 

Transition arrangements 

2.27 Members will be aware that for some time there has been considerable uncertainty regarding 

the level of housing growth which needs to be planned for as part of the substantive Local 

Plan review. Leaving aside the merits or otherwise of the proposed changes to the standard 

method, they do provide a degree of certainty moving forward. The substantive review is still 

at relatively early stages of preparation.  

2.28 The Government recognises that any change in the standard method will have an impact for 

plans that are currently under development, as authorities expend considerable resources in 

developing new plans. Therefore, a transition process is proposed. In view of the relatively 

early stage of the substantive review, the proposed arrangements do not have any 

implications for the review. 

96



 

2.29 The consultation sets out a series of questions under three headings: 

 Setting the baseline – providing stability and certainty by incorporating a blend of 
household projections and stock (Questions 1-2) 

 Adjusting for market signals – maintaining price signals using the current 
affordability ratio and the change in affordability over the last 10 years (Questions 
3-5) 

 Transition (Questions 6-7) 
 

2.30 The questions and the suggested response (in bold) are set out in Appendix 1. Further 
information and comments to explain and expand upon the responses are provided where 
appropriate. 

2.31 Following the outcome of this consultation, the Government will update the planning practice 
guidance with the revised standard method for assessing local housing need. 

3.      DELIVERING FIRST HOMES 
 

3.1   The Government consulted on its proposed First Homes proposals in February 2020. This 
included consultation around both the design of the First Homes scheme and changes to the 
planning system to support its delivery.  

3.2   The consultation was originally intended to be considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 31  
March 2020. Due to the Covid-19 pandemic, the meeting was cancelled and the Council’s 
response was agreed with the Portfolio Holder for Planning and Regeneration. 

3.3 First Homes are properties to be made available in perpetuity at a discount and aimed 
primarily at first time buyers.  

3.4 The Government has published a response to this consultation and is now seeking views on 
the detail of the proposed changes to the current planning system. 

3.5 First Homes will give people the opportunity to buy a discounted home with lower deposit 
and mortgage requirements. The Government intends to set out in policy that a minimum of 
25 per cent of all affordable housing units secured through developer contributions should 
be First Homes. In most cases it expects this policy to be delivered onsite. 

3.6 The consultation seeks to ensure that a policy compliant planning application should deliver 
the same value of affordable housing as an existing Local Plan policy. To do this the 
consultation sets out two options: 

 Option 1 – where the First Home requirement would replace any other home 
ownership products (e.g. shared ownership) specified in a Local Plan policy which 
secure a smaller amount of discount; or 

 Option 2 – the remaining 75% of affordable housing required would be subject to 
negotiation between the local authority and the developer.  

3.7 The government’s preference is Option1, as it would provide more clarity and less delay.  

3.8 The consultation seeks views in respect of the possible exemptions to the First Homes policy. 

3.9 The consultation sets out transitional arrangements for those local plans and neighbourhood 
plans that are being prepared. This would allow for such plans that are submitted for 
Examination within 6 months of this new policy being enacted to not need to reflect the First 
Homes policy requirements. This is not likely to apply to the Council’s current Local Plan 
substantive review, unless the implementation of the policy is delayed for a period of time.   

3.10 Transitional arrangements are also proposed in respect of planning applications where, 
significant work has already been undertaken to progress a planning application. It is 

97



 

proposed that in such circumstances the local authority should have flexibility to accept 
alternative tenure mixes, although they should consider whether First Homes could be easily 
substituted for another tenure, either at 25% or a lower proportion. 

3.11 In terms of the level of discount to be applied, the consultation suggests that this should be 
at least 30%, but that a higher rate of 40% or 50% could be applied as part of the local plan 
process where evidence would justify such a level. The valuation is to be set by an 
independent valuation, although it is not clear as to who should appoint the valuer. 

Exception sites 

3.12 The government is suggesting changes to the entry-level exception sites policy included in 
the National Planning Policy Framework (2018) to use it as a direct delivery vehicle for First 
Homes. This includes specifying that any affordable dwellings should be First Homes for local 
first time buyers (rather than affordable housing in the widest sense) and allowing a small 
proportion of other affordable homes, where there is a significant level of local need and 
market homes on a site, were essential to ensure the development will be viable. 

3.13 It is proposed to remove the current size threshold set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework (to be no larger than 1ha or 5% of the size of the existing settlement) but that 
sites should be proportionate in size to the existing settlement. 

3.14 This Council objected to the proposal in respect of exception sites as part of the previous 
consultation.  However, they are largely unchanged from the previous consultation. The 
previously expressed concerns that the First Homes exception policy would undermine the 
provision of other forms of affordable housing, therefore, remains.  

3.15 The consultation sets out a series of questions under four headings: 

 Percentage of affordable housing secured through developer contributions 
(Questions 8-11) 

 Local plans and transitional arrangements (Question 12) 

 Level of discount (Question 13) 

 Exception sites and rural exception sites (questions 14-16) 

3.16 The questions and the suggested response (in bold) are set out in Appendix 2. Further 
information and comments to explain and expand upon the responses are provided where 
appropriate. 

3.17 The Government intends to begin by making planning policy changes, to ensure that clear 
expectations are set. However, to ensure that First Homes are delivered, the option to 
strengthen the policy through primary legislation at a future date is under consideration.  

4. SUPPORTING SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED DEVELOPERS 
 

4.1   Small and medium-sized builders (SMEs) make an important contribution to housing supply.  
SMEs build the majority of smaller sites. SMEs play a significant role in local areas – 
providing people with increased choice in type and design of housing. A range of builders, 
using different designs, across different site sizes in different locations increases build out 
rates and overall supply. 

4.2 SME builders have been declining in the long term and were hit hard by the last recession.  
There were 16% more builder and developer insolvencies in 2019 than in 2018, the vast 
majority of which were SMEs. They are now under further pressure due to Covid-19 

4.3 To support SMEs in the medium term during economic recovery from Covid-19, the 
Government is proposing measures to reduce the burden of contributions on SMEs for more 
sites for a time-limited period. 

98



 

4.4 National policy is clear that affordable housing contributions should not be sought for 
developments of fewer than 10 units (small sites). To stimulate economic recovery with a 
particular focus on SMEs, the Government is seeking views on raising the threshold for 
affordable housing contributions to either 40 or 50 new homes. The government recognises 
that this would have an impact upon the delivery of affordable housing and therefore the 
consultation suggests that this would be for an initial period of 18-months to enable 
monitoring of its effects. The government is also seeking views on other ways SME builders 
can be supported. 

4.5 The consultation does not define what is meant by an SME builder. Changes introduced to 
the Community Infrastructure Levy as a result of the impact of Covid-19 identified SME as 
being those with a turnover of up to £45m. It would help if clarity was provided as to what 
constitutes a SME builder. 

4.6 The questions and the suggested response (in bold) are set out in Appendix 3. Further 
information and comments to explain and expand upon the responses are provided where 
appropriate. 

4.7 Following the consultation, a decision will be taken on whether to proceed with this approach. 
If it is taken forward, this could be through the introduction of a Written Ministerial Statement 
in the autumn. 

5. EXTENSION OF THE PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE CONSENT REGIME 

5.1 Permission in Principle was introduced in 2017 as a new faster way of obtaining planning 
permission for housing-led development, which reduced the need for landowners and 
developers to incur significant costs to establish the principle of development for housing. 
This was done by giving authorities the power to grant Permission in Principle to suitable 
sites allocated on registers of brownfield land. Subsequently, Permission in Principle by 
application was introduced in 2018, for minor development (i.e. small sites that support fewer 
than 10 dwellings). 

5.2 Permission in Principle is designed to separate decision making on ‘in principle’ issues 
addressing land use, location, and scale of development from matters of technical detail, 
such as the design of buildings, tenure mix, transport and environmental matters. The aim is 
to give up-front certainty that the fundamental principles of development are acceptable 
before developers need to work up detailed plans and commission technical studies. It also 
ensures that the principle of development only needs to be established once. 

5.3 The Permission in Principle consent route has two stages: 

 the first stage (“Permission in Principle”) establishes whether a site is suitable in- 
 principle for development. This grant of Permission in Principle is for five years and 
no planning conditions can be attached to it 

 the second (‘technical details consent’) stage is when the detailed development 
proposals are assessed, and conditions can be attached 

5.4 A grant of Permission in Principle plus a grant of technical details consent together equates 
to full planning permission. 

5.5 The Government proposes to allow for major developments to also be able to use the 
Permission in Principle route. This would enable a far wider range of sites, enabling more 
landowners and developers to use this route to secure permission for housing development. 
It is suggested in the consultation that this would particularly benefit SME builders. 

5.6 Permission in Principle by application allows for other uses such as retail, offices, or 
community spaces. However, housing must occupy the majority of the overall scheme. The 
current regulations for Permission in Principle by application for minor development sets a 
limit of commercial development to 1,000 sqm, with a maximum size capped at 1 hectare. 

99



 

For the expanded Permission in Principle route extending to major development it is not 
proposed to set a limit for commercial development space. 

5.7 The information requirements for a Permission in Principle application are less than those for 
a normal planning application. It is proposed that this would be the case for an extended 
Permission in Principle scheme. However, it is proposed that the publicity requirements 
should be extended for major developments compared to those currently in place for minor 
developments. The current fee for Permission in Principle by application for minor 
development is £402 per 0.1 hectare (capped at a maximum of 1 hectare). The consultation 
suggests that the cost is not that dissimilar to an outline planning application. In order to 
promote the Permission in Principle route it is proposed to introduce a simplified fee structure. 

5.8 The consultation sets out a series of questions under seven headings: 

 Extending Permission in Principle to cover major development (Questions 24-25) 

 Information requirements (Question 26-27) 

 Publicity arrangements (Question 28) 

 Revised fee structure to incentive Permission in Principle by application (questions 
29-30) 

 Brownfield Land Registers and Permission in Principle (Question 31) 

 Additional guidance to support implementation (Question 32) 

 Regulatory Impact Assessment (Questions 33-34) 

5.9 The questions and the suggested response (in bold) are set out in Appendix 4. Further 
information and comments to explain and expand upon the responses are provided where 
appropriate. 

5.10 Following this consultation, if the Government introduces Permission in Principle by 
application for major development, it aims to introduce amending regulations this autumn, 
with the regulations expected to come into force by the end of the calendar year. Changes 
to the fee structure would require separate changes to the Planning Fees Regulations. 

6 PUBLIC SECTOR EQUALITY DUTY 
 
6.1 In light of the proposals set out in this consultation, the Government is inviting comments on 

whether there any impacts in terms of eliminating unlawful discrimination, advancing equality 
of opportunity and fostering good relations on people who share characteristics protected 
under the Public Sector Equality Duty. 

6.2 The Government’s proposals to raise the threshold for affordable housing contributions to 
either 40 or 50 new homes will reduce the availability of affordable housing. It is considered 
that there would be a disproportionate impact on older people, people with disabilities, single 
parents (around 90 per cent of single parents are women) and low-income households more 
generally, who are more likely to access affordable homes. Proposals for First Homes are 
likely to reduce the proportion of rented accommodation provided as affordable properties 
with similar disproportionate impacts on protected groups. .The proposals for First Homes 
are likely to provide family homes and higher proportions of flatted accommodation and may 
not provide specialist accommodation required for people with disabilities. The housing 
needs of elderly households looking to downsize may not be provided for due to the “first” 
homes categorisation. 

6.3 To successfully address these impacts the Government could address housing 
unaffordability for the lowest income groups through, for example, the construction of more 
social homes, council housing stimulus and reforming Right to Buy. 

 
 
 
 

100



 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 
First Homes would contribute towards meeting the 
Council’s priority to increase the number of affordable 
homes in the district, although as noted in the report this 
may be at the expense of other types of affordable 
housing. Raising the small sites threshold would lead to a 
significant reduction in affordable housing provision with 
rural areas disproportionally affected. In the last 5 years 
20% of all affordable housing provision has been 
delivered on sites of 50 or less units. 
Supporting businesses and helping people into local jobs 
The proposals support SME housebuilders in the medium 
term during economic recovery from Covid-19. 

Policy Considerations: 
 

The introduction of the First Homes policy as set out in the 
consultation may require amendments as part of the 
current review of the Local Plan. 

Safeguarding: 
 

None identified at this time. 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

See section 6 above. 

Customer Impact: 
 

None identified at this time. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

As set out in Council Priorities above. 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

None identified at this time. 

Consultation/Community 
Engagement: 
 

By limiting the consultation period and reducing technical 
detail, local people will find it more difficult to engage in 
major applications that use the Permission in Principle 
consent regime. 

Risks: 
 

The proposed changes to the current planning system 
could have an impact financially upon the Council, for 
example a reduction in income if there are more 
Permission in Principle applications. It will also require 
new administrative procedures in view of the different 
timescales for determining Permission in Principle 
schemes than other planning applications.  
 
The proposals are likely to lead to a significant reduction 
in affordable housing provision with rural areas 
disproportionally affected. 
 
The proposed changes to the standard method results is 
a significant increase in the amount of housing that will 
need to be provided for. Such a scale of development will 
impact upon local communities and infrastructure.  This 
could also impact upon the timetable for the review. There 
is a possibility that the Council would have to declare an 
unmet need.  

Officer Contact 
 

Chris Elston  
Head of Planning and Infrastructure  
chris.elston@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  
  
Chris Lambert  
Head of Housing  
chris.lambert@nwleicestershire.gov.uk    

 

101

mailto:chris.elston@nwleicestershire.gov.uk
mailto:chris.lambert@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

APPENDIX 1: CHANGES TO THE STANDARD METHOD FOR ASSESSING LOCAL HOUSING 
NEED 
 
Q1: Do you agree that planning practice guidance should be amended to specify that the 
appropriate baseline for the standard method is whichever is the higher of the level of 0.5% of 
housing stock in each local authority area OR the latest household projections averaged over a 
10-year period? 
 
No 
 
Using an either/or approach has merit to is as it means that all areas, as a minimum, are 
contributing a share of the national total, proportionate to the size of their current housing 
stock. It will mean that some areas which have a low need using the current method 
restricted to household projections see a bigger requirement, although it is likely that most 
authorities will have its baseline derived from the household projections and so this change 
would have limited impact in most authorities. 
 
Q2: In the stock element of the baseline, do you agree that 0.5% of existing stock for the standard 
method is appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 
No 
 
The figure of 0.5% appear to be somewhat arbitrary. The consultation document notes that 
in 2018-19 the number of new homes added to the stock equated to 1%. This would appear 
to be more justifiable than the 0.5% figure (although it would not make any difference to the 
outcome for NWL). 
 
Q3: Do you agree that using the workplace-based median house price to median earnings ratio 
from the most recent year for which data is available to adjust the standard method’s baseline is 
appropriate? If not, please explain why. 
 
Yes 
 
This is consistent with the current standard method and the workplace-based median house 
price to median earnings ratio is recognised as a measure of affordability (see response to 
question 5). 
 
Q4: Do you agree that incorporating an adjustment for the change of affordability over 10 years is 
a positive way to look at whether affordability has improved? If not, please explain why. 
 
Yes 
 
If affordability is to be included as part of the standard method then looking at how it has 
changed through time would seem reasonable (see response to question 5). 
 
Q5: Do you agree that affordability is given an appropriate weighting within the standard method? 
If not, please explain why. 
 
No 

The Council recognises that affordability is an issue. However, it needs to be recognised 

that a key feature of the housing market in recent years has been the increase in the 

number of people looking to buy dwellings as an investment with a view to them renting 

out the properties. This has the effect of increasing competition and inflating both demand 

and hence prices. Those who cannot afford to buy, for example because they cannot get a 

sufficient mortgage and/or a deposit, are then forced into the rented sector or to stay in 

their existing accommodation. However, the demand from investors is not a true demand; 

these are not people in need of a home which should be the key aim of any policy to 

address affordability. 

102



 

By including two different measures for affordability further exacerbates the problem and 

places too much weight on affordability. It results in an inflation in the need figure (in the 

case of North West Leicestershire by 52%) but without any basis or connection to actual 

need as a result of affordability. The effect of this is to increase the requirement for North 

West Leicestershire from 761 dwellings using the 2018-based household forecasts up to 

1,153 dwellings. This level of increase is considered to be unacceptable, particularly when 

coupled with using the Principal Projection from the household forecast which only builds 

in two years data for internal migration which is not robust statistically. From a North 

West Leicestershire perspective this has coincided with a significant increase in build rate 

across the district well above that required in the adopted Local Plan. Therefore, the 

projection is a self-fulfilling prophecy; the more that has been built recently means more 

is required in the future.  

It is considered that if affordability is to be included as part of the standard method it 

would seem more appropriate to just use the difference over the 10-year period. In time if 

affordability improves this would have the effect of reducing needs and so there would be 

a clear link between future needs and affordability and so in effect is ‘reward’ for reducing 

affordability issues. 

Q6: Do you agree that authorities should be planning having regard to their revised standard 
method need figure, from the publication date of the revised guidance, with the exception of: 
 
Authorities which are already at the second stage of the strategic plan consultation process 
(Regulation 19), which should be given 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate 
for examination? 
 
In view of the relatively early stage of the Council’s Local Plan review, the proposed 

arrangements do not have any implications for the review so no comments. 

Q7: Authorities close to publishing their second stage consultation (Regulation 19), which should 
be given 3 months from the publication date of the revised guidance to publish their Regulation 19 
plan, and a further 6 months to submit their plan to the Planning Inspectorate? 
 
If not, please explain why. Are there particular circumstances which need to be catered for? 
 
In view of the relatively early stage of the Council’s Local Plan review, the proposed 

arrangements do not have any implications for the review so no comments. 

 
 

103



 

APPENDIX 2: DELIVERING FIRST HOMES 
 
Q8: The Government is proposing policy compliant planning applications will deliver a minimum of 
25% of onsite affordable housing as First Homes, and a minimum of 25% of offsite contributions 
towards First Homes where appropriate. Which do you think is the most appropriate option for the 
remaining 75% of affordable housing secured through developer contributions? Please provide 
reasons and / or evidence for your views (if possible): 
i) Prioritising the replacement of affordable home ownership tenures, and delivering rental tenures 
in the ratio set out in the local plan policy. 
ii) Negotiation between a local authority and developer. 
iii) Other (please specify)  

Option ii for now  
The North West Leicestershire Local Plan does not specify affordable housing mix and 
tenure, though the findings of the Leicester and Leicestershire Housing and Economic 
Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA) does provide baseline figures in respect of the  
mix and tenure needed in the district and these provide the basis for subsequent 
negotiations. In reality provision is already subject to negotiation between the local 
authority and developer (option ii). For those authorities with Local Plans that do specify a 
tenure split, option ii provides an opportunity to rebalance affordable tenures (social rent, 
affordable ownership and intermediate rent) to take account of the loss to First Homes or 
to address other local priorities for affordable housing. 
 
A requirement of 25% is not supported by local evidence. Our HEDNA identifies a need for 
low cost home ownership of 21%. 
 
Option iii) - In the longer term the issue of how the remaining 75% of affordable housing is 
apportioned should be addressed through the review of local plan policies.  
 
With regards to current exemptions from delivery of affordable home ownership products:  

Q9: Should the existing exemptions from the requirement for affordable home ownership products 
(e.g. for build to rent) also apply to apply to this First Homes requirement? 

Yes. 
Currently, some sites or proposed developments are exempt from requirements to deliver 
affordable home ownership products. They include Build to Rent Homes, specialist 
accommodation (e.g. purpose-built accommodation for the elderly) and rural exception 
affordable housing. It is logical for these exemptions to also apply to the First Homes 
requirement. 
 
Q10: Are any existing exemptions not required? If not, please set out which exemptions and why. 

No. 
The existing exemptions are appropriate. 
 
Q11: Are any other exemptions needed? If so, please provide reasons and /or evidence for your 
views.  

Yes.   
 
It is  suggested that wholly affordable schemes are also exempt as these sites would be 
able to provide a proportion of Shared Ownership properties which, as they offer lower 
percentages to purchase, would help to enable lower income households a foot onto the 
property ladder which would help to assist more residents into home ownership. 
 
The provision of Shared Ownership properties will be reduced due to a requirement for 25% 
First Homes delivery. As 25% is higher than the HEDNA requirement of 21% low cost home 
ownership, the remaining 75% affordable housing will need to be provided as rented 
accommodation to meet our highest levels of need. By providing RP’s with an opportunity 

104



 

to deliver shared ownership homes on wholly affordable sites, they will be offering a 
different route to home ownership for a wider group of households including older 
downsizers, disabled applicants who require specialised accommodation, or key workers 
who aren’t first time buyers 
 
Wholly affordable schemes providing specialist accommodation for the elderly and/or 
disabled people should also be exempt eg extra care, accommodation for learning 
disabilities etc 
 
Q12: Do you agree with the proposed approach to transitional arrangements? 

Yes. 
 
The North West Leicestershire Local Plan does not specify affordable housing mix and 
tenure, so the local planning authority does not need to review the Local Plan to address 
First Homes. However, some planning applications are being prepared under different 
assumptions regarding affordable tenures. It is agreed that where significant work has 
already been undertaken to progress a planning application, the local authority should have 
flexibility to accept alternative tenure mixes. Any guidance or policy will need to make clear 
that this is at the discretion of the local authority and not the developer.   
 
Q13: Do you agree with the proposed approach to different levels of discount? 

Yes, but conditionally. 
 
It is agreed that the minimum discount for First Homes should be 30% from market price. 
However, the market price should be set by an independent registered valuer appointed by 
the local planning authority with valuation fees paid by the applicant. It is agreed that the 
valuation should assume the home is sold as an open market dwelling without restrictions. 
North West Leicestershire District Council would want to use its discretion to increase the 
discount to 40% or 50%. However, this should be based on the relationship between local 
incomes and prices to enable. 
 
Q14: Do you agree with the approach of allowing a small proportion of market housing on First 
Homes exception sites, in order to ensure site viability? 

Yes, in principle. 
 
Exception sites work because the land coming forward will not obtain planning permission 
for 100% market housing, but it would provide a significant uplift in value compared with, 
for example, agricultural land and so provide an incentive for landowners to release their 
land for development. Any guidance should address the issue of how ‘small’ is defined. 
There would also needs to be a mechanism for ensuring that there is a genuine need to 
avoid a situation where planning permission is secured but is then subject to a change to 
allow general market housing only. It is important that the system is not allowed to be 
abused.    

Q15: Do you agree with the removal of the site size threshold set out in the National Planning 
Policy Framework? 

No. 
 
Currently, entry-level exception sites should not be larger than one hectare in size or exceed 
5% of the size of the existing settlement. This helps prevent unsustainable patterns of 
development and provides greater certainty for developers, infrastructure providers and the 
community. Removing the size threshold risks the broad support that exists for exception 
site housing. If it is decided to remove the threshold, guidance needs to be clear as to how 
size is determined; is it the number of dwellings in a settlement or its physical footprint, for 
example.  
 

105



 

Q16: Do you agree that the First Homes exception sites policy should not apply in designated rural 
areas? 

Yes, but conditionally. 
 
Designated rural areas are National Parks, Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty and areas 
designated as ‘rural’ under section 157 of the Housing Act 1985. There are no designated 
rural areas in North West Leicestershire. Designated rural areas should be more widely 
defined to protect the important role that rural exception sites play in delivering affordable 
homes in rural areas. For example, by including all settlements with populations of say less 
than 3,000 people. 
 

106



 

APPENDIX 3: SUPPORTING SMALL AND MEDIUM-SIZED DEVELOPERS 
 
Q17: Do you agree with the proposed approach to raise the small sites threshold for a time-limited 
period? 

No. 
 
Sites of between 10 and 50 dwellings make a significant contribution to the supply of 
housing, including affordable housing, across the district. Excluding such sites from the 
provision of affordable housing will result in less affordable  housing being provided to the 
detriment of those most in need. The opportunity to provide bungalows for older, disabled 
or vulnerable households could also be substantially reduced. 
 
Raising the threshold is likely to have limited impact on site viability for SME developers as 
landowners will be the principal beneficiaries through enhanced land value. Raising the 
threshold is unlikely to increase the pace of site delivery as the need for negotiation on 
tariff-style S106 contributions e.g. education and healthcare contributions, would remain. 
Indeed, delivery would be adversely affected through the need to renegotiate S106 
Agreements, renegotiations of site values with landowners, developers slowing-down 
delivery to await the proposed changes, and developers seeking to build fewer homes on 
small sites to avoid having to provide affordable housing. The proposal would adversely 
affect the delivery of First Homes. 
 
Q18: What is the appropriate level of small sites threshold? 
i) Up to 40 homes 
ii) Up to 50 homes 
iii) Other (please specify) 

iii- 25dw 
 
It is recognised that increasing the threshold could benefit small and medium sized 
developers. However, it is considered that a jump to 40 or 50 dwellings would represent to 
big an increase in the threshold. An increased threshold of 25 dwellings is suggested 
instead. This would still provide benefit to small and medium sized developers, even for a 
limited period of time, but would also ensure that affordable housing continues to be 
provided. 
 
Q19: Do you agree with the proposed approach to the site size threshold? 

Yes. 
 
It is important for any raising of the small sites threshold to be time limited otherwise the 
benefits to economic recovery through increased housing delivery will be diluted, while the 
disbenefits through reduced affordable housing delivery would continue. There should be 
measures to reduce the possibility of developers bringing forward larger sites in phases of 
up to 40 or 50 homes (depending on which threshold is taken) to avoid contributions. 
 
Q20: Do you agree with linking the time-limited period to economic recovery and raising the 
threshold for an initial period of 18 months? 

Yes. 
 
The higher threshold should be lifted as the economy recovers from the impact of Covid-19 
and, in any event, for no longer than 18months. There should also be a mechanism in place 
to ensure that sites benefitting from the higher threshold actually deliver homes during this 
time limited period rather than land bank to deliver after the 18 months. Any sites not 
delivering within the 18 month period should be subject to Affordable Housing requirements 
to ensure sites are brought forward. Furthermore, efforts should be concentrated on 
seeking to ensure that stalled sites are able to deliver, for example through funding 
packages.  

107



 

 
Q21: Do you agree with the proposed approach to minimising threshold effects? 

Yes. 
See answer to Q19. 
 
Q22: Do you agree with the Government’s proposed approach to setting thresholds in rural areas? 

Yes, but conditionally. 
 
It is agreed that the current threshold should be maintained in designated rural areas, 
however these areas should be more widely defined (settlements with 3,000 or less 
populations) to protect the important role that rural exception sites play in delivering 
affordable homes in rural areas. 
 
Q23: Are there any other ways in which the Government can support SME builders to deliver new 
homes during the economic recovery period? 

Yes. 
 
Financial incentives to recognise the important role of SMEs in keeping the country 
building. Improved access to finance. Reductions in the regulatory burden on SME house 
builders. Help to join procurement lists for councils and RP’s to enable local businesses to 
provide homes for local people. 

108



 

APPENDIX 4: EXTENSION OF THE PERMISSION IN PRINCIPLE CONSENT REGIME 
 
Q24: Do you agree that the new Permission in Principle should remove the restriction on major 
development? 

It is recognised that in theory the extension of the PiP regime might provide small and 
medium-sized house builders with an alternative way of reducing their upfront planning 
costs and provide certainty more quickly about the principle of development. 
 
However, whilst the PIP system is intended to help developers avoid the cost and time of 
submitting technical reports necessary to demonstrate the effects of their developments, it 
would appear to simply change the point at which developers need to do this.  
 
For example, the transportation impacts of, say, 100 new dwellings need to be assessed in 
order to establish whether it can be accommodated on the road network; this would be 
required to be demonstrated at the outline stage as (in effect) it is a matter of principle as 
to whether or not 100 additional dwellings can be provided without having a significant 
adverse impact upon the highway network. Under the PIP system, the Transport 
Assessment is submitted at the second stage (in effect, with the other items dealt with under 
a traditional reserved matters application), so the task of modelling the traffic impacts still 
needs to be done, but the developer has merely been able to delay such work. This is 
actually not helping developers in that, if the example scheme of 100 houses is going to be 
unacceptable on traffic grounds, they may as well know that at an earlier stage (and before 
they’ve gone to the effort and expense of drawing a detailed layout for 100 houses which 
will just end up being wasted if you then find that you simply can't add that many new 
dwellings to the local road network). 
 
Q25: Should the new Permission in Principle for major development set any limit on the amount of 
commercial development (providing housing still occupies the majority of the floorspace of the 
overall scheme)? Please provide any comments in support of your views. 

Yes. 
 
Permission in Principle may include other uses such as retail, offices, or community spaces 
although housing must occupy the majority of the scheme. The clarity that floorspace is the 
measure to be used in making sure that housing is the major use is welcomed. Not setting 
a limit for commercial development space could undermine the vitality and viability of town 
centres and the Government’s ‘town centre first’ policy as there would be no requirement 
to demonstrate compliance with sequential or impact tests. Currently, failure to undertake 
a sequential assessment could in itself constitute a reason for refusing permission. 
 
Q26: Do you agree with our proposal that information requirements for Permission in Principle by 
application for major development should broadly remain unchanged? If you disagree, what 
changes would you suggest and why? 

Yes. 
 
Q27: Should there be an additional height parameter for Permission in Principle? Please provide 
comments in support of your views. 

No. 
 
While an additional maximum height threshold parameter might provide greater clarity 
about the scale of housing development, it would add further complexity to the 
determination of PiP as it introduces design considerations. This would be contrary to the 
objective of providing developers with an easier route to certainty that the principle of 
development for housing is acceptable. It may in practice lead to greater confusion - for 
instance, a high height threshold may only be acceptable for part of the site given the impact 
on neighbouring dwellings. Technical details consent requirements would provide the 

109



 

necessary supplementary information for the local planning authority to determine the 
application. 
 
Q28: Do you agree that publicity arrangements for Permission in Principle by application should 
be extended for large developments? If so, should local planning authorities be: 
i) required to publish a notice in a local newspaper? 
ii) subject to a general requirement to publicise the application or 
iii) both? 
iv) disagree 
If you disagree, please state your reasons. 

Yes. ii. 
 
Local communities should have greater opportunity to make representation on major 
development that might affect them. Applications for PiP on large sites should be subject 
to publicity beyond just a site notice and website publication. However, traditional publicity 
requirements such as notices in newspapers are ineffective and costly. Local planning 
authorities should be given the flexibility to publicise applications, including using social 
media.  
 
Q29: Do you agree with our proposal for a banded fee structure based on a flat fee per hectarage, 
with a maximum fee cap? 

Yes. 
 
A simple, banded fee structure is preferred.  
 
Q30: What level of flat fee do you consider appropriate, and why? 

Whatever fee regime is decided upon, it should be similar to that required for an outline 
consent as outlined below.  
 
While a local planning authority only needs to make a decision on the principle of the 
development, not on the technical details of the development, PiP places an extra burden 
on authorities to make decisions within a 5-week determination period and a 14-day period 
for consultation with the public and statutory consultees. This will be particularly difficult 
to achieve for major development. Further, PiP introduces additional processing and staff 
training costs by adding to the complexity of the planning regime. Planning departments 
are severely under-resourced and need the ability to raise planning fees. It is therefore 
appropriate for the flat fee to match fees for outline planning applications as a minimum. 
 
Q31: Do you agree that any brownfield site that is granted Permission in Principle through the 
application process should be included in Part 2 of the Brownfield Land Register? If you disagree, 
please state why. 

Yes. 
 
This will ensure that Brownfield Land Registers continue to be a single source of 
information on the availability of brownfield sites. 
 
Q32: What guidance would help support applicants and local planning authorities to make 
decisions about Permission in Principle? Where possible, please set out any areas of guidance 
you consider are currently lacking and would assist stakeholders. 

With no PiP applications in North West Leicestershire, local experience of this consent 
route is limited. It may be that the gains developers can make in terms of savings on costs 
and assessments are not evident. Unless PiP becomes an attractive alternative for 
developers and becomes a more mainstream consent route, there is no need for local 
authorities to invest in it. It is unlikely that local planning authorities will want to promote 
PiP as it provides communities with less detail about development proposals. 

110



 

 
Q33: What costs and benefits do you envisage the proposed scheme would cause? Where you 
have identified drawbacks, how might these be overcome? 

The requirement to make decisions within a 5-week determination period and a 14-day 
period for consultation with the public and statutory consultees is unrealistic for under-
resourced planning departments and key stakeholders. The Government needs to bring 
forward proposals for improving the resourcing of planning services. 
 
Local communities should have the opportunity to make representations on developments 
that might affect them. However, by limiting the consultation period and reducing technical 
detail, such as the design of buildings, tenure mix, transport and environmental matters, 
local people will find it more difficult to engage in the planning process. It is unlikely that 
that communities will sympathise with the gains developers and landowners might make in 
terms of savings. Developers should secure early and effective engagement with planning 
authorities, communities, local organisations, businesses, infrastructure providers and 
statutory consultees prior to a PiP application much as they are required to do for a 
standard planning application. 
 
Q34: To what extent do you consider landowners and developers are likely to use the proposed 
measure? Please provide evidence where possible. 

Current take-up has been poor with no PiP applications in North West Leicestershire. There 
is little benefit to PiP as developers can still use the traditional outline planning application 
route. The two-stage PiP consent is likely to take significantly longer that a normal single-
stage application and the cost is greater. Further, in areas with an up-to-date Local Plan, 
developers are already given a reasonable degree of certainty. Developers do not see 
sufficient benefit in PiP for it to become widely used. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

111



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 

CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 

 
Title of Report REVIEW OF MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

Presented by Councillor Nicholas Rushton 
Corporate Portfolio Holder 

Background Papers Medium Term Financial Plan – Corporate 
Scrutiny Committee Minutes 2 September 
2020 
 
Medium Term Financial Strategy – Council 
26 February 
2019 

 
2020 – 2025 Medium Term Financial Plans – 
Cabinet 4 February 2020 (presented to Council 25 
February 2020) 

 

Public 
Report: 
Yes 

 
 
Key 
Decision: 
Yes 

Financial Implications The changes to assumptions that drive the Medium Term 
Financial Plans have resulted in changes to the forecast position 
to 2024/25 and are detailed in this report. 

 

On the General Fund the revised projected deficit arising 
between 2020/21 and 2024/25 could increase from £1m to 
£5.3m over the five year period. The Journey to Self-Sufficiency 
reserve stands at £6.3m which provides a healthy balance to be 
able to fund initiatives to reduce our ongoing spending, increase 
income and where necessary balance the budget. 

 
The HRA revised position could see the surplus reduce from 
£4.6m to £1.1m over the five year period. 

 
The Section 151 Officer considers the Council to be in a stable 
financial position over the forthcoming five year period as a 
result of historical surpluses achieved and retained in the 
General Fund Self-Sufficiency reserve and the HRA balances. 
 
Finally, this report seeks the approval of a new reserve, utilising 
£500k of the Self-Sufficiency reserve balance, for the purposes of 
engaging external support and creating internal capacity to 
deliver the Journey to Self-Sufficiency Programme savings. 
Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Legal Implications There are no direct legal implications. 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 

There are no staffing and corporate implications. However, it is 
likely that the Council will need to consider organisational 
changes required to mitigate the financial impact of the COVID- 
19 pandemic and other funding changes to ensure that critical 
services continue to be unaffected. 

113

Agenda Item 7.

https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=9551
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s21459/Appendix%202%20MTFS.pdf
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/documents/s21459/Appendix%202%20MTFS.pdf


  

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service: Yes 

Purpose of Report To present Members with the impact of modified assumptions 
within the Council’s Medium Term Financial Plans, provide an 
update in respect of the Journey to Self Sufficiency Programme 
and set the context for preparing the Council’s 5 year budget 
plans from 2021/22. 

Recommendations THAT CABINET: 
 

1. NOTE THE COUNCILS REVISED MEDIUM TERM 
FINANCIAL PLANS; AND 
 

2. APPROVE THE ALLOCATION IN PRINCIPLE OF £100K 
FROM THE SELF-SUFFICIENCY RESERVE TO 
ENGAGE EXTERNAL EXPERTISE TO SUPPORT THE  
DELIVERY OF JOURNEY TO SELF SUFFICIENCY 
PROGRAMME SAVINGS  

 
 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 

1.1 The Council’s Medium Term Financial Plans (MTFPs) flow from the 2018 Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS), which was approved by Cabinet in February 2018. The 
strategy introduced a new five year rolling assessment of the financial resources 
required to deliver the Council’s strategic priorities and essential services and a new, 
self-sufficient approach to managing and safeguarding the Council’s ongoing financial 
position in light of future central government funding changes. 

 
1.2 At the February 2020 Council meeting, members were presented with a report that 

outlined the current financial forecasts within the Council’s two Medium Term Financial 
Plans – the General Fund MTFP and a separate Housing Revenue Account MTFP to 
reflect the ring-fencing requirements around the Housing Service. 

 
1.3 This report forms part of the biannual monitoring cycle established as part of the MTFS. 

The MTFPs are refreshed in the summer to provide the Council and Cabinet with 
information on the financial position of the Council prior to the development of the 
2021/22 budget over the autumn and winter 

 
1.4 Assumptions on both the General Fund and HRA forecasts have been reviewed in light 

of the 2019/20 financial outturn, the Government’s Spring 2020 Budget and other known 
information concerning the predictions around future funding, income and expenditure. 
Of most significance throughout this review, is the review of assumptions in light of the 
COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

1.5 The plans were presented in draft form to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee on 2 
September 2020 and included a revised forecast position for the current financial year 
based on monitoring undertaken in Period 1 of this year.   This was because routine 
quarterly monitoring for the period April to June (Quarter 1) was postponed until late 
August so that the finance team could close the 2019/20 year and produce the annual 
accounts in line with revised statutory deadlines. The revised forecasts presented in this 
report show a revised position for 2020/21 based on Quarter 1 budget monitoring.  A 
number of comments were made by the Committee in respect of the plans.  An extract of 

114



the draft meeting minutes can be found in Appendix A. 
 

Quarter 1 forecast position and assessment of the impact of COVID-19 on in year finances 
and the Collection Fund  
 

1.6 In July, a Finance Recovery Cell was established to support the financial recovery of the 
Council and assess and respond to the impact of the pandemic. This cross-Council team 
has assisted Finance officers in reviewing the assumptions that drive the financial plans 
and shaping the key messages to be taken away from the new forecasts.  

 

1.7 The plans presented within this report include the impact of the pandemic to the 
Council’s finances as projected based on the position to the end of Quarter 1 (June 
2020).  

 
1.8 The early assessment of the Council wide financial impact of the pandemic was 

assessed earlier in the year to be in the region of £2.129m gross and £1.043m net of 
emergency funding received at that time. 

 

1.9 As part of Quarter 1 budget monitoring, Team Managers, having responsibility for 
service areas budgets, were tasked with reviewing the forecast spending and income for 
their areas for the year. Three principles were developed to focus managers and finance 
in their reviews and ensure the organisation is able to forecast a realistic outturn position 
for the 2020/21 financial year. These were: 

 
1. Additional-ity – recognising the Council’s strong financial position, but not 

relying on this to meet the funding gap and instead, seeking to identify 
savings where possible that will contribute to clawing back the funding gap. 

2. Renewal – reviewing budgets in light of the new environment and 
understanding what is no longer relevant or what new measures are required 
and making changes to in year forecasts as a result. 

3. Reality – being realistic about the ability to deliver new service initiatives or 
actions originally planned, and making changes to in year forecasts as a 
result. 

 

This approach commenced with the Section 151 Officers review of earmarked reserves 
requests from service areas. The outcome of this review was that £0.9m was reallocated 
to the Self-Sufficiency reserve, as reported in the “2019/20 Provisional Outturn” report 
also on this meeting’s agenda. 

 
1.10 Assessment of the allocation of the emergency funding received to date has been 

undertaken and based on the extent of impact, the full level of funding has been 
apportioned to the General Fund. 

 
1.11 The revised Q1 forecast position is now a forecast deficit of £0.978m for the General 

Fund compared to a budgeted surplus of £630k.  On the HRA, the revised position is a 
forecast surplus of £2.4m compared to a budgeted surplus of £2.77m.  Full details of the 
significant forecast movements along with a summary of financial position can be found 
in Appendix B. 

 
1.12 The net impact of the pandemic stands at a forecast £1.7m across all council services, 

with £1.3m in the General Fund and £380k in the HRA.  Since last reported to members 
in June and July, further significant spending pressures arising as a result of the 
pandemic have materialised.   In addition, initial work has now been undertaken to 
assess the likely level of compensation the Council can expect to receive and as a result 
£200k has been assumed to be recovered within the General Fund.  Further work to 

115



finalise the estimate will be undertaken throughout September in order to make the claim 
to MHCLG.   Again, full details can be found in Appendix B. 

 
1.13 It is important to note that this estimated 2020/21 impact excludes the potential deficit 

arising on the Collection Fund as a result of lower levels of business rates and council 
tax.  This is because, due to the nature of accounting for the Collection Fund, it remains 
too early to provide a reasonable estimation of the impact of Covid and the other factors 
that affect the Collection Fund balance (which include business rates and housing 
growth and the provision of reliefs and exemptions, for which only 5 months of data for 
the year so far is available).    

 
1.14 The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government have confirmed that the 

repayment of any Collection Fund deficits arising in respect of the 2020/21 year will be 
phased over 3 financial years rather than being required to be ‘repaid’ in the subsequent 
financial year.  At the time of writing this report, the detail surrounding this scheme has 
not been shared by the Ministry. 

 
1.15 The Section 151 Officer is undertaking regular monitoring of the early forecasts and will 

be in a position to advise members of the forecast position in subsequent budget 
monitoring updates and as part of setting the draft budget.   

 
 

Summary of Revised MTFPs 
 

1.16 There are a range of possible outcomes in respect of the Council’s future funding and 
overall financial position. To aid members understanding of these outcomes, specific 
scenarios are detailed and illustrated where relevant and as more is understood with 
regards to future funding and other variables, further updates will be presented to 
members. Overall, the Section 151 Officer considers the Council to be in a stable 
financial position over the forthcoming five year period as a result of historical surpluses 
achieved and retained in the General Fund Self-Sufficiency reserve and the HRA 
balances. 

 

1.17 On the General Fund, future retained Business Rates is at risk due to the impending 
national funding changes, although very little detail is understood around the 
government’s plans at this moment in time. The risk around the future of New Homes 
Bonus funding also remains. The effect of the pandemic is still emerging, but the review 
has taken into account the effect so far and projections into the future. The revised 
projected deficit arising between 2020/21 and 2024/25 could increase from £1m to 
£5.3m over the five year period as a result of changes to business rates and council tax 
funding along with projected increase in expenditure for the 2020/21 year. The Journey 
to Self-Sufficiency reserve stands at £6.3m which provides a healthy balance to be able 
to fund initiatives to reduce our ongoing spending, increase income and where 
necessary balance the budget. 

 

1.18 On the HRA, expected income from rents has fallen as a result of lower general inflation 
but our costs are expected to rise. This has worsened the five year outlook, and whilst 
the current plan predicts a surplus over 5 years, this surplus could reduce and significant 
strategic decisions will need to be made as we look to incorporate work to respond to 
climate change in our longer term plans. 

 
2.0 Journey to Self-Sufficiency Programme 

 
2.1 The Journey to Self-Sufficiency Programme has, to date, delivered a range of outcomes 

associated with the Council becoming more self-sufficient including the implementation 
116



of the Commercial Strategy, the redesign and approval of a new Corporate Charging 
Policy and the drafting of a new Asset Management Strategy. 

 

2.2 The ethos of the programme is to enhance the cost-effectiveness, and therefore financial 
resilience of the Council in spite of, rather than because of, a negative financial outlook 
(where one exists). The approach builds on the Council’s ‘One Team, One Council’ value to 
make the most of resources and reinvestment opportunities and being the best it can 
possibly be. 

 

2.3 As part of developing the 2020/21 and ongoing budget, thematic savings targets for both 
the General Fund and HRA were established and built into budgets and Medium Term 
Financial Plans. The savings were designed on the basis that the self-sufficiency reserve 
would be used to fund initiatives that would reduce spending and increase income as 
well as the reserve also being used to balance deficit years where necessary At that 
time, the project scope for each of the work streams remained under development and a 
further update around the specifics of each theme was anticipated in this report. 
However, as a result of the pandemic and the focussing of the Council’s efforts on the 
emergency and recovery response, this work has been delayed. 

2.4 Of the savings budgeted, the forecast for the 2020/21 year has reduced to £56k against 
a £570k budget for the General Fund and to nil against a £225k budget for the HRA. 

 
2.5 The Corporate Leadership Team have reviewed the programme to reflect the current 

operating environment, resource constraints and deliverability of commercial savings 
built into the programme.  Given the strengthened messages from Central Government 
around Council’s acting commercially, it has been concluded that the organisation will 
need to focus more closely on its use of resources to deliver services in order to deliver 
savings and an ongoing sustainable financial position.  

 
2.6 To ensure that future saving targets are bother deliverable and met, it is requested that 

£100k budget is created in principle through a transfer from the Self-Sufficiency reserve.  
The purpose of this budget will be to engage external expertise to assist in the delivery 
of savings from 2021 to 2023.  The request meets the purposes for the use of the self-
sufficiency reserve as set out when it was established in 2018.   

 
2.7 This external support will assist in the development and execution of a programme of 

reviews across all council services, focussing on financial and budgetary resources, 
efficient ways of working, contract management and procurement and income 
opportunities.  It is planned for the external support to be in place early in the new 
calendar year.  It is anticipated that any contractual arrangements that meet the 
Council’s key decision criteria will be presented to Cabinet for approval.   

 
2.8 It is also anticipated that there will likely be a further request for budgetary resource for 

the purposes of creating an internal team to assist in the delivery of the programme.  At 
this stage the full requirements are yet to be scoped. 

 
2.9 Members can expect a full update as part of the draft budget later in this year. 

Monitoring of expenditure of this new reserve and the progress of resultant programme 
savings will be delivered through the quarterly performance reports to Cabinet.  

 
 

2.10 Approach to setting the 2021/22 budget 
 

2.11 The Finance Recovery Cell team (referred to in 1.6 above) has also assisted in 
developing the principles for setting the forthcoming 5 year 2021/22 – 2025/26 Revenue 
and Capital budgets, as the organisation prepares to undertake this task from 

117



September.  The principles developed will be utilised in addition to those set out in 
paragraph 1.9 above: 

 

1. Established starting point – The organisation, through its 5 year revenue 
planning approach and medium term financial plans already has an 
established 2021/22 budget which will be the assumed budget and for which 
only necessary changes will be made.  

 

2. Fundamental approach – Changes to the already established 2021/22 
budget position will focus only on the fundamentals: 

 

a) Council Delivery Plan budgets; 

b) Cost pressures that need to be picked up as a result of either 
increased expenditure or reduced income; 

c) Savings that can be achieved through increased income or 
reduced expenditure.  Specifically, the Finance team will be driving 
the identification of budgetary savings from across the 
organisation. 

 

1.19 It is not anticipated that services will be in a position to prepare and submit service 
development proposals for the 2021/22 financial year.  However, bids that demonstrate 
an improvement to the council’s financial position and payback over a robust time period 
will be encouraged, but it is likely that these will need to be planned for the 2022/23 year 
or beyond, given the current uncertainty over the longevity of the pandemic and ability to 
deliver new initiatives.  

 

1.20 As detailed above, targeted savings of the Journey to Self-Sufficiency Programme will 
remain to be included on the basis that external and internal resource will be identified 
and implemented to drive the programme savings forward to delivery. 

 

 

3.0 GENERAL FUND MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

 
2019/20 Outturn 

 

3.1 The budgeted contribution to the self-sufficiency reserve for 2019/20 was £161k. The 
surplus achieved for last year was £1.158 million and this amount was transferred to the 
self-sufficiency reserve.  A further £940k of earmarked reserves were also reallocated to 
the reserve taking the total balance of the reserve therefore increased from £4.2m to 
£6.3 million at March 2020. 

3.2 Full details can be found in the separate 2019/20 Provisional Outturn report on this 
meeting agenda. 

 
 

2020/21 Forecast Outturn 
 

3.3 The current forecast position on the General Fund for 2020/21, following Quarter 1 
budget monitoring, is a deficit for the year of £978k, compared to a budgeted surplus 
of £630k.  A summary of the most significant variances can be found in Appendix B. 

 
Medium Term Financial Plan - Projections as at February 2020 

 

3.4 The projected deficit arising between 2020/21 – 2024/25 as last reported to members in 
February 2020 was £1m as follows: 

 

Table 1, Medium Term Financial Plan Projections as at February 2020 

118



 

 2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

TOTAL 
£’000 

 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

 
94 

 
-828 

 
-1,815 

 
-1,928 

 
-1,591 

 
-6,068 

Journey to Self- 
Sufficiency 
Savings 

 

570 
 

895 
 

1,120 
 

1,245 
 

1,270 
 

5,100 

 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

 
664 

 
67 

 
-695 

 
-683 

 
-321 

 
-968 

 

Review of Assumptions 
 

3.5 The review of the MTFP has incorporated the impact of the pandemic on the Council’s 
finances both in terms of current year but also for future years. Given the significant 
weighting of future local government funding changes, assumptions around the future of 
Business Rates and New Homes Bonus have also been reassessed.  Key changes  and 
other areas of importance are outlined below: 

 

3.6.1 Forecast Outturn for 2020/21 based on Q1 monitoring.  Forecast outturn, as 
detailed in paragraph 3.3 above and Appendix B. 

 

3.6.2 Business Rates - Resetting of the baseline to remove accumulated growth 
in the system. 

119



3.6.3 The reform of the existing 50% Business Rates Retention System was due to 
be implemented on an already deferred schedule in April 2021 alongside Fair 
Funding. However, the government confirmed that the changes will no longer 
be implemented in 2021/22. The message alongside this announcement was 
that the government will continue to work with Councils on the best approach for 
next year including how to treat growth accumulated in the system from 
2021/22. A consultation was announced on in July 2020, however it does not 
discuss the treatment of accumulated growth. 

 
3.6.4 To address accumulated growth, it is likely that the Business Rates will be 

rebased meaning that a significant amount of income will be lost as NWL 
benefits from Business Rates in excess of the current baseline. 

 

3.6.5 We have changed the assumption in the MTFP so that the baseline is reset in 
2022/23, based on the level of level of rates achieved in 2020/21. The previous 
assumption was that rates were reset in 2021/22 at the 2018/19 level of rates. 
This change has the effect of reducing the amount of rates forecast to be 
collected over the 5 year MTFP by almost £6m, because the level of rates 
collected in 2020/21 is significantly higher than the level in 2018/19 meaning 
there is “further to fall”. The other effect of a later reset and later level of rates 
reference year is that there is less time in the MTFP to accumulate more 
growth. 

 
3.6.6 Through scenario analysis, we could see rates decline further, if the 

accumulated growth is addressed in 2021/22 (see Figure 1 below). It should be 
noted, that if changes result in an adverse movement, Transitionary Funding will 
likely increase to smooth the effect of any funding reductions (see 3.6.15 
below). 

 

3.6.7 Business Rates: The impact of the pandemic and future growth. Business 
Rates, along with Council Tax, are accounted for in the ‘Collection Fund’. This 
approach means that the Council and other precepting bodies receive their 
share of Council Tax or Business Rates in line with the original budgeted 
projections, with any over/under collection taken forward into the next year as a 
surplus/deficit through the Collection Fund. The forecast variance for Business 
Rates in 2020/21 is £70k adverse compared to the original £6.8m budget 
because of some minor changes that hit the General Fun in year (rather than 
the Collection Fund next year). The forecast deficit for the year will be  
estimated in November and incorporated into the 2021/22 budget. Despite an 
anticipated deficit on the Collection Fund, it is assumed that anticipated growth 
for 2020/21 will be met. 

 
3.6.8 Assessing growth is a continuous exercise due to the fluidity of business growth 

and decline and approval of commercial planning applications. The district has 
a number of key sectors that could be impacted by the UK transition period 
through the movement of goods or people: Logistics, Aviation, Hospitality, 
Manufacturing and Aggregates. Through ongoing engagement with businesses 
via the Council’s Economic Development team, there hasn’t been any defined 
thought or movement from businesses as a result of Brexit. 

120



3.6.9 To reflect the likely increase in bad debts and resultant deficit on the Collection 
Fund that will need to be accounted for in 2021/22 and the uncertainty around 
economic downturn and growth, the assumption for 2021/22 is that rates 
decline by 3%, before achieving 4% in 2022/23 and 8% in 2023/24 to reflect a 
significantly large assessment in the south of the district that received planning 
permission in 2019. Further work will be undertaken to assess the likely growth 
in Business Rates to the Council in consultation with the Revenues and  
Benefits and Business Focus teams ahead of setting the 2021/22 budget. 

 
3.6.10 Figure 1 below illustrates the historical position in respect of Business Rates, 

the previous and revised assumptions around future rates and the scenario to 
demonstrate the effect of accumulated growth being addressed next year. 

 

Figure 1, Business Rates – Historical Position and Scenarios 
 

*The Council received circa £600k more in Business Rates in 2019/20 as a result of taking part in the 
Leicestershire 75% Business Rates Retention Pilot. 

 

3.6.11 Council Tax Collection Fund Deficit. Similar to Business Rates, the effect of 
an adverse variance against the budgeted position for Council Tax will flow 
through the Collection Fund. The Quarter 1 assessment of Council Tax shows 
that we have an increase in arrears, an increase in Local Council Tax Support 
and a decline in new homes being delivered compared to the budgeted position 
for growth. The Q1 forecast deficit on the Council’s share of the Collection fund 
for this year in respect of Council Tax was £130k. 

 
3.6.12 Council Tax Growth. Future years housing delivery has also been reviewed 

against a revised planning trajectory, although this remains very uncertain at 
this moment in time the revised position for homes added to the Council Tax 
base over the remainder of the 5 year plan is 540 homes for 2021/22 and 570 
homes per year thereafter (compared to 650 and 600 as per the last MTFP). 
The effect of this slowed growth is £450k less than anticipated in additional 
Council Tax. 

121



3.6.13 There is no change to the assumption regarding the Council’s policy of freezing 
Council Tax. Figure 2 below illustrates the £1.8m of foregone income as a  
result of the policy from 2021/22 to 2024/25 as a result of this policy. The policy 
will save residents an average of £32.19 in Council Tax over the period. 

 

Figure 2, Council Tax – Effect of Assumption Changes on Future Years and 
Scenario on Council Tax Increases 

 

*Despite revised forecasts for Council Tax Collection in 2020/21, these will not hit the Council’s accounts 
until 2021/22 through the Collection Fund. 

 

3.6.14 New Homes Bonus. The Government have confirmed their intention to look at 
the New Homes Bonus scheme and explore the most effective way to 
incentivise housing growth in the future, although there has been no further 
update since the budget was developed. Therefore the Council continues to 
assume that the scheme will cease and that legacy payments only will be 
received in 2021/22 and 2022/23. Figure 3 below illustrates the level of funding 
that would be received if the scheme were to continue as it is or if it were to be 
abolished entirely from 2021/22. 

122



Figure 3, New Homes Bonus Scenarios 
 

*No funding is assumed in 2024/25 under any scenario. 

 

3.6.15 Spending forecasts. In the General Fund budget, expenditure is made up of 
spending net of locally generated income such as trade refuse, planning fees, 
grounds maintenance and legal income amongst others. As detailed above, 
2020/21 forecast expenditure is currently aligned with the period 1 forecasts, 
adjusted for confirmed changes (3.6.1), and once Quarter 1 forecasts have 
been produced for the year these will be adjusted for in the MTFP. Projections 
surrounding future spending have not been adjusted for in the MTFP, but given 
the scale of potential funding changes, future plans will need to be reviewed. 
The Journey to Self Sufficiency programme will lead this process. In particular 
whilst general inflation is current very low, future assumptions regarding inflation 
will need to be reviewed. Additionally, any service-specific matters that could 
affect the medium term position of spend or income will need to be considered 
(an example of this is the planning reforms and proposed changes to housing 
need). 

 
3.6.16 Transitionary Funding. Transitionary funding is likely to occur when a Council 

suffers a loss of funding above a certain level as a result of the implementation of 
a new funding regime. The concept of the funding is to smooth the effect of 
funding changes and minimise any cliff-edges. We currently remain unclear as 
to what basis Transitionary Funding might be calculated when Fair Funding and 
Business Rates Reform (or the baseline reset if at a different time) are 
implemented. We included an assumption of compensation where funding 
reductions are in excess of -5% in our last MTFP based on advice from our 
funding advisors Pixel, and we adjusted the workings to take account of 

123



‘notional’ Council Tax as it is unlikely that the Council will be compensated for 
any loss below -5% that occurs as a result of its historic policy to freeze Council 
Tax. 

 
3.6.17 This assumption has not changed, but it is important for members to note that 

the total amount of Transitionary Funding in the MTFP has increased as part of 
the review because forecast funding in other areas has reduced. It is also worth 
noting that if other funding scenarios were presented (as illustrated in the charts 
above), the level of transitionary funding could go up or down. 
 

 

Medium Term Financial Plan – Revised Projections 
 

3.6 It is clear that there are a range of possible outcomes in respect of the Council’s future 
funding and overall financial position. Based on the review of assumptions as set out 
above, the projected deficit arising between 2020/21 and 2024/25 could be £5.3m over 
the five year period and can be found in the table below. As Section 151 Officer, the 
Head of Finance is confident in providing assurance to members that the Council is able 
to deliver a balanced budget on an ongoing basis. As more is understood with regards to 
future funding, further updates will be presented to members. 

 
3.7 It is important to note that this position assumes the Council will meet revised savings 

targets of £4.6m over this period. Should these savings not be achieved the deficit 
projected over the term of the MTFP would increase. 

 

Table 2, Medium Term Financial Plan Projections as at September 2020 

 

 2020/21 
£’000 

2021/22 
£’000 

2022/23 
£’000 

2023/24 
£’000 

2024/25 
£’000 

TOTAL 
£’000 

 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

 
-1,034 

 
-1,641 

 
-2,590 

 
-2,038 

 
-2,598 

 
-9,772 

Journey to Self- 
Sufficiency 
Savings 

 

56 
 

895 
 

1,120 
 

1,245 
 

1,270 
 

4,586 

 
Surplus/(Deficit) 

 
-978 

 
-746 

 
-1,470 

 
-793 

 
-1,328 

 
-5,315 

 

3.8 The balance of the Self- Sufficiency reserve as at March 2020 is £6.3m. This reserve will 
be used to fund a combination of funding initiatives that will reduce the Council’s 
ongoing revenue spending and increase income and funding any deficit years that 
materialise. 

 
 

4.0 REVIEW OF HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN 

2019/20 Outturn 

4.1 The Housing Revenue Account had budgeted for a surplus of £1.4m in 2019/20, 
but achieved a surplus of £2.4m. The most significant variances included a lower 
depreciation charge of £455k, net savings on employee costs of £154k and an 
operating surplus from our in-house repairs team of £826k. 

 

 
124



 
4.2 With balances at the end of the year totalling £16.7m, the HRA is in a position to 

repay the two loans totalling £13.0m that fall due in March 2022 and have £3.7m 
remaining. Of the remaining balance, £1.0m is kept as a working balance for the 
HRA, and the rest is available to respond to opportunities, such as acquiring new 
homes, improving existing ones or to continuing to repaying debt. 

 

2020/21 Forecast Outturn 
 

4.3 The forecast outturn position for the Housing Revenue Account for 2020/21 is 
currently a surplus of £2.4m, £378k lower than we had budgeted for. The main 
movements are set out in the Quarter 1 summary in Appendix B. 
 

 

HRA Medium Term Financial Plan – February 2020 Projections 
 

4.4 The projected financial position, presented to Council in February 2020, showed 
that the HRA was able to fully fund its capital programme and meet loan 
commitments falling due over the five year period from 2019/20 to 2023/24, with 
surpluses of £1.98m over 5 years that were increase to £4.6m due to £2.65m of 
Journey to Self Sufficiency savings being included in the plan. 

 

Table 3, HRA Medium Term Finance Plan – February 2020 Projections 
 

 

HRA 
2020/21 

£'000 
2021/22 
£'000 

2022/23 
£'000 

2023/24 
£'000 

2024/25 
£'000 

TOTAL 
£'000 

Total Income 18,238 18,766 19,346 19,953 20,474 96,777 

Total Expenditure -11,469 -11,643 -11,847 -12,050 -12,311 -59,320 

Contribution to the Capital 
Programme (RCCO) 

 
-934 

 
-4,108 

 
-5,133 

 
-4,961 

 
-4,720 

 
-19,856 

Financing Expenditure -3,272 -3,256 -3,031 -3,032 -3,029 -15,620 

Surplus 2,563 -241 -666 -90 414 1,980 

Journey to Self-Sufficiency 
Programme Savings 

 
225 

 
325 

 
575 

 
625 

 
900 

 
2,650 

Surplus 2,788 84 -91 535 1,314 4,630 

 
 
Review of Assumptions 
 

4.5 Since February 2020 the global pandemic has caused some of the underlying 
assumptions within our Medium Term Financial Plan to move significantly. The key 
changes are: 

 
4.5.1 Significant fall in expected inflation. In February 2020 our 

expectation for inflation, as measured by the Consumer Price Index 
(CPI), was that it would be near to the Bank of England’s target of 2.0%. 
At that time inflation was at 1.7%, but it has now fallen significantly, with 
the Office for National Statistics estimating inflation for the year to June 
2020 to be 0.8%. Economists expect this to continue to fall towards 0% 
in the coming months, and it is then expected to take up to two years for 
inflation to return towards the 2.0% target level. 

 
4.5.2 This fall has a significant adverse impact on our expected income. 

Government’s current rent policy is to allow social housing rents to 
increase by CPI + 1% for the next four years, with the CPI figure being 

125



taken at September of the year before the rise. Economist’s current 
expectation is that CPI will be around 0.25% in September, so our 
expectation is that we will be able to increase rents by 1.25%. This will 
result in £314k less income in 2021/22 than originally anticipated and 
£1.3m less income over the 5 year period. 

 
4.5.3 In 2016 the Government made a sudden change to its social housing 

rent policy by announcing a 1% reduction in social housing rents per 
year for four years. Whilst there is currently no evidence that a similar 
change is being considered, we must be aware of the risk that changing 
Government policy can have on the HRA’s finances. We estimate that if 
a same 1% reduction were to happen again our income would fall by 
another £384k in 2021/22 and £5.8m over the 5 year period. 

 
4.5.4 Changes to our right to buy assumptions. In 2019/20 we sold 54 

properties to tenants through the right to buy scheme – 14 more than 
we had expected. Figure 4 shows that right to buy sales in North West 
Leicestershire have grown steadily since the scheme was reinvigorated 
in 2012, with average sales per year reaching 44 per year over the last 
4 years. This trend is broadly in line with the trend in Leicestershire, but 
sales have started to fall nationally – largely driven by falls in London 
where it is less affordable to purchase property. 

Figure 4, Number of properties sold through Right to Buy in England, Leicestershire and 
North West Leicestershire since 2012-13. 

 
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
* Please note that data for quarter 4 of 2019-20 has not yet been published. We have included the full year figure for North West 

Leicestershire, but extrapolated the figures for Leicestershire and England are based on data from quarter 1 to 3. 

 

4.5.5 In our February 2020 update we had expected right to buy sales to start 
to fall to around 42 per year. We have now increased that to 44 
properties per year for the five year period, which is in line with a 
medium-term trend and appears realistic based on the 14 sales 
completed to date in this financial year. This has the effect of reducing 

126



income by £12k in 2021/22 and £110k over the five year period. 

 
4.5.6 The effect of additional right to buy sales on the surplus, however, is 

positive. This is because we retain a proportion of the sale proceeds as 
a capital receipt, which is used to fund the capital programme and 
reduces the need for HRA to make revenue contributions to the capital 
programme. 

 

4.5.7 Increasing costs. Whilst general inflation is current very low, we 
expect to see our costs increase by more than inflation. This is as a 
result of a general increase in material prices through the pandemic 
period, along with changes to working practices both increasing costs 
and reducing productivity. There is also a risk that the end of the 
transition period following the UK’s exit from the European Union could 
also cause prices to rise. 

 
4.5.8 It is difficult to estimate the extent to which costs may change. We have 

assumed that costs will increase by an additional 1% over previous 
plans to CPI + 1.5% for the next two years, based on advice from 
housing experts. This increases our expected costs by £82k in 2021/22, 
and £595k over the 5 year period. 

 
4.5.9 Updates to 2019/20 and 2020/21 forecast expenditure. The higher 

than budgeted surplus, as set out in paragraphs 4.1 and 4.2, means 
there is a larger HRA balance carried forward into this year. 

 
 

HRA Medium Term Financial Plan – Revised Projections 
 

4.6 The result of the above changes is the five year Medium Term Financial Plan 
could result in a lower surplus of £1.1m over the five year period, with the 
anticipated surplus in the current financial year being used to finance deficits in 
future years, as shown in table 6 below. 

 
Table 4, HRA Medium Term Finance Plan – September 2020 Projections 

 
 

HRA 
2020/21 

£'000 
2021/22 
£'000 

2022/23 
£'000 

2023/24 
£'000 

2024/25 
£'000 

TOTAL 
£'000 

Total Income 17,634 18,202 18,903 19,483 19,976 94,196 

Total Expenditure -10,960 -11,866 -12,133 -12,341 -12,541 -59,840 

Contribution to the Capital 
Programme (RCCO) -934 -4,005 -5,530 -4,923 -4,495 -19,888 

Financing Expenditure -3,339 -3,323 -3,054 -3,058 -3,058 -15,832 

Surplus 2,401 -993 -1,815 -839 -118 -1,364 

J2SS Adjustments 0 325 575 625 900 2,425 

Surplus 2,401 -668 -1,240 -214 782 1,061 

 
4.7 Borrowing is not required over the five year period of this medium term financial 

strategy. However, the compound effect of lower expected rents, higher costs and 
a large capital programme mean that the 30 year business plan currently 
forecasts a need for £62.7m of borrowing over its lifetime. 

 

Achieving Carbon Neutrality 
 

4.8 Our housing stock is considered to be the Council’s greatest source of 

127



greenhouse gas emissions, so work to reduce them will form a key part of our 
roadmap to zero carbon. Work completed by our consultant last year 
recommended the retrofit of heat pumps, installation of solar panels and 
improvements to the energy efficiency of homes to reduce carbon emissions. We 
are continuing to review the implications of this both financially and for our wider 
asset management strategy. This means we do not yet have a reliable estimate 
of costs to build into our Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

4.9 The cost of bringing over 4,000 properties up to low carbon standards is likely to 
be vast. Some other social housing providers estimating the costs could be 
between £20k - £45k per property. If we were to include an assessment of £20k 
per property within our Medium Term Financial Plan, the cost would be over £8m 
per year for the next 10 years. 

4.10 The 5 year medium term financial position shows that there is not currently the 
capacity to fund this work through revenue contributions alone. Officers are 
currently exploring available grant funding opportunities, but even with external 
funding is likely that the Council will need to reprioritise its longer term capital 
programme and use borrowing to provide the financial capacity needed to meet 
our ambitious carbon reduction plans. These matters will be considered in detail 
the review of the Housing Strategy, Housing Asset Management Strategy and 
Housing Revenue Account Business Plan currently planned for 2021/22. 

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: The Medium Term Financial Plans seeks to 
understand the amount of resources the Council will 
have to deliver its priorities in the future. 

Policy Considerations: Not applicable. 

Safeguarding: Not applicable. 

Equalities/Diversity: Not applicable. 

Customer Impact: Not applicable. 

Economic and Social Impact: Not applicable. 

Environment and Climate Change: The full impact of the climate emergency, declared by 
Council in May 2019, is not yet fully costed and 
mainstreamed into financial plans. The plans 
therefore do not reflect the full potential effort required 
to make the Council carbon neutral by 2030. 

Consultation/Community Engagement: Not applicable 

Risks: There are a number of risks associated with the 
Medium Term Financial Plan as clearly future 
events cannot be accurately predicted and as a 
result the economic outlook can change quickly. In 
addition, a great deal of uncertainty remains in the 
local government sector around core funding and 
the full extent of the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic. A risk and sensitivity analysis is 
included within this report where relevant. 

128



Officer Contact Tracy Bingham, Head of Finance 
01530 454707 
tracy.bingham@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX A 
 

EXTRACT OF DRAFT MEETING MINUTES OF THE  
CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

2 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 

6. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL PLAN  

 
Tracy Bingham, Head of Finance, gave a detailed presentation on the changes to assumptions that 
drive the Medium Term Financial Plans (MTFP) which have resulted in changes to the forecast 
position to 2024/25. She focussed on the impact on the General Fund before handing over to 
Matthew D’Oyly-Watkins, who presented the assumptions in relation to the Housing Revenue 
Account.  
 
The Chairman thanked the officers for their comprehensive presentation and invited questions and 
comments from Members.  
 
With references to paragraphs 1.9 and 3.3 of the report, Councillor Sheahan asked for justification for 
the decision to reallocate £.09m of earmarked reserves to the self sufficiency fund and for 
confirmation if these were committed. He was advised that they were previously allocated for specific 
purposes but expenditure was not committed and that the earmarked reserves had been reviewed 
under delegated powers through a ‘COVID lense’ to identify those which could be reallocated by 
considering how long the reserves had been in existence and how long they had been set aside and 
for what reason. It was further noted that those earmarked reserves identified had not seen any 
expenditure in the last financial year. This additional funding would help bridge the gap, not only with 
the issues arising from COVID, but for any future financial challenges in the forthcoming years.  
 
Councillor Sheahan challenged this as he understood that earmarked reserves were attached to 
expenditure which had been identified for a purpose so it seemed strange to him to say that it had not 
been allocated.  
 
He was advised that earmarked reserves could be allocated for a specific purpose, however, if there 
has been no movement on these funds for a period or there was no clear intent on spending it in the 
near future, then the reserve can be reallocated.  
 
Councillor Sheahan felt that if the money was uncommitted then it should be in the General Fund and 
this idea of moving money around which had been originally allocated for a set purpose, did not sit 
comfortably with him so he may want to address this again at a future meeting.  

129

mailto:tracy.bingham@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 
Councillor Sheahan moved on to the issue of thematic savings targets as referenced in paragraph 2.3 
of the report and sought some clarity as to what these were. He was advised that these were the work 
streams as set out in the February budget reports and MTFP with themes around applying a more 
commercial approach to income and around contracts with a range of thematic savings. These were 
identified in the earlier part of the year as part of the Journey to Self Sufficiency Programme.  
 
Councillor Sheahan conveyed his thanks for the report and presentation on business rates which has 
helped him gain a better understanding, accepting that it is extremely complicated, and he asked the 
Head of Finance to confirm his understanding of how it works. She was able to do this by confirming 
that Councillor Sheahan’s summary was correct adding that the reason the Council benefits so 
greatly from growth is that the amount it has accumulated is way above the base line the Government 
believes our retained business rates should be at; and above that level the Council is able to retain 
more of the rates collected which is also why it represents a risk.  
Councillor Sheahan then turned his attention to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) and in 
particular paragraph 4.2 of the report which spoke about the balances and how this can be used to 
respond to opportunities such as acquiring new homes. He asked that this money does get spent, 
particularly on improving existing homes as we are only targeting about 15 new homes a year and yet 
still losing around 44 homes per year through ‘right to buy’. He therefore believes that the money 
should be spent on increasing the standards of existing homes. However, he felt that the Council 
should have a strategy as to how it will tackle the issues of around achieving carbon neutrality, with 
particular focus on the level of carbon being produced by our homes. Councillor Sheahan also felt 
that the Council should be looking at other sources of funding as the Council could not be expected to 
fund it all as it would be a massive hit on the HRA.  
 
Councillor Johnson referenced the contractual issue with regard to Newmarket and asked if the 
Council could recover any costs. He was reminded that this decision had already been made. 
Councillor Johnson expressed his disappointment at this decision.  
 
Councillor Wyatt asked whether the Council would be able to tap into the grants being made available 
by Government to help landlords tackle the issues around achieving carbon neutrality within our 
housing stock. He also reiterated the comments made by Councillor Johnson in relation to the 
Newmarket contract and felt that Members should be able to have a say on the matter and, as such, it 
should be taken to full Council.  
 
He was advised that the issue about the Government funding was currently being explored by the 
Housing Department and he was reminded that, with regard to the Newmarket contract, this issue 
had been considered by the Community Scrutiny Committee in July and later by Cabinet where the 
decision was not called in by Members who may have not been happy with that decision when they 
had an opportunity to do so.  
 
The recommendation as set out on page 22 of the agenda was moved by Councillor Sheahan, 
seconded by Councillor Allman and by affirmation of the meeting:-  
 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 
The report be duly noted and the comments made at this meeting be reported to Cabinet.  

130



APPENDIX B 
2020/21 QUARTER 1  

FINANCIAL FORECAST SUMMARY 
 General Fund HRA Council Wide Impact 

Budgeted Surplus/(Deficit) Position £630k  £2.77m   

P1 Forecast impact of COVID-19 * (£1.870m)Gross (£259k) Gross (£2.129m) Gross / (£1.086m) 
Net of emergency funding 

Revised 
Forecast 
Position 
based on 
Q1 
 

Q1 Forecast impact of 
COVID-19 * 

(£3.085m) gross/ 
(£1.559m) net 

(£383k) gross/ (£383k) net 
 

(£3.468m) Gross / (£1.942m) 
Net 

Other variances * (£50k) £5k  

Total forecast variance * (£1.609m)  (378k)  

Total Forecast 
Surplus/(Deficit)  

(£0.978m) £2.4m  

Significant movements Covid-19 related: 
a) £338k additional staffing costs of which £200k 
relates to the community hub 
b) £414k of additional support to Everyone Active 
c) £85k support to parish councils 
d) £83k on additional ICT equipment and licences to 
allow home working 
e) £70k on security and alterations at the council 
offices to enable safe working practices 
f) Receipt of the 3rd tranche of MHCLG funding of 
£152k and £130k of New Burdens funding 
g) Anticipated £200k funding to be received for the 
year through MHCLG Income Compensation 
scheme 
 
Other (non-covid-19 related) movements: 
h) £173k of savings identified through a targeted 
review of key budget lines 
i) £55k savings within the planning team as a result 
of the  delay in HS2 and reduction in appeals 
j) £33k saving in relation to MRP arising as a result 
of under-spend on the 2019/20 Capital Programme 
k) £127k forecast less in business rates compared to 
budgeted position 

Covid-19 related: 
l) Surpluses on our in-house repairs 
team trading account falling by £459k. 
This is partially offset by fewer repair 
jobs being expected, saving £296k. 
m) £225k additional costs as journey 
to self-sufficiency saving targets have 
been reduced to zero. 
n) £140k savings from staff being 
redeployed to covid-19 responses.  

 
Other (non-covid-19 related) 
movements: 
o) £145k less income, mainly due to 
higher right to buys in 2019-20 
reducing income in this year.  
p) Reduced forecast painting 
programme expenditure by £150k 

 

Notes The above forecasts currently exclude the impact of 
the potential deficit arising on the Collection Fund as 
a result of lower levels of business rates and council 
tax collected and increases in bad debts.  The full 
impact will be estimated as part of setting the 
2021/22 budget. 

  

* Favourable/(Adverse) 

131



T
his page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

PROVISIONAL FINANCIAL OUTTURN 2019/20 
 

Presented by Councillor Nicholas Rushton 
Corporate Portfolio Holder 
 

Background Papers 2019/20 Draft (unaudited) 
Statement of Accounts 
(public) 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The expected final position on the General Fund is a surplus of 
£1.158m compared to a budgeted surplus of £161k, representing 
a £997k increase. 
 
The expected final position on the HRA is a surplus of £2.427m, 
compared to a budgeted surplus position of £1.418m, 
representing a £1.009m increase. 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes  

Legal Implications There are none. 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

There are none. 
 

Signed off by the Head of Paid Service:  Yes 
 
 

Purpose of Report To present the Provisional Outturn for 2019/20. 
 

Reason for Decision Requirement of Financial Procedure Rules. 
 

Recommendations THAT THE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR 2019/20, 
INCLUDING THE IMPACT ON RESERVES AND 
BALANCES AS AT 31 MARCH 2020 IS APPROVED 

 
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1  The Council is required to produce Financial Statements each year which ‘give a true and 

fair view’ of the financial position and transactions of the Council.  The accounts have been 
prepared under the International Financial Reporting Standards since 2010/11. 

 
1.2 This report summarises the main elements of our financial performance in 2019/20 and the 

results are referred to as ‘provisional’ as they are still subject to external audit and may 
change. 

 
1.3 The 2019/20 accounts, published in draft form on the Council’s website on 14 August 2020.  

The final accounts will be considered and approved by the Audit and Governance 
Committee on 24 November 2020 after they have been audited.  This later meeting to sign 
off the accounts is in line with the revised national statutory deadlines put in place to take 
account of the pandemic.   

 
1.4 The finance service continues to operate a ‘Finance Business Partner’ delivery model.  A 

key part of this includes budget holders and finance colleagues meeting in ‘finance clinics’ 
on a quarterly (or where required, monthly) basis.  The key areas of focus within finance 
clinics is to review budgetary variances and revise in year forecasts, identify and manage 
the timely expenditure of earmarked reserves in order to drive value for money and in 
particular, reduce unexpected results in respect of the General Fund. 

133

Agenda Item 8.

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/statement_of_accounts_2019_20_unaudited/Statement%20of%20Accounts%20%28unaudited%29%20130820.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/statement_of_accounts_2019_20_unaudited/Statement%20of%20Accounts%20%28unaudited%29%20130820.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/statement_of_accounts_2019_20_unaudited/Statement%20of%20Accounts%20%28unaudited%29%20130820.pdf


 

 
1.6 As in previous years, variances have occurred between quarter 3 forecasts and outturn.  

This shows that there remains a way to go to improve budget forecasting during the year. In 
recent years, services have made significant improvements in developing fit for purpose 
budgets and forecasting the council’s financial position in year.  Going forward we will 
require service areas to continue to seek to better understand their variances and ensure 
forecasts are included in quarter 3 and reported to members, thereby reducing 
unanticipated results at year end. 

 
1.7 As part of the ongoing improvements in respect of financial management, the capacity of 

the finance team has been increased this year, allowing for the team to provide greater 
support to service areas during the year, following feedback received as part of the 2019 
Corporate Peer Review. 

 
1.8 The Finance team are also now well into the process of procuring a new finance system. 

This will provide a number of benefits to the organisation including the ability for real time 
information to be accessed by officers across all council services, increased engagement 
from users due to it being more accessible and user friendly and the automation of a 
number of processes which will allow finance resources to be redirected to more value 
added activities. 

 
1.9 Finally, as part of the annual review of earmarked reserves, for which the S151 Officer has 

delegated authority, a significant number of new requests and existing reserves requested 
to be carried forward were not approved on the basis that criteria in respect of timing and 
known commitments was not met. More detail in respect of reserves can be found in 
section 6. 

 
2.0 GENERAL FUND 
 
2.1 The expected final position on the General Fund is set out in Table 1 of this report. The 

provisional surplus for the year is £1.158m compared to a budgeted surplus of £161k, 
representing a £997k increase. 

 
2.2 The latest forecast outturn position reported to Cabinet was at quarter 3 and was a surplus 

of £353k, therefore the variance upon outturn compared to this position is £805k. 
 
2.3 Details in respect of the treatment of this surplus can be found at 2.8 below. The most 

significant variances for 2019/20 are explained below and summarised in Table 2. 
 

 Table 1 – 2019/20 General Fund Revenue Provisional Outturn 
Line 
No. 

General Fund Original 
Estimate 

Provisional 

Outturn Variance 
 TOTAL DISTRICT EXPENSES £’000 £’000 £’000 

1 Chief Executives 286 246 -40 
2 Human Resources & Organisational Development 647 631 -16 
3 Legal & Commercial Services 1,340 1,271 -69 
4 Strategic Director of Place 399 402 3 
5 Community Services 5,945 6,155 210 
6 Planning & Infrastructure 491 674 183 
7 Economic Development 1,207 1,139 -68 
8 Joint Strategic Planning 8 8 0 
9 Customer Services 2,462 2,058 -404 
10 Finance 907 998 91 
11 Property 231 336 105 
12 Strategic Housing 533 474 -59 
13 Other -22 0 22 
14 Corporate and Democratic Core 36 33 -3 
15 Non-Distributed Costs 87 126 39 
16 Net Recharges -1,320 -1,408 -88 
17 Net Financing Costs 1,092 1099 7 
18 Investment Income -188 -332 -144 

134



 

19 Localisation of Council Tax Grant 114 114 0 
20 Revenue Contribution to Capital 470 519 49 
21 Debt Restructuring Premium 0 23 23 
22 Employee Benefits 0 0 0 
23 Transfer to Reserves 161 1,197 1,036 

24 Transfer to S106 0 1,335 1,335 
25 Capital Grants and Contributions Applied 0 851 851 
26 Section 106 0 -2,593 -2,593 
27 Net Cost of Services after Recharges 14,886 15,356 470 

 FUNDING    
28 Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0 
29 New Homes Bonus 3,068 3,068 0 
30 Transfer from Collection Fund 90 90 0 
31 Other Grants 0 193 193 
32 Council Tax 5,341 5,341 0 
33 Levy Account Surplus 0 8 8 
34 National Non-Domestic Rates Baseline 6,387 6,656 269 
  14,886 15,356 470 

 
2.4 Analysis of Budgetary Variances 

 
 Table 2 – Major Variances   

 £’000 £’000 

Adverse Variances   
Non-distributed Retirement Benefits -46  
Leisure Centres -69  
Car Parking Management and Maintenance -73  
Coalville Market – Income -44  
Licensing Income -30  
Legal Services Income -36  
Property Services -101  
Bed and Breakfast -78  
Revenue Contribution to Capital -49  

  -526 
Favourable Variances   
Business Rates 278  
Grants 193  
Salary Savings 408  
Corporate Support Savings (Outsourcing of Leisure) 153  
Corporate Training 34  
Members ICT 30  
Summons Income 56  
Revenues & Benefits Partnership 58  
Recycling Income 30  
Housing Government Grant 60  
Rent Allowances and Rebates 226  
Planning Appeals 120  

  1,700 
   
De-minus Non-Salary Variances -177  

  -177 

   
Total  997 

 
2.5 Business Rates 
 
2.5.1 For 2019/20, the council was part of the Leicestershire 75% Business Rates Retention Pilot 

along with all other Leicestershire Councils and as a result we received an additional £636k 
from the pilot surplus of which £86k was above the budgeted estimate. 

 
2.5.2 As well as an ever-changing business rates base, the Council also shares the costs of 

appeals, debts write-offs and so on. The Council participates in a County Pool, which is a 
local mechanism of retaining business rates income within Leicestershire rather than divert 

135



 

it back to Central Government, and mitigate the risk of under achievement on income 
targets. Councils are continuing to develop their systems for projecting and monitoring this 
major and often volatile income stream.  

 
2.5.3 In 2019/20 an additional £278k of business rates was received by the Council compared 

with the original budget. This is largely due to £122k additional income, £142k additional 
section S31 grant (which is compensation to cover the cost of measures announced by the 
government provided by means of a grant paid under Section 31 pf the Local Authority Act 
2003), £86k pilot surplus and £84k less than budgeted for renewable energy sites. 

 
2.6 Other Favourable Variances 
 
2.6.1 Grants of £193k were received in 2019/20 that we had not budgeted for in relation to grants 

received that were not budgeted for. 
 
2.6.2 Salary underspends of £408k were achieved as a result of vacant posts, staff turnover and 

reduction in hours. These significant underspends were reported to members throughout 
the year via the quarterly performance reports.  

 
2.6.3 Rent Allowances and Rent Rebates were underspent by £226k as a result of less benefits 

paid than budgeted for. The budget was based on the 2018/19 mid-year subsidy estimate 
submitted in August 2018. The variance is a result of the budget being developed based on 
data from 2018 (as is normal for this area) and the actual results being different.   

2.6.4 Following the transfers of leisure services to Everyone Active, Corporate savings of £153k 
have been achieved for the year and will continue to be saved on an ongoing basis. 

 
2.6.5 The Council has benefited from a lower number of planning appeals which has provided a 

£120k saving in the cost of legal and technical fees. 
 
2.7 Adverse Variances 
 
2.7.1 On the adverse side there was an adverse variance of £101k for Property Services due to 

£54k less income in relation to commercial rents and services charges and additional 
expenditure of £47k on general repairs and building security. 

 
2.7.2 Car Parking Management and Maintenance was overspent by £73k due to £45k additional 

non-domestic rates and £28k less income net of private owner payments.   
   
2.7.3 There was additional expenditure of £69k for the leisure centres.  This relates to additional 

health and safety repairs to the premises that were required before Everyone Active took 
over the running of the leisure centres and increases in water charges for which we were 
liable for.  

 
2.7.4 Bed and breakfast costs falling to the council (after subsidy from housing benefit) was £78k 

higher than budgeted. 
 

2.7.5 As reported to Scrutiny and Cabinet in June and July respectively in the Covid-19 Financial 
Impact Report, in the last few weeks of the 2019/20 financial year, we have estimated that 
income reduced by £11k due to the pandemic: bulky and food waste collections (£2k) and 
car parking income (£9k). An estimated £58k of additional expenditure was estimated to be 
incurred in respect of additional administration equipment (£3k), cleaning equipment (£1k), 
IT equipment (£43k), IT software licences and (£6k) and homelessness prevention (£5k). 

 
2.8 Surplus Allocation 
 
2.8.1 In line with the decision made by Council on 26 February 2019, any surplus income over 

expenditure in 2019/20 is to be transferred to the self-sufficiency reserve. The principle 
purpose of this reserve is that it is used to support meeting the projected deficits arising 
over the five year period of the Medium Term Strategy and maximise income generating 

136



 

opportunities for ongoing self-sufficiency. As at the 1 April 2020, the reserve stood at 
£4.194m. 

 
2.8.2 It is proposed that the £1.158m surplus is transferred to the Self-Sufficiency reserve.  

Combined with the release of £900k existing earmarked reserves, the Self-Sufficiency 
reserve balance at 31 March 2020 is £6.3m.   

 
2.9 Financial Management Performance and Learning Specific to the General Fund 
 
2.9.1 Following the trends of the last few years, the General Fund has produced a surplus above 

the budgeted position, compared to the annual budgeted surplus position (£997k increase 
on the £161k budgeted position). The result is largely a result of the complex accounting 
arrangements for business rates income, salary and corporate savings and additional 
grants received. 

 
2.9.2 The surplus reported represents the true position for the 2019/20 financial year.  There 

have been no material additional set aside of forecast surpluses within the year or 
excessive amounts of earmarked reserves approved, both of which serve to artificially 
suppress an outturn surplus via the creation of new earmarked reserves.   

 
2.9.3 Continuing the pattern from last year, the variance on the net cost of services position for 

2019/20 (which includes all expenditure and local income) represents the lowest variance 
since 2014/15. This shows that services are improving in setting realistic budgets that go on 
to spends. Similarly the variance on funding is also at its lowest, demonstrating that the 
council’s financial management are continually improving. 

 
2.9.4 It is anticipated that further improvements around organisation financial management will 

continue in line with the adoption of the CIPFA Financial Management Code. 
 
3.0 HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) 

 
3.1 The financial performance of the HRA is summarised in Table 3. 
 
3.2 The expected final position is a surplus of £2.427m, compared to a budgeted surplus 

position of £1.418m, representing a £1.009m increase. The latest forecast outturn position 
for the Housing Revenue Account reported to Cabinet was at quarter 3 and was a surplus 
of £1.776m, therefore the variance upon outturn compared to this position is £651k. 

 
3.3 The surplus on the account has been added to the HRA balance which stood at £3.7m. 
 
 Table 3 – 2019/20 HRA Revenue Provisional Outturn   

 Approved 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 

Provisional 
Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT    
    
Repairs and Maintenance 5,365 4,478 -887 
Supervision and Management 2,701 2,471 -230 
Provision for Doubtful Debts 100 6 -94 
Capital Financing (Depreciation, Impairment and 
Debt Management) 

4,791 5,007 216 

Total Expenditure 12,957 11,962 -995 
    
Less Rental Income & Service Charges -17649 -17,596 53 
    
Net Cost of Services -4,962 -5,634 -943 
    
Capital Financing (Principal & Interest) -3,382 -3,365 -17 
Investment Income -109 -158 -50 
    
NET (SURPLUS)/DEFICIT -1,418 -2,427 -1,009 

137



 

 
 
3.4 Analysis of Budgetary Variances 
   
  Table 4 – Major Variances 

  £’000 £’000 

Adverse Variances   
Reduced Service Charges and Garage Rent Income -40  
Reduced Salary Capitalisation -26  
Increased Corporate Recharges -45  
Additional RCCO -590  

  -701 
Favourable Variances   
In-house Repair Team surplus 826  
Depreciation 455  
Salary savings 154  
Reduced contribution to Bad Debt Provision 94  
Utilities 57  
Contract Cleaning 26  
Council Tax on Void Properties 48  
Additional Investment Income 49  

  1,709 
   
De-minus Non-Salary Variances 1  

  1 

   
Total  1,009 

 
 
3.5 Favourable Variances 

 
3.5.1 Overall the HRA has £1.7m of favourable variances through the year. This included: 

 £826k for the surplus from the In-house Repairs Team’s trading account. The In-
house Repair Team sit within the HRA, but have their own accounting records, which 
means they charge the HRA for the repairs and improvements they complete. Costs 
associated with the repair works are then charged to the trading account, and 
depending on the amount charged, the team generates a surplus or a deficit on the 
trading account which is then reinvested in the HRA. This surplus or deficit, in effect, 
provides a measure of the value of this work being completed in-house, as opposed to 
a third party. The surplus this year is the highest we have achieved from our in-house 
repairs team, and is a result of the team taking on more home improvement work. 

 The depreciation charge is £455k lower than the budgeted position. Depreciation 
represents the cost of using the housing assets over the year, and is designed to 
represent the cost of wear and tear in properties. The depreciation charge is 
calculated at year end, making it difficult to assess the position earlier in the year. 
Paragraph 3.8.3 sets out changes we intend to make in 2020-21 to reduce this 
uncertainty.  

 Net savings on salary costs of £154k. This figure is net of agency staff that are 
brought in to fill posts on a temporary basis.  

 Lower than anticipated contributions to our bad debt provision, as we needed to write 
off less debt, saving £94k.  

 
3.6 Adverse Variances 
 
3.6.1 The largest adverse variance was an additional revenue contribution to capital outlay of 

(RCCO) £590k, bringing the total RCCO up to £2.2m. We made this additional contribution 
in response to higher than anticipated right to buy sales in 2019-20, which meant we 
retained £1.1m as right to buy one-for-one receipts, to be used on new affordable housing 
in the next 3 years. The additional RCCO was made to ensure our capital programme has 

138



 

the funding to match these receipts, as the one for one receipts can only be used to fund 
30% of the costs of new affordable housing,    

 
3.7 Surplus Allocation 
 
3.7.1 In 2019 Cabinet agreed to allow more flexible use of the HRA’s surplus in the future should 

opportunities or funding challenges arise, with any remaining surpluses being used to repay 
debt in the future. Therefore, the 2019-20 surpluses remain within the HRA balances until 
they are needed either for debt repayment, or for another opportunity. This brings the 
balances up to £3.7m, with £1m required as a minimum working balance.  

 
3.7.2 The HRA loan repayment reserve retains the £13m needed to repay the first two self-

financing loans when they fall due in March 2022. After these have been paid the next 
maturity loan will be due in 2037. The HRA continues to repay the principal on two annuity 
loans, with £1.1m going towards repaying these loans in 2019/20. The annuity loans are 
due to run until 2027 and 2032.  

 
3.8 Financial Management Performance and Learning Specific to the HRA 
 
3.8.1 There is a continued trend of higher than expected surpluses on the HRA, which affects our 

ability to plan effectively and make robust strategic decisions, such as deciding how much 
of the surplus to put into our capital programme and how much to put in our debt repayment 
reserve.  

3.8.2 The HRA surplus figure is very sensitive to movements within our balance sheet.  This 
means some significant movements are not known until year end, such as the movement in 
depreciation and bad debt provision noted in paragraph 3.5.1.  In 2019-20, £200k of the 
variance arose at year end, which is an improvement on the previous year where we saw a 
movement of £1.2m at year end.  

 
3.8.3 We are continuing to improve our financial management within the HRA and have already 

implemented some changes for 2020-21, including: 

 Revising historically underspent budgets down. For instance, we had a favourable 
variance on council tax in 2019-20 by decommissioning two sheltered schemes, which 
reduced our council tax liability. By identifying this during the year, we were able to 
amend the 2020-21 budget to capture this as an ongoing saving.  

 Revising our monitoring processes for the In-house Repair Team, so we can better 
understand forecast surplus or deficit position throughout the year.  

 Plans to utilise any underspend in depreciation at year end as additional revenue 
contribution to capital. This will bring stability to the year-end forecasts and ensure our 
capital programme retains sufficient funding for our home improvement programme.  

 
4.0 SPECIAL EXPENSES 
 
4.1 The expected final position on Special Expenses including net financing costs is an under 

spend of £2k.  The budgeted contribution to Special Expenses reserves was £4k and the 
actual outturn was £6k. This movement was a result of increased salaries and service 
management recharges of £8k, additional burial income of £16k and reduced expenditure 
on general repairs and operational purchases of £11k plus an additional £21k on approved 
schemes during the year of which £5k was not spent and is no longer required. These have 
been reported to the Coalville Special Expenses Working Party. Table 5 below gives further 
details. 

 
 Table 5 – 2019/20 Special Expenses Revenue Provisional Outturn   

 Approved 
Budget 

Provisional 
Outturn 

Provisional 
Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 
SPECIAL EXPENSES    
    
Special Expenses 559 550 -9 
    

139



 

Net Financing Costs -23 -25 -2 
    
Contribution to Earmarked Reserves 0 9 9 
    

Expenditure Requirement 536 534 -2 

    
Precept 476 476 0 
    
Localisation of Council Tax Support Grant 64 64 0 
    
Transfer from/(to) reserves -4 -6 -2 

 
4.2 The opening Special Expenses Reserves was £80k and with the surplus of £6k for the year 

plus an additional £1.8k which is to be released back from earmarked reserves in relation to 
the permissive footpath agreement at Melrose Road play hub, the reserve now stands at 
£88k. 

 
5.0 CAPITAL 
 
5.1 The Council’s capital spending in detailed in Table 6. 
 
  Table 6 – 2019/20 Capital Provisional Outturn 
     

Scheme Original 
Budget 

Prior 
Year 
c/fwd 

In Year Revised Provisional 

Approvals 
Slippage  Budget Outturn Variance 

/funding 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

                

GENERAL FUND               

Disabled Facilities Grants 650 0 21 0 670 670 0 

Council Offices  575 135 (133) (147) 430 138 (292) 

IT & Software (Inc Finance Review & WIFI) 216 163 (6) (250) 121 123 2 

Transport Account Vehicles 701 (154) (45) (200) 302 274 (28) 

Hood Park Leisure Centre Ashby 1,199 0 0 (121) 1,078 1,078 0 

New Leisure Centre Coalville 8,996 0 0 (7,251) 1,745 1,745 0 

Depot works - various 0 95 0 (92) 3 3 0 

Car Parks  0 25 0 (25) 0 0 0 

Coalville Market Provision 0 292 144 (218) 217 217 0 

Commercial Property Works - various 12 0 0 0 12 12 (0) 

Heritage Assets work - various 125 170 0 (280) 15 14 (1) 

Other Works (Salt and Appleby Magna) 195 0 0 (151) 44 44 0 

Marlborough Square 0 1,226 540 (1,766) 0 0 0 

Memorial Clock Tower 0 13 (6) 0 7 6 (1) 

CV Park Dep Concrete 40 0 0 (2) 38 38 0 

Roller Brake Tester 0 0 30 0 30 30 (0) 

  12,709 1,965 545 (10,504) 4,713 4,392 (321) 

                

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT               

Improvements and Modernisation 8,126 0 0 (1,187) 6,939 5,994 (945) 

New Build 4,984 0 0 (1,556) 3,428 1,170 (2,258) 

  13,110 0 0 (2,743) 10,367 7,164 (3,203) 

                

TOTAL CAPITAL PROGRAMME 25,819 1,965 545 (13,247) 15,080 11,556 (3,524) 

 
 
 

140



 

5.2 General Fund Capital Programme 
 
5.2.1 The General Fund capital budget was underspent by £321k and had slippages of £10.5m 

into 2020/21 compared to a budget of £14.7m. The main reasons for the underspends and 
slippages are: 

 a) Delays in the commencement of the building of the new leisure centre in 
Coalville has led to a £7.3m slippage into 2020/21.  The main reason for this is 
due to delays in respect of obtaining a necessary Section 278 agreement for 
carrying out works to the A511 public highway. 

 
b) Delays in the Marlborough square project resulted in a slippage of £1.8m into 
2020/21.  The reason for the delay is due to our ability to move on to the 
construction phase for this project, which is governed by completion of a Section 
278 Highways agreement with Leicestershire County Council. The S278 
Agreement for this project is particularly complex and the Highway authority have 
requested further survey information. Once all consents are in place and a 
contractor appointed expenditure can be expected to proceed at pace. 

 
5.3 Housing Revenue Account Capital Programme 
 
5.3.1 The final Housing Revenue Account capital budget was underspent by £3.2m and had 

slippages of £2.7m on the total approved budget of £13.1m. The main reasons for this 
underspend and slippage are: 

 a) Delays on new build sites have led to a £2.3m underspend on our New Supply 
Programme. The main causes were due to one planned site in Whitwick not 
progressing as quickly as had been hoped due to design issues with the drainage 
required, resulting in a £1.6m underspend. Bad weather over the winter also 
resulted in a £0.7m underspend in this year on the Cropston Drive, Coalville site. 
Timetables for these sites were rebased in the 2020-21 budget, so there was no 
need to carry this expenditure forward. 

 b) £1.6m of the New Supply Programme has been carried forward to 2020-21. 
This related to our acquisition of land and property through purchases, as 
opposed to new build, and ensures funding is retained for purchases from 
developers and on the open market which are currently in the pipeline.  

 c) Underspends on improvements and modernisation of £945k were largely driven 
by a £573k underspend on the Home Improvement Programme. This was a result 
of planned improvements being removed from the programme for reasons such as 
the property being sold or tenants refusing planned works which were not 
essential to health and safety matters. Other significant underspends include 
£221k on estate improvement works, which have not been carried forward as they 
were rebased in the 2020-21 budget. 

 e)  £1.2m of the improvements and modernisation budgets have been carried 
forward to 2020/21. This includes £400k for fire risk remedial work in our 
supported homes, £378k for the off street parking programme, £300k for 
supported housing improvements and £109k to build mobility scooter stores.  

 
6.0 RESERVES 
 
6.1 The council holds reserves that are earmarked for a particular purpose and are set aside in 

order to meet known or predicted future expenditure in relation to that purpose.  The 
reserves are monitored alongside the budget as part of monthly monitoring. 

 
6.2 As part of the year end close down earmarked reserves are requested by various 

departments. Requests are either to carry forward existing reserves that remain unspent or 
to create new reserves from under spends within the current budget year if that underspend 
is from a budget area that aligns with the purpose of the reserve to be carried forward.  

141



 

These reserves are checked by the Finance team for accuracy before being presented to 
the S151 Officer for approval under delegated powers. 

 
6.3 Assuming that reserves are utilised in line with the timescales agreed as part of their 

approval, reserves represent an effective means of utilising surpluses and underspends 
and ensuring delivery of projects. 

 
6.5 Best practice indicates that reserves, if set aside for specific purposes should be spent in 

accordance with projections. As detailed in paragraph 1.4 above, finance clinics now focus 
on ensuring that earmarked reserves are expended in a timely manner in line with the 
purposes in which they have been set aside. 

 
6.6 Earmarked Reserves spent in 2019/20 
 
6.6.1 In 2019/20, £1.54m of the £8.49m existing General Fund earmarked reserves brought 

forward were spent and the Housing Revenue Account spent £48k of the £146k of existing 
earmarked reserves. 

 
6.7 Amounts approved to be carried forward as Earmarked Reserves 
 
6.7.1 For 2019/20, £10.14m of earmarked requests were received by the Section 151 Officer, 

comprising of: 

 £9.83m General Fund; 

 £99k HRA; 

 £183k Asset Protection; and 

 £27k Special Expenses. 
 
6.7.2  In consultation with the Corporate Portfolio Holder and the Leader, £8.76m of these 

reserves have been approved as follows: 

 £8.46m General Fund; 

 £94k HRA; 

 £183k Asset Protection; and 

 £25k Special Expenses. 
 
6.8.3  A number of existing General Fund reserves were not requested or approved, meaning 

there is a further £1.12m of reserves that could be reallocated.  Following review, the 
Section 151 Officer has retained £200k of this sum as an unallocated reserve.  Therefore, 
the General Fund balance level of reserves retained for expenditure is £8.46m and £920k 
has been transferred to the self-sufficiency reverse. 

 
6.8.4  The combined level of new reserves approved to be carried forward to 2020/21 is 

£8.76m.  This balance is a marginal increase on the 2018/19 level of reserves.  
 
6.9  Self-Sufficiency Reserve 
 
6.9.1  The Self-Sufficiency reserve which is a separately maintained reserve is now £6.273m 

following the transfer of £1.158m of the surplus and £920k from the release of earmarked 
reserves. This means that there is now a healthy reserve available to manage the future 
deficit years to arise on the General Fund medium term financial plan which total £5.5m to 
2024/25. 

 
6.10  Other Reserves 
 
6.10.1 As set out in paragraph 3.7, the HRA currently has balances of £3.7m. Of this, £1.0m is 

the working balance for the HRA and the remaining £2.7m remains to be used flexibly for 
future projects, or to repay debt. This is in additional to the £13m loan redemption 
reserve, which will be used to repay two loans in March 2022. 

 
6.10.2 Both the General Fund and HRA exceed their agreed minimum level of balances. 

142



 

 
6.10.3 Table 7 below summarises the position in respect of earmarked reserves and other 

reserves held by the council. 
 
  Table 7 – Earmarked Reserves as at 31st March 2020 
   

Reserves £’m 

General Fund  
General Fund Earmarked Reserves 8.46 
General Fund General Reserves (agreed minimum balance) 1.54 
Self-Sufficiency Reserve 6.27 
Asset Protection Fund 0.13 
Other 0.18 

 16.58 
Housing Revenue Account  
Housing Revenue Account Earmarked Reserves 0.09 
HRA working Balance 3.70 
HRA Loan Redemption Reserve 13.00 

 16.79 
Special Expenses  
Special Expenses Earmarked Reserves 0.02 
Asset Protection Fund 0.05 
Special Expenses General Reserves 0.09 

 0.16 
Other  
S106 1.62 
  
 35.17 

  
 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Our financial position affects all of our council 
priorities.  
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

Not applicable 

Safeguarding: 
 

Not applicable 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

Not applicable 

Customer Impact: 
 

Not applicable 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

Not applicable 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

Not applicable 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

Not applicable 

Risks: 
 

There are significant financial risks to manage which 
were fully considered during the budget process. 

Officer Contact 
 

Tracy Bingham 
Head of Finance and S151 Officer 
tracy.bingham@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

 

143

mailto:tracy.bingham@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLY STRATEGY 2020 
 

Presented by Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Housing and Customer Services Portfolio Holder 
 

Background Papers There are none. Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications There are no direct financial implications associated with this 
report although the strategy will inform the use of existing 
resources 
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications There are no implications 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

There are no implications 
 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service:  Yes 
 
 

Purpose of Report To allow Cabinet to consider the Council’s Draft Affordable 
Housing Supply Strategy  
 

Reason for Decision To identify the Council’s priorities in relation to new affordable 
housing and to support the priority that Local people live in high 
quality, affordable homes 
 

Recommendations THAT CABINET: 
 

1. APPROVES THE AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLY 
STRATEGY FOR ADOPTION 

 
2. DELEGATES AUTHORITY TO THE HEAD OF 

HOUSING IN CONSULTATION WITH THE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER FOR HOUSING, PROPERTY AND 
CUSTOMER SERVICES TO MAKE MINOR CHANGES 
AS NECCESARY IN FUTURE FOR THE PRACTICAL 
APPLICATION OF THE STRATEGY 

 
 
 

 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Housing Strategy 2020-21 sets out an objective to “Maintain and increase the supply of 

affordable homes, in a challenging financial environment, including the construction and 
acquisition of new affordable homes by North West Leicestershire District Council 
(NWLDC).” 

 
1.2 The Council recognises that it has a role as the strategic housing authority to work to 

address the housing needs of the district. At the same time it has a direct role in the 
delivery of affordable housing as a developing landlord. 

145

Agenda Item 9.



 

 
 
1.3 As an organisation that has only recently resumed its development programme it is 

important that we balance our twin roles to ensure that as a provider the development we 
are involved in compliments rather than competes with other developing organisations 
active within the district. 

 
1.4 This Strategy identifies the Council’s priorities for affordable housing and identifies the 

actions that will be taken to ensure that the right size, type and quality of affordable housing 
delivered in the right places within North West Leicestershire. 

 
 
2. THE NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLY STRATEGY 

 
2.1 The Strategy sets out the range of products that fall within the definition of affordable 

housing and the mechanisms of delivery. It then considers the success to date in delivery 
of affordable housing.  

 
2.2 It then considers the level of affordable housing need in the district including the need for 

specialist accommodation  
 

2.3 Finally the strategy identifies the gap between supply and demand for affordable housing 
and sets out areas that the council can improve delivery both as a strategic enabler and 
also as an affordable housing provider in its own right. 

 
 

3. IDENTIFIED PRIORITIES 
 

3.1 The strategy has identified a number of key priority actions to support the Council’s 
ambition to increase the volume and improve the quality of affordable housing supply. 
These are: 

 

 We will work with the County Council to understand the levels of need for specialist 
housing within the district 

 We will develop a clear and transparent approach to section 106 agreements, in particular 
how we will deal with situations where a developer cannot provide a policy compliant on 
site affordable housing scheme. 

 The Council will continue to offer financial support to registered providers developing in 
the district. Our priority will be to support schemes that meet needs which are not easily 
met through other routes. 

 We will work with Homes England to develop a more pro-active approach to larger 
predominantly affordable housing developments within the District. 

 As a developer we will begin a programme of pro-active site acquisition to accelerate new 
home delivery. 

 We will procure a new development partner to support us with the next phase of our 
newbuild programme whilst growing our in house capacity to develop sites directly in the 
future. 

 We will pro-actively seek partnerships that can bring added value to our development 
aspirations 

 We will continue to appraise section 106 opportunities however we will only bid for 
properties where there is no viable bid from other registered providers. 

 We will consider the opportunities within our own programme to develop specialist 
accommodation that is not forthcoming through other programmes. 

 We will develop a newbuild specification for our own programme and ensure that Capital 
funding is only provided to schemes with similar high standards. 
 

 
4. CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT 

 

146



 

4.1 The Strategy was considered by Community Scrutiny Committee on 21 July 2020. Draft 
Minutes of the meeting are attached as Appendix 1.  A wider consultation targeted at key 
stakeholders but also promoted more widely by the Council’s communications team took 
place between the 27 July and 19 August 2020.  
 

4.2 Consultees were directed toward an online survey and provided a link to comments made 
by the Scrutiny Committee. They were also provided with the opportunity to contact the 
Housing Strategy and Systems Team Manager directly. 

 
4.3 The outcome of the wider consultation was broad support for the Council’s approach, 

although a number of people commented on the likely impact of the Planning White Paper 
which was to be published after the New Supply Strategy. 

 
4.4 Whilst the outcome of the White Paper consultation is unknown at this stage elements of 

the strategy have been amended to reflect the added uncertainty this introduces.  In 
addition the recommendation includes the provision for the Head of Housing in consultation 
with the Portfolioholder to make limited amendments to address any emerging issues that 
do not justify a full revision of the strategy. 

 
4.5 Responses were received from 2 registered providers who work in the district both 

welcoming further clarity as to our priorities when supporting their direct development, and 
a response from a Community Group highlighted the importance of involvement of the local 
community when developing specialist accommodation. Amendments to the draft strategy 
have been made to reflect these and other comments received. 

 
 

5. MONITORING DELIVERY 
 

5.1 The strategy supports the Council priority of “Local People live in high quality, affordable 
homes.” As a result, high level delivery will be monitored through the Council Delivery Plan. 

 
5.2 Additional delivery monitoring will be captured through the team planning process.  

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

 
- Developing a clean and green district 
- Local people live in high quality, affordable homes 

 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

None Identified 

Safeguarding: 
 

None Identified 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

The strategy identifies the need for specialist housing 
directly targeted at some groups with protected 
characteristics and seeks to improve delivery in these 
areas. 

Customer Impact: 
 

The aim of the strategy is to increase delivery of 
affordable housing within the district which will have a 
direct positive impact on customers on the housing 
register. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

Increasing the delivery of affordable housing will have 
positive impacts both economically and socially. The 
strategy aims to increase investment in housing in the 
district with the end result of providing safe affordable 
housing for some of the most socially excluded 
residents of the district 

Environment and Climate Change: The strategy recognises that the environmental 

147



 

 impact of newbuild is substantial, both in terms of 
initial construction and the lifecycle of the property. 
This will be a key consideration in developing a 
newbuild specification and future financial support to 
partners 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

The strategy has been considered by Community 
Scrutiny Committee and stakeholders have been 
encouraged to comment on the draft strategy. 

Risks: 
 

As part of its Corporate Governance arrangements, 
the Council must ensure that Risk management is 
considered and satisfactorily covered in any report 
put before elected Members for a decision or action. 

Officer Contact 
 

Chris Lambert 
Head of Housing 
chris.lambertt@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

 

148

mailto:chris.lambertt@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
EXTRACT FROM MINUTES of a meeting of the COMMUNITY SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in 
the Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams on TUESDAY, 21 JULY 2020  
 
Present: Councillor D Harrison (Chairman)  
Councillors B Harrison-Rushton, C C Benfield, A J Bridgen, T Eynon, J Geary, G Hoult, K Merrie 
MBE and M B Wyatt  
 
Portfolio Holders: Councillors A C Woodman  
 
Officers: Mr J Arnold, Mr T Delaney, Mr J Knight, Mr C Lambert, Mrs M Long, Mr I Nelson, Mr P 

Sanders and Mr D Scruton 

 

7. NEW AFFORDABLE HOUSING SUPPLY STRATEGY 2020  
 
Chris Lambert, Head of Housing and David Scruton, Housing Strategy and Systems Team 
Manager presented the report to the Committee.  
 
The report set out how the Strategy had identified a number of priority actions to support the 
Council’s ambition to increase and improve affordable housing supply.  
 
Chairman thanked Mr Lambert and Mr Scruton and invited questions and comments from 
Members.  
 
In answer to a number of questions from Members, the Committee was advised that the ‘narrow’ 
pipeline of schemes would be extended, with other schemes soon to be included but these were 
still at the pre-proposal stage. There is a lot of work which goes on behind the scenes to assess 
the sites and this results in a number that are considerd that are found not to be suitable for 
developement. Once a site has been identified as suitable for development there is then work to 
ensure that schemes meet planning and building regulations.  
 
The Head of Housing agreed that it could be a good time to seek land acquisitions but care 
needs to be taken that we are not competing with our own partners such as Housing 
Associations and thus pushing up land values and paying more for sites. In terms of standards 
around affordable warmth, this is a key consideration in terms of scheme specifications but it was 
acknowledged the document could reference this more clearly.  
 
It was acknowledged that the Strategy currently does not contain specific targets or an action 
plan as at this stage it was a direction of travel as opposed to a delivery agenda. A comment 
about smarter targets was acknowledged. It was agreed that how the strategy will be delivered 
will be set out when the strategy is considered by Cabinet.  
 
In response to the comments made about the quality of the existing housing stock, it was 
reported that stock in low demand areas is disposed of through the asset disposal programme 
and there is still a lot of investment in the maintenance programme to ensure the decent homes 
standards are retained; and work is currently ongoing looking at how more can be done to 
exceed the standards.  
 
A number of questions were asked about the relationship between the strategy and the Council’s 
Carbon Commitment. It was acknowledged that a significant amount of carbon emission is 
generated by the process of building new homes and this needs to be considered as well as the 
lifetime energy output of the home once completed. It was agreed that further work would be 
carried out in terms of linkages between the carbon commitment and the draft strategy but there 
is a trade off between quantity and quality and any enhancements to specifications are likely to 
lead to a reduction in the overall amount of affordable housing delivered.  

149



 

Councillor T Eynon requested clarification regarding paragraph 57 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework with regard to making viability assessments publically available. It was confirmed that 
this new guidance would apply to planning applications when assessments are submitted by an 
applicant although as there has been no recent submissions this was perhaps why this had not 
been demonstrated.  
 
In terms of the consultation process, effectively this meeting was the first stage of this and the 
Strategy will not be considered by Cabinet until 22 September; and the time between now and 
then will be used to have discussions with our partners and other interested parties. 
  
Finally, it was noted that specialist housing for the elderly was an area where, in the past we 
have had an over- supply but the issue was around the quality of what was available. There have 
been some difficult decisions made in respect of some of these and considerable investment in 
others to ensure that they meet required standards and this is an area that will be progressed. An 
example of the frail elderly scheme in Ashby was given as an example of what can be achieved 
across the district when working with our partners.  
 
The recommendation as set out on page 29 of the agenda was moved by Councillor Merrie, 
seconded by Councillor Hoult and by affirmation of the meeting  
 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 
The report and the recommendations therein be duly noted and the comments made at this 

meeting be reported to Cabinet ahead of its meeting on 22 September 2020. 

 

150



1 
 

 

 

 

New Affordable Housing Supply 

Strategy 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

September 2020  

151



2 
 

Contents 
Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 4 

Purpose ............................................................................................................................................... 4 

What is Affordable Housing ................................................................................................................. 4 

Affordable Housing Delivery ................................................................................................................ 4 

Council Housing Delivery ..................................................................................................................... 5 

Affordable Housing Need .................................................................................................................... 5 

Delivery Against Identified Need ......................................................................................................... 7 

Summary of Actions ............................................................................................................................ 7 

Introduction by Roger Bayliss Portfolio Holder ...................................................................................... 9 

Purpose ................................................................................................................................................... 9 

Responding to a cyclical market ....................................................................................................... 10 

Planning for the Future White Paper ................................................................................................ 10 

What is affordable housing? ................................................................................................................. 10 

The Affordable Housing Market........................................................................................................ 10 

Affordable Housing Segmentation ................................................................................................ 11 

Delivery mechanisms ............................................................................................................................ 12 

Provider Lead Schemes ..................................................................................................................... 12 

NWLDC Planning Policy ..................................................................................................................... 12 

Current Supply ...................................................................................................................................... 13 

Historic Supply .............................................................................................................................. 13 

Section 106 Agreements ............................................................................................................... 14 

Council New Supply....................................................................................................................... 15 

Affordable Housing Need ...................................................................................................................... 16 

Affordable Housing Need .................................................................................................................. 16 

Specialist accommodation .................................................................................................................... 18 

Meeting the Need for Specialist Housing ..................................................................................... 18 

Rural Housing ................................................................................................................................ 23 

Need for Affordable Home Ownership ................................................................................................. 23 

Standards of Affordable Housing .......................................................................................................... 24 

How we will plug the gap ...................................................................................................................... 24 

Delivery Against Identified Need ...................................................................................................... 24 

What We Will Do About The Gap ..................................................................................................... 24 

As strategic enabler .............................................................................................................................. 25 

Better use of 106s ............................................................................................................................. 25 

Commuted sums ........................................................................................................................... 26 

152



3 
 

Discounted Market Sale ................................................................................................................ 27 

Other models of affordable housing ............................................................................................. 27 

Financial support to Registered Providers ........................................................................................ 27 

Working with Homes England ........................................................................................................... 28 

Council Delivery .................................................................................................................................... 28 

Site Identification .............................................................................................................................. 28 

Delivery ............................................................................................................................................. 29 

Partnership opportunities ................................................................................................................. 29 

Planning Gain .................................................................................................................................... 29 

Ad-Hoc Purchases ............................................................................................................................. 30 

Other Strategic Considerations ............................................................................................................. 30 

Value for Money ........................................................................................................................... 30 

Design Standards .......................................................................................................................... 31 

Meeting Specialist Needs .............................................................................................................. 31 

Rural Affordable Housing .............................................................................................................. 31 

Carbon Impact ............................................................................................................................... 31 

Summary of Actions .......................................................................................................................... 31 

Appendix One – Low Cost Home Ownership Products ......................................................................... 33 

 

  

153



4 
 

Executive Summary 

Purpose 
The Council recognises that it has a role as the strategic housing authority to work to address the 

housing needs of the district. At the same time it has a direct role in the delivery of affordable 

housing as a developing landlord. 

The intention is that by working effectively with partners we are able to increase the overall supply 

to everyone’s benefit. 

What is Affordable Housing 
Affordable Housing is defined within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). There are 

three broad areas which the majority of affordable housing falls into. 

Social and Affordable Rent are properties rented by an affordable housing provider, usually a Council 

or Housing Association as a rent below market value and set as a result of Government regulations. 

Most people will access these rented properties through the Council’s Housing Register 

Affordable Home Ownership is an umbrella term for a range of products that allow households to 

purchase a property at below market levels. The most established of these is Shared Ownership 

although the Government intends to introduce a standard discount market product under the first 

homes branding that is likely to form an increasing proportion of the market. 

Deferred Purchase schemes are schemes whereby a household rents a property for a period of time 

with the intention to purchase at a future date. Deferred Purchase schemes are often used as short 

term measures during market downturns when mortgage availability is limited to allow a 

perspective buyer to secure a property ahead of securing finance. The period of renting may also 

build up an equity stake in the property. Because they are an interim arrangement they are not 

identified as a distinct product in housing need surveys.  

Affordable Housing Delivery 
There are two main routes to delivery of affordable housing, provider led schemes, and planning 

gain sites. 

Provider Led Schemes are predominantly or exclusively affordable housing schemes and usually 

delivered with a degree of public capital subsidy. The most significant source of such subsidy is 

currently Homes England. 

Planning Gain is the mechanism by which affordable housing is delivered by a private developer as 

part of a condition of the planning permission under a section 106 agreement, usually as a 

proportion of a site being developed. 

The chart below shows the overall delivery of new affordable housing in the district over time as well 

as the split between RP lead schemes and section 106 sites. 

154



5 
 

 

Council Housing Delivery 
Since 2018 the Council has embarked on a programme of stock acquisition and new build. This has 

been to supplement the delivery by RPs and Private Developers. 

To date the Council has bought back one former right to buy property, received 45 units gifted by 

developers through section 106 agreements as well as purchasing 2 additional 106 units on one of 

the sites. Furthermore it has directly developed 24 units on infill HRA land and entered into a 

partnership with a Homes England registered partner developer to access HE funding for a 24 unit 

scheme in the centre of Coalville on the former Police Station site. 

Currently the Council is on site at a development of 8 homes in Coalville on the site of a former 

public house. The site is due for completion in August 2020. 

A pipeline of new schemes has been identified and work is ongoing to bring forward 4 of these for 

start on site in 2020/21. 

Site Indicative Units Estimated value Description 

Queensway, Measham 6 £891,000 Former Council Sheltered Scheme 

Howe Road, Whitwick 16 £2,376,000 Greenfield HRA land 

Woulds Court, Moira 8 £1,188,000 Former Council Sheltered Scheme 

Cedar Grove, Moira 2 £297,000 Former garage site 

 

Affordable Housing Need 
The most up to date evidence base of affordable housing need is currently the Housing and 

Economic Development Needs Assessment (HEDNA.) The HEDNA identified a need for new 

affordable housing within the district of 199 homes a year between 2011 and 2031 to meet both 

existing and newly arising need. 

Furthermore it suggested a tenure split of 80% rented accommodation 20% low cost home 

ownership and provided the broad guidance on property size below. 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed  4+ beds 

NWL 30-35% 35-40% 25-30% 5-10% 

 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Affordable Housing by Delivery Method

Affordable homes delivered through RP’s own delivery

Affordable homes delivered through S106 negotiated sites

155



6 
 

(Table 57 HEDNA) 

Whilst the HEDNA identified a district wide level of need but analysing the current applicants on the 

Council Housing Register we are able to identify a level of comparative demand between location 

and broad property types. A summary of the comparative demand for rented housing across three 

broad household types is shown below  

Settlement Emerging Growing Consolidating  key  
Coalville 21.00% 5.71% 10.70%  <1%   

Ashby 8.26% 2.45% 8.46%  1-2%   

Castle Donington 3.47% 0.71% 3.16%  2-4%   

Whitwick 2.96% 0.61% 3.67%  4-8%   

Ibstock 3.57% 0.51% 2.96%  8-10%   

Measham 2.14% 0.71% 1.22%  10+ %   

South West Villages 5.10% 1.63% 4.49%    
North East Villages 3.16% 1.43% 1.94%    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Emerging households are those newly forming either as a result of children leaving the parental 
home or as a result of changing relationships and will be met by smaller units like one and 2 
bedroom flats. 

North East Villages 

South West Villages 

156



7 
 

 Growing households are families with children and will need traditional houses with 2, 3 or 4 
bedrooms. 

 Consolidating households are those who are downsizing as family members move on into their 
own independent homes and will tend to be older people requiring age appropriate flats and 
bungalows 
 

Delivery Against Identified Need 
The table below shows the cumulative delivery of new affordable housing over the period identified 

in the HEDNA together with the net shortfall over time. There has been a shortfall in rented units in 

every year with only 55% of the required need delivered over the 9 year period. By contrast 78% of 

the affordable Home Ownership need has been met and over the 5 year period 2013-14 to 2017-18 

this need was met. 

  
Culm 
Rent 

Culm 
AHO 

Rent 
shortage 

AHO 
shortage 

2011-12 44 16 116 24 

2012-13 104 47 216 33 

2013-14 229 73 251 47 

2014-15 306 113 334 47 

2015-16 393 152 407 48 

2016-17 489 196 471 44 

2017-18 581 248 539 32 

2018-19 685 261 595 59 

2019-20 794 281 646 79 
 

Summary of Actions 
The strategy has identified a number of priority actions to support the Council’s ambition to increase 

and improve affordable housing supply. 

We will work with the County Council to understand the levels of need for specialist housing within 

the district 

We will develop a clear and transparent approach to section 106 agreements, in particular how we 

will deal with situations where a developer cannot provide a policy compliant on site affordable 

housing scheme. 

The Council will continue to offer financial support to registered providers developing in the district. 

Our priority will be to support schemes that meet needs which are not easily met through other 

routes. 

We will work with Homes England to develop a more pro-active approach to larger predominantly 

affordable housing developments within the District. 

As a developer we will begin a programme of pro-active site acquisition to accelerate new home 

delivery. 

We will procure a new development partner to support us with the next phase of our newbuild 

programme whilst growing our in house capacity to develop sites directly in the future. 

We will pro-actively seek partnerships that can bring added value to our development aspirations 

157



8 
 

We will continue to appraise section 106 opportunities however we will only bid for properties 

where there is no viable bid from other registered providers. 

We will consider the opportunities within our own programme to develop specialist accommodation 

that is not forthcoming through other programmes. 

We will develop a newbuild specification for our own programme and ensure that Capital funding is 

only provided to schemes with similar high standards. 

 

 

  

158



9 
 

Introduction by Roger Bayliss Portfolio Holder 
This is our first “New Affordable Housing Supply Strategy” within North West Leicestershire and it 

clearly demonstrates our ambition as a housing developer and also an enabler.  

It charts the journey so far in terms of our newbuild programme but more importantly it sets out our 

vision for the future. 

The Newbuild programme is a corporate commitment in its own right directly delivering on our 

priority of ensuring local people live in high quality, affordable homes whilst contributing to our 

ambitions of developing a clean and green district and support for businesses and helping people 

into local jobs.  

Most importantly every house, bungalow and flat we build becomes a home bringing stability and 

the opportunity to set down roots for a member of our community. 

By working effectively with our partners including developers, other affordable housing providers 

Homes England and the County Council we aim to identify and address a wide range of housing 

needs 

We will make the best use of the planning system to deliver affordable homes of the types that we 

need where we need them 

And as a developer we will develop clear priorities setting out what we aim to build and where we 

intend to build it. 

Partnerships are key and it is absolutely critical that we complement those who are already 

developing affordable housing rather than compete with them. 

Finally we need to ensure that we can be responsive to the challenges that we are faced with 

whether they are opportunities or obstacles. We are in a rapidly changing world, during the 

development of this strategy we have had to respond to one of the greatest public health challenges 

the Country has ever faced and also understand the implications of a Planning White Paper which 

promises significant reform to the planning system. This strategy has been written to ensure we can 

respond to these and those issues that are still around the corner.  

Roger 

Purpose 
The Council recognises that it has a role as the strategic housing authority to work to address the 

housing needs of the district. At the same time it has a direct role in the delivery of affordable 

housing as a developing landlord. 

As an organisation that has only recent resumed its development programme it is important that we 

balance our twin roles to ensure that as a provider the development we are involved in compliments 

rather than competes with other developing organisations active within the district. 

This Strategy identifies the Council’s priorities for affordable housing and identifies the actions that 

will be taken to ensure that the right size, type and quality of affordable housing delivered in the 

right places within North West Leicestershire. 

The intention is that by working effectively with partners we are able to increase the overall supply 

to everyone’s benefit. 

159



10 
 

Responding to a cyclical market 
The UK housing market is one that is prone to turbulence from external factors in the short term. 

Whilst the objectives of this strategy are static it is clear that the opportunities and challenges to 

achieve those objectives may change over the lifetime of the strategy. 

As a result a degree of flexibility is built into this strategy and this will follow through into resultant 

activities. 

Planning for the Future White Paper 
In the summer of 2020 the government released a planning White Paper which proposed a number 

of changes to the delivery of affordable housing particularly through the planning system and 

section 106 agreements. Whilst there is a strong likelihood that the mechanism for delivery of 

affordable housing through the planning system will change the priorities identified within this 

strategy are still likely to be applicable. 

What is affordable housing? 

The Affordable Housing Market 
Traditionally affordable housing has been predominantly delivered through a limited number of 

tenures. Usually social rent (the “cheapest,” rented housing, with rents set by a complex formula) 

and more recently affordable rent (capped at 80% of market rents) for those unable or not wanting 

to buy and shared ownership for aspiring home owners who cannot access the market without 

assistance. 

The situation now though is more complex as both Government and developers have sought to 

introduce new tenures to market. Government have been pushing “starter homes,” whilst both 

social and private providers of affordable housing have developed new models to reflect 

opportunities and challenges within the market such as rent to buy and a variety of discounted sale 

products. 

Affordable housing for planning purposes is defined within the National Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF)1. The Government published a revised NPPF in July 2018 which introduced Starter Homes 

into the definition of affordable housing whilst acknowledging secondary legislation in this area may 

follow. The new NPPF also partially removes the need for affordable housing when provided without 

subsidy to remain affordable in perpetuity or for subsidy to be recycled. This change is necessary to 

ensure starter homes fall within the definition but also allows some alternative market lead models 

to qualify. The secondary legislation has not been forthcoming although the amended definition has 

remained.  

A subsequent revision to NPPF dated February 2019 introduced a requirement that 10% of the 

homes on major developments should be affordable home ownership, unless this would exceed the 

level of affordable housing required in the area, or significantly prejudice the ability to meet the 

identified affordable housing needs of specific groups. A limited number of exemptions apply. 

Traditionally affordable housing would be either directly delivered by a social housing provider, 

usually a Local Authority or Housing Association or since the late 1990s, increasingly through 

planning gain and section 106 agreements whereby private developments are obliged to deliver a 

                                                           
1 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728643/
Revised_NPPF_2018.pdf  

160

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728643/Revised_NPPF_2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/728643/Revised_NPPF_2018.pdf


11 
 

proportion of affordable housing as part of their planning permission. Although early section 106 

agreements delivered some affordable homes as restricted floor space dwellings and discounted 

market sale units, most affordable housing through the planning system was purchased by Housing 

Associations at a discount and then either rented or sold on to shared owners. 

In recent years a range of drivers have lead to an increasing number of delivery models that do not 

involve a traditional affordable housing provider. 

Affordable Housing Segmentation 
Most affordable housing products fall within one of three broad categories. 

Affordable and Social Rent 

Affordable housing for rent is traditionally provided at rents below those of comparative private 

rented properties with the rent set in accordance with a government formula. Furthermore such 

homes are let with a greater degree of security than the typical private let although increasingly 

registered providers are moving away from tenancies for life. Although affordable rents are set at a 

higher level than social rents in many cases the tenure is a direct alternative to social rent rather 

than being considered as an intermediate rent. Social and Affordable rented homes are usually 

allocated through a needs based housing register which will have eligibility criteria to ensure that 

homes for the most part go to those who cannot secure long term accommodation through the 

market. 

Affordable Home Ownership 

Affordable Home Ownership is an umbrella term for a range of products that allow households to 

purchase a property at below market levels. Although there are sufficient differences between 

models for some to be more suitable than others depending on a households circumstances, the 

different products are effectively substitutes attracting a broadly similar group of purchasers.  

Revisions to the NPPF published in February 2019 introduced a requirement that “Where major 

development involving the provision of housing is proposed, planning policies and decisions should 

expect at least 10% of the homes to be available for affordable home ownership, unless this would 

exceed the level of affordable housing required in the area, or significantly prejudice the ability to 

meet the identified affordable housing needs of specific groups. 

Whilst there are some exemptions, most notably for wholly affordable schemes the outcome of this 

change, as development works through the system is that between 50 and 70% of homes delivered 

through the section 106 process could be delivered as affordable home ownership. 

Deferred purchase 

Deferred purchase schemes also known as Rent to Buy, allow a household to rent a property usually 

at below market rent allowing the purchaser to save up for a deposit or to build an equity stake in 

the property before purchasing after a period of time. During the housing market downturn of 2008 

a number of homes developed as shared ownership by housing associations were converted to Rent 

to Buy as the demand for shared ownership properties fell. There are however no figures published 

to show how many of those taking homes on a Rent to Buy basis managed to purchase in the end. 

More recently a number of private firms have developed alternative rent to buy models 

underpinned by institutional investment. These do not appear to have gained the traction 

anticipated and so have not impacted on supply or demand significantly. 

Details of the main products are set out in appendix one. 

161



12 
 

Delivery mechanisms 
There are two main routes to delivery of affordable housing, provider lead schemes, and planning 

gain sites. 

Provider Lead Schemes 
A significant level of affordable housing within the District is delivered through Provider Lead 

Schemes. These are sites that are predominantly or exclusively affordable housing schemes and 

usually delivered with a degree of public capital subsidy. The most significant source of such subsidy 

is currently Homes England, the Governments “Housing Accelerator,” an executive non-

departmental public body, sponsored by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government. 

Some schemes do come forward through other capital schemes on occasion as well. 

NWLDC Planning Policy 
An increasing level of affordable housing in recent years has been delivered through planning gain, 

whereby developers as a condition of planning permission are required to deliver a proportion of 

homes as affordable housing. 

Policy H4 of the Council’s local plan2 adopted in November 2017 sets out the policy for securing 

affordable housing on market developments. This ranges from a 30% requirement on greenfield 

sites of 11 or more dwellings in settlements such as Ashby, Castle Donington, Kegworth and 

Measham down to 5% on previously developed land delivering 30 or more dwellings in Donington, 

Coalville, Ibstock and Kegworth. As the thresholds in the new plan are in several circumstances lower 

than the previous policy there is likely to be a reduction over time in the number of affordable units 

delivered through the planning system. 

The table below shows the current target and thresholds for affordable housing by settlement). 

 Adopted Local Plan 

Greenfield Sites Previously Developed 
Land 

Settlement Target Threshold Target  Threshold 

Ashby 30% 11 or more 15% 30 or more 

Castle 
Donington 

30% 11 or more 5% 30 or more 

Greater 
Coalville 

20% 11 or more 5% 30 or more 

Ibstock 20% 11 or more 5% 30 or more 

Kegworth 30% 11 or more 5% 30 or more 

Measham 30% 11 or more 15% 30 or more 

All other 
Areas 

30% 11 or more 5% 30 or more 

 

The Local Plan also includes a policy on affordable housing in rural areas policy H5 which allows for 

affordable housing outside the limits of development in rural areas to meet demonstrated local 

need. 

                                                           
2 
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20State
ment.pdf  

162

https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20Statement.pdf
https://www.nwleics.gov.uk/files/documents/adopted_local_plan_2011_20312/Adopted%20Written%20Statement.pdf


13 
 

The Council has had some success in developing rural exception sites with 8 sites delivered in 6 

villages where a local connection criteria has been secured.  

Current Supply 
Historic Supply 
Whilst affordable housing schemes directly developed by RPs within the district have fluctuated in 

terms of numbers as Homes England and its predecessors have changed their funding criteria, the 

delivery of affordable homes as a result of section 106 agreements has increased over time. The 

table below shows an average of 14 planning gain units per annum between 2001 and 2005 rising to 

86 between 2014 – 2018. 

  

 

However as noted above the new local plan reduces the level of affordable housing required on a 

number of sites due to location or brownfield status and so the contribution of section 106 units to 

affordable housing delivery may have peaked. 

The chart below shows the changing tenure of new affordable housing delivery.  

 

0
20
40
60
80

100
120
140
160
180

Affordable Housing by Delivery Method

Affordable homes delivered through RP’s own delivery

Affordable homes delivered through S106 negotiated sites

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

Delivery by Tenure

Rented Affordable Home Ownership

163



14 
 

Over time there has also been a shift in the nature of rented housing as social rented housing has 

increasingly been substituted by affordable rent. 

The table below shows all affordable housing delivery between April 2008 and March 2018 by 

rented/LCHO split and by delivery mechanism. 

 

As can be seen by the table above rented housing has tended to be smaller units than low cost home 

ownership products with a similar spread of rented houses between RP delivery and section 106. RP 

lead LCHO schemes have tended to be smaller than those delivered by the market though. 

Section 106 Agreements 
Over time there have been changes in demand from affordable housing providers, mostly but not 

exclusively Registered Providers and this has lead to developers insisting on building increasing 

flexibility into section 106 agreements to avoid the situation where sites stall as the affordable 

housing requirement as agreed cannot be delivered.  

This does then provide a degree of choice to the Council as a strategic housing authority when a 

scheme cannot deliver the preferred affordable housing mix. 

In the past solutions have varied from the Council receiving gifted units at nil cost, the conversion of 

rented units to discounted market sale or the provision of a commuted sum in lieu of affordable 

housing on site. 

Whilst demand does currently appear healthier than the recent past for section 106 schemes setting 

out the Council’s preferences does ensure certainty to all parties. 

Section 106 agreements are most effective at delivering accommodation types that integrate well 

with market developments. As the price paid for rented section 106 units is derived from the 

potential rental income additional construction costs such as meeting accessibility standards that are 

not then reflected in rental income will impact on the viability of a scheme. Furthermore as most 

cascade agreements will have a backstop of sale in one form or another developers are reluctant to 

provide units that do not have an open market demand. Therefore although section 106 agreements 

are an effective way of delivering “mainstream,” housing delivering specialist housing is more 

difficult. 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

1 bed Flat 1 bed
House

1 bed
Bungalow

2 bed Flat 2 bed
Bungalow

2 bed
House

3 bed
House

4 bed
House

Affordable housing by delivery mechanism and 
tenure

RP rented RP LCHO 106 Rented 106 LCHO

164



15 
 

Because of the time lag between a permission being granted, section 106 agreements are often 

agreed at outline stage, and development proceeding any changes in approach may take some time 

to impact on delivery. Changes to NPPF in July 2018 requiring 10% of qualifying sites being Low Cost 

Home Ownership has still not impacted on any actual delivery in the district two years later. 

The Planning White Paper proposes changes to the mechanism for delivering affordable housing 

through the planning system. There is a strong likelihood that section 106 will be replaced during the 

lifetime of this strategy however the Council’s priorities for affordable housing will continue to drive 

any negotiations still within our control. 

Council New Supply 
Since 2018 the Council has embarked on a programme of stock acquisition and new build. This has 

been to supplement the delivery by RPs and Private Developers. 

To date the Council has bought back one former right to buy property, received 45 units gifted by 

developers through section 106 agreements as well as purchasing 2 additional 106 units on one of 

the sites. Furthermore it has directly developed 24 units on infill HRA land and entered into a 

partnership with a Homes England registered partner developer to access HE funding for a 24 unit 

scheme in the centre of Coalville on the former Police Station site. 

The Council has signed up to retain Right to Buy receipts as part of the government one for one 

replacement programme.  Through this scheme the council can retain surplus RTB receipts above an 

agreed threshold, on condition that the funds are invested in the new supply of affordable homes, 

and match funding on a 30/70 basis is invested by the council. The funds retained must be used 

within three years, or repaid with interest to MHCLG.   

The Council is currently budgeting for a newbuild programme over the next 5 years of around 

£24million ponds to utilise the right to buy receipts as set out in the table below.  

 

£s 20/21 21/22 22/23 23/24 24/25 Total 

RTB Receipts (30%) 
             
907,342  

                     
1,764,355  

         
1,427,050  

         
1,459,850  

           
1,503,645  

         
7,062,241  

S106 receipts 
             
255,018  

                          
45,570  

                 
3,780    

            
304,368  

HRA/Borrowing 
         
2,648,780  

                     
4,223,159  

         
3,329,783  

         
3,406,316  

           
3,508,505  

       
17,116,543  

Total funding 
requirement 

         
3,811,140  

                     
6,033,084  

         
4,760,612  

         
4,866,165  

           
5,012,150  

       
24,483,152  

 

Furthermore up to £1 million per annum has been identified for purchasing additional units that are 

not eligible for Right to Buy funding such as purchasing section 106 units from developers 

Currently the Council is on site at a development of 8 homes in Coalville on the site of a former 

public house. The site is due for completion in August 2020. 

A pipeline of new schemes has been identified and work is ongoing to bring forward 4 of these for 

start on site in 2020/21. 

 

165



16 
 

Site Indicative Units Estimated value Description 

Queensway, Measham 6 £891,000 Former Council Sheltered Scheme 

Howe Road, Whitwick 16 £2,376,000 Greenfield HRA land 

Woulds Court, Moira 8 £1,188,000 Former Council Sheltered Scheme 

Cedar Grove, Moira 2 £297,000 Former garage site 
 

Affordable Housing Need 

Affordable Housing Need 
The Council’s current affordable housing need figure is set out in the North West Leicestershire Local 

Plan, adopted November 2017. This sets an affordable housing requirement of 199 dwellings a year 

over the period 2011-20313. 

This figure was identified as part of the work on the Housing and Economic Development Needs 

Assessment (HEDNA) for Leicester and Leicestershire Authorities, January 2017. The HEDNA also 

considered the need for housing of different tenures and attempted to quantify the need for 

specialist affordable housing provision4. 

The Government has recently published amendments to the Planning Policy Guidance that provides 

additional guidance on estimating affordable housing need. Although the methodology is broadly in 

line with the approach taken in the HEDNA there is additional detail relating to identifying those in 

need of Low Cost Home Ownership. Furthermore there has been a change to the definition of 

affordable housing widening the range of tenures that meet the definition. 

The HEDNA suggested a tenure split of 80% rented accommodation 20% low cost home ownership 

and provided the broad guidance on property size below. 

 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed  4+ beds 

NWL 30-35% 35-40% 25-30% 5-10% 
 

(Table 57 HEDNA) 

Prior to the amendments in the NPPF mentioned above affordable housing provision was negotiated 

from an evidence lead position with 80% of homes sought as rented and viability testing used this 

assumption to identify deliverable affordable housing targets. However these changes are likely to 

significantly increase the proportion of Affordable Home Ownership delivered through planning 

gain. 

Although not identified within the HEDNA a previous Housing Need study, the 2014 Strategic 

Housing Market Assessment identified that 79% of the then 1 bedroom need arose from older 

households looking to downsize, and thus releasing larger homes. However as the majority of these 

households are likely to be in existing, albeit potentially unsuitable housing any 1 bed units delivered 

to meet these needs will need to be suitably attractive to encourage older households to downsize. 

The fact that like many Local Authorities, North West Leicestershire has undertaken a programme of 

sheltered housing demolition at a time of rising demand for older persons housing demonstrates 

that in the past we have not been successful in this endeavour. 

                                                           
3 Local plan 
4 HEDNA 

166



17 
 

A report commissioned in 2010 for the Leicestershire Housing Market Area Partnership on the 

Housing Needs and Aspirations of Older People in Leicestershire found that certainly amongst 

downsizers there was a strong preference for 2 bed properties for a variety of reasons. As a result 

the level of 1 bed “need,” identified above needs to be considered in the context of potential 

demand. 

The HEDNA considers both existing and newly arising need at a District level. Whilst this provides a 

strategic level target it is useful to understand the comparative demand across both geography and 

property type whilst acknowledging there can be a degree flow between each. Utilising a combination 

of housing register information and the results from rural housing needs surveys we can derive 

comparative current demand to refine our understanding pf needs patterns.  

Whilst it is easy to assume the housing register will reflect demand for affordable housing there are a 

number of external factors that mean this is an oversimplification. 

 Firstly the housing register is an indication of demand for rented housing only 

 Secondly studies such as HEDNA are forecasting the newly emerging need several years into the 
future based on demographic changes. The register can only provide a snapshot of eligible 
households seeking accommodation at a point in time. 
 

With the caveats identified above the Housing Register is still the most appropriate data source 

available for forecasting current demand for rented housing at lower levels of geography in the 

absence of a traditional housing needs survey. The register provides us with both a first choice area 

for each household but also by looking at lettings and bidding data it is possible to draw some 

conclusions about comparative demand. 

Whilst there will always be a degree of substitution between property types and location as 

households seek to meet their housing need it is useful to use the data that is available to inform 

decisions around development.  

By considering three types of household across broad market areas we can begin to understand the 

comparative need for affordable rented housing within the district. 

 Emerging households are those newly forming either as a result of children leaving the parental 
home or as a result of changing relationships and will be met by smaller units like one and 2 
bedroom flats. 

 Growing households are families with children and will need traditional houses with 2, 3 or 4 
bedrooms. 

 Consolidating households are those who are downsizing as family members move on into their 
own independent homes and will tend to be older people requiring age appropriate flats and 
bungalows 
 

The table below utilises housing register data to derive the comparative demand of unit types by area. 

Coalville and Ashby, make up over 55% of the demand in the district. The remaining settlements are 

split between North East and South West villages as indicated on the map below  

Settlement Emerging Growing Consolidating  key  
Coalville 21.00% 5.71% 10.70%  <1%   

Ashby 8.26% 2.45% 8.46%  1-2%   

Castle Donington 3.47% 0.71% 3.16%  2-4%   

Whitwick 2.96% 0.61% 3.67%  4-8%   

167



18 
 

Ibstock 3.57% 0.51% 2.96%  8-10%   

Measham 2.14% 0.71% 1.22%  10+ %   

South West Villages 5.10% 1.63% 4.49%    
North East Villages 3.16% 1.43% 1.94%    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Specialist accommodation 
Meeting the Need for Specialist Housing 

Specialist Housing is a broad term that describes a wide range of models of accommodation where 

additional services or facilities are provided. This will usually be through specialist features within a 

home such as building or adapting to an accessible standard or through additional services and 

support for people who are not able to live independently.  

The demand for accommodation for differing client groups is considered below as well as a summary 

of opportunities to meet these needs. 

Following a period of hiatus in the development of this type new supported accommodation whilst 

the government clarified the future funding model for revenue costs, we have recently seen more 

clarity, and new supported development proposals beginning to come forward again. 

North East Villages 

South West Villages 

168



19 
 

The position of our strategic partner in this area, Leicestershire County Council has also become 

clearer, as they have articulated their ambitions to become a direct landlord of new supported living 

schemes through a Local Housing Company, established to hold the properties and provide landlord 

services.  In the initial transitional period as this approach is embedded, close working with a partner 

Registered Provider which will allow schemes to be commissioned and managed.  We are actively 

supporting this new approach and working with the County Council to identify opportunities for joint 

working through acquisitions and joint development to spread risks where appropriate. 

Where appropriate we will also engage with host communities to ensure specialist provision can 

integrate with but also benefit the wider community. 

Housing for people with Learning Disabilities 

The Transforming Care Programme is a National Plan that has been established to ensure that 

people with a Learning Disabilities and/or Autism, who are in hospital settings, are moved into the 

community wherever possible.   

The Leicester, Leicestershire & Rutland Transforming Care Accommodation Strategy 2017-2021 aims 

to determine the housing needs of the current cohort of people who fall under the remit of the 

Transforming Care Programme as well as to project the numbers that will need accommodation in 

the future.  

There is a wide range of housing models that can meet the needs of people with learning disabilities. 

Whilst there has rightly been a move away from institutional settings there are still benefits from 

well planned group schemes due to the potential to provide shared facilities such as day rooms and 

office space. Furthermore clustering service users whilst maintaining independence can generate 

economies of scale when commissioning care. 

Conversely the drive for community based services together with advances in assistive technologies 

allow for dispersed and very flexible accommodation options. 

Hub and spoke models allow for the benefits of both. 

As a result it will be necessary to work with the County Council to identify the likely pipeline of 

demand so that we can plan accordingly. This will also provide an opportunity for the County Council 

to identify and plan to resource the likely support needs of people moving into new accommodation. 

The County Council has identified a gap between supply and demand of around 200 units of 

supported living accommodation both now and into the future. Whilst the shortfall reduces over the 

next two years as pipeline schemes complete growing demand shows an increase from that point 

forward. 

They identify particular gaps in Transitions Accommodation for 16-25 year olds and those with 

complex needs. 

Homes for Older People 

The Retirement Housing sector (from age-restricted over-55 housing to housing with care*), 

currently comprises 725,000 homes, which equates to c.2.6% of the total housing stock in the UK. 

According to the latest EAC data, around 23% of retirement stock is private housing. A recent survey 

conducted for Retirement Homesearch, a retirement property specialist said that “19% of over-50’s 

believe it ‘likely’ that they’ll spend their autumn years in a purpose-built retirement community”. 

This highlights the gap between current supply and projected demand for retirement housing in the 

UK. 

169



20 
 

An aging population will create increasing challenges for housing providers with the number of 

people aged 90 or over is set to almost double in the next 10 years. 

Ensuring designs of new homes are age aware will ensure new supply is flexible to meet a range of 

needs. SCIEs “The 100-year life: the role of housing, planning and design,” recommends 90% of new 

homes be built to accessibility standards M4(2) and 10% built to the enhanced M4(3) standards. 

Housing provision that meets the needs of older people also has significant benefits to their health 
and wellbeing while easing social care and NHS budgets. Properly adapted and energy efficient  
housing can reduce the need for social care and improve wellbeing. However, the central dilemma 
we encountered concerned the problem and cost of delivering care services to older people in more 
remote locations. Care agencies report difficulties in recruitment and local authorities face extra  
costs for transport and unproductive time in providing domiciliary support to rural communities. 
However small scale provision in large numbers of villages would often be the preferred solution for 
those who otherwise simply refuse to take the step of moving from unsuitable properties. 
There are real advantages in meeting local requirements within village settings: these can enable 
continued support from family and friends, with consequent savings to the State. Small projects for a 
few (relatively high density) bungalows could assist those moving from agricultural dwellings, 
housing association and local authority family houses, and owner–occupied homes that no longer 
served their purpose. Purpose–built accommodation for those “right–sizing” could preserve 
independence and reduce the need for care and support. Currently there are 197 applications on the 
housing register where all members are over the age of 60. 
 
The development of specialist housing has reduced over time whilst the population of over 65s has 

increased. The development of new accommodation-based schemes currently occurs at the rate of 

15% of the actual demand5. Increasingly the emphasis is on enabling older people to continue to live 

at home by adapting their physical environments and providing additional services to assist them to 

"stay put". This principle places a particular focus on social landlords given the concentration of this 

and wider social need within social housing stock of all types. 

The County Council have forecast that the number of people aged 65 or over who are unable to 

manage at least one mobility activity on their own in Leicestershire will increase 64% from 25,035 in 

2017 to 41,082 in 2035. Whilst those unable to manage at least one domestic task on their own will 

increase 59% from 55,629 ro 88,531 over the same period.6 

Between 2019 and 2035 the County council have predicted that the number of people living in 

Leicestershire with dementia will increase by 80% to 17,028 by 2035.  

Although a number of bungalows and flats suitable for older people have been built in recent years 

it is some time since a specialist affordable older persons scheme has been developed in the District. 

To address this fact the provision of an Extra Care scheme in Ashby has been negotiated as part of a 

section 106 agreement. Because of the additional costs involved in developing such a scheme for 

both capital and revenue funding this has been a long term ambition that started on site in Autumn 

2019 over 4 years after discussions began. The scheme will be funded by a combination of developer 

subsidy through the provision of land, Homes England and Local Authority funding to top up 

borrowing by EMH. 

                                                           
5 https://www.supportsolutions.co.uk/briefing/issue_12/silver_surge.html 
6 Leicestershire County Council Social Care Accommodatin Investment Prospectus 2019-2037 

170

https://www.supportsolutions.co.uk/briefing/issue_12/silver_surge.html


21 
 

The scheme comprises 65 one and two bedroom apartments specifically designed to enable residnts 
to live independently with 24 hour support on site, and personalised care and support packages 
available as and when needed. 

All the apartments are designed to allow wheelchairs and mobility aids to be used. The front 
entrance has a video door entry system, and each apartment also has its own secure entrance.  

Accommodation for people with social care needs 

The County sets out in its prospectus “Building accommodation to meet the needs of people in 
Leicestershire,”7 a number of priorities for development across Leicestershire over the next three 
years. In summary these are 

Type of Scheme 2021 2022 2023 

Extra Care   100 units 100 units 

Supported Living 70 units 50 units 30 units 

Transitions Accommodation 6 units 6 units 6 units 

Transforming Care / 
Complex 4 units 4 units 4 units 

Dementia Unit   20 units   

Assessment Provision 10 units     

 

Adapted Housing 

The 2011 Census reported that in Leicestershire there were: 267,434 households; 63,613 households 

(24% of the total) had one person in the household with a long-term health. 

When joining the housing register applicants are able to self-assess against 3 criteria. The numbers 

self assessing are shown below  

Self Assessment Category  

Requires single level accommodation 121 

Requires single level accommodation and level access shower 124 

Requires wheelchair accessible accommodation 14 

 

Currently the need for more suitable properties is met through either moving households to more 

appropriate accommodation, although the number of mobility friendly homes especially larger 

families are limited, or by carrying out adaptations to an existing property. 

                                                           
7 https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/adult-social-care-and-health/working-with-the-council/building-
accommodation-to-meet-the-needs-of-people-in-leicestershire  

171

https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/adult-social-care-and-health/working-with-the-council/building-accommodation-to-meet-the-needs-of-people-in-leicestershire
https://resources.leicestershire.gov.uk/adult-social-care-and-health/working-with-the-council/building-accommodation-to-meet-the-needs-of-people-in-leicestershire


22 
 

In the first quarter of 2020/21 the Council had already identified works in excess of the annual 

adaptations budget.  

Traditionally the majority of adaptations work was carried out on smaller older persons 

accommodation however in recent years there has been a shift toward improvements to family 

housing. 

Each year the Council provides around 5 ground floor extensions to create a ground floor living space 

for a resident with severe mobility issues. Despite the expense these rarely provide an ideal 

environment and still fall short of modern accessibility standards. Furthermore there is a shortage of 

family homes suitable for such adaptations. 

Properties with level access showers, and 1200mm wide paths to allow wheelchair access/egress are 

particularly in demand and often not cost effective to adapt and internal layouts can make some 

properties, even bungalows unsuitable for wheelchair users. 

In fill development would allow for accessible properties to be built close to amenities and 

community support. 

Other supported accommodation 

Foyers  

In recent years there has been a reduction in supported accommodation schemes such as Foyers 

which are designed to meet the needs of younger people who need assistance with independence. 

Although the County Council has commissioned some provision for 16 and 17 year olds there is little 

specialist provision once people turn 18 despite anecdotal evidence of need. 

Refuges 

Refuges are another type of specialist provision which has seen their capacity reduced in recent 

years despite people fleeing domestic violence consistently appearing in the top 3 causes of 

homelessness. There was a real concern that the proposed changes to funding for short term 

supported accommodation would lead to even further erosion of such provision although the 

Government has recently withdrawn their proposals in this area. 

Other groups 

As a result of the “Everybody In,” response to Covid 19 the shortage of specialist accommodation for 

people with complex needs has risen up the agenda. Whilst there is insufficient need from North 

West alone to warrant specialist provision if a suitable opportunity arose there is likely to be 

sufficient demand for a sub-regional scheme although the success of any such provision is likely to 

depend upon revenue funding.  

Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation 

The Leicester City and Leicestershire Gypsy, Traveller and Travelling Showpeople Accommodation 

Assessment 20178 identified the need for 36 transit caravan spaces (or managed equivalent) spread 

over 2-3 sites elsewhere in Leicestershire. Transit sites are normally delivered as affordable housing 

often through HCA funding and managed by Local Authorities as subsidy is necessary for such 

schemes to be deliverable. 

                                                           
8 https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/183586/gypsy-traveller-and-travelling-showpeople-
accommodation-assessment-report.pdf 

172

https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/183586/gypsy-traveller-and-travelling-showpeople-accommodation-assessment-report.pdf
https://www.leicester.gov.uk/media/183586/gypsy-traveller-and-travelling-showpeople-accommodation-assessment-report.pdf


23 
 

Rural Housing 
For over 15 years NWLDC have been actively involved in the Leicestershire Rural Partnership 

whereby they have jointly funded a rural enabling service to help deliver rural affordable housing in 

the district. 

To facilitate this a 5 year rolling survey of rural villages is carried out to ensure an up to date 

evidence base of need. This evidence base can then support planning applications for rural exception 

sites under policy H5 of the local plan. 

The table below shows the survey results that identified a need in excess of 5 units. All of the North 

West villages are covered by 32 surveys which have currently identified a need for 116 rural homes 

in total.  

Settlement(s) 
Year of 
survey 

Total Affordable 
Housing Need 

Total Rented 
Need 

Total Shared 
Ownership 

Need 

Ashby Woulds Town Council 
(including Moira, Albert Village, 
Overseal)  

2018 24 19 5 

Donisthorpe 2018 11 7 4 

Long Whatton 2016 10 4 6 

Appleby Magna 2016 9 7 2 

Belton 2016 7 5 2 

Diseworth 2016 7 5 2 

Swannington 2016 7 4 3 

Oakthorpe 2018 6 4 2 

 

Rural exception sites deliver affordable housing for people connected to the village. This means that 

it is important that future lettings are to eligible households both in terms of connection to the 

village and affordable housing need. As a result it is only appropriate to deliver exception site homes 

through a recognised provider of affordable housing to ensure that the conditions remain in 

perpetuity 

Need for Affordable Home Ownership 
The HEDNA identified the level of need for Affordable Home Ownership at40 units per annum for 

the District. 

As there is a degree of substitution between products this can be met in a number of ways. Most 

purchasers of Affordable Home Ownership products do have a degree of choice and could instead 

select Private Renting and so need is more closely aligned to demand than affordable rented homes. 

Existing Home Owners Experiencing Difficulties 

Whilst the majority of affordable home ownership products are targeted at first time buyers there 

have been a number of programmes particularly at times of market downturn, to support existing 

home owners falling into difficulty including flexible shared ownership models.  

173



24 
 

It is difficult to identify the demand/need for such schemes though as there are a number of 

variables that impact on whether such options are viable for both the occupier and housing 

provider. 

Standards of Affordable Housing 
Traditionally the majority of affordable housing developed in the UK was built to the Homes and 

Communities Agency Housing Quality Indicators (HQI) standards even where the HCA was not the 

primary delivery agency. These were a set of 10 prescriptive criteria that set out expectations for 

affordable housing above and beyond those required for Building Regulations.  

As a result of the deregulation agenda these standards were dropped as a national requirement.  

The Council is committed however to developing high quality homes and will develop a newbuild 

specification that reflects this aspiration and strives for the highest design and build standards 

economically achievable. 

Particular attention will be paid to how we can support the Council’s Carbon Commitment through 

the newbuild programme. 

Furthermore where capital funding is provided to partners to deliver affordable housing similar 

expectations will be a pre-requisite of such funding. 

How we will plug the gap 

Delivery Against Identified Need 
The table below shows delivery against the need identified in the HEDNA since 2011-12.  

There has been a shortfall in rented units in every year with only 55% of the required need delivered 

over the 9 year period. By contrast 78% of the affordable Home Ownership need has been met and 

over the 5 year period 2013-14 to 2017-18 this need was met. 

 

  
Culm 
Rent 

Culm 
AHO 

Rent 
shortage 

AHO 
shortage 

2011-12 44 16 116 24 

2012-13 104 47 216 33 

2013-14 229 73 251 47 

2014-15 306 113 334 47 

2015-16 393 152 407 48 

2016-17 489 196 471 44 

2017-18 581 248 539 32 

2018-19 685 261 595 59 

2019-20 794 281 646 79 

 

What We Will Do About The Gap 
The table above illustrates the fact that whilst there is a shortfall in affordable housing across both 

rented and Affordable Home Ownership the level of delivery against need for rented units is 

significantly lower than Affordable Home Ownership. 

174



25 
 

It is also likely that the changes to NPPF requiring 10% of major developments to be Affordable 

Home Ownership will over time increase the proportion of units of this tenure delivered through 

planning gain. As a result a key priority for Council support will be increasing the delivery of rented 

accommodation.  

It is unlikely that the Council has capacity to fully meet the current shortfall and so we will need to 

continue to act as a strategic enabler and work with partners to increase delivery of affordable 

housing across the district. Furthermore there will be opportunities to use our resources to both 

increase overall delivery but also ensure a better strategic fit. 

Given the current focus on Affordable Home Ownership from Central Government through both 

planning policy and the Affordable Homes Programme administered by Homes England the Council 

is likely to play a more direct role in the delivery of affordable rented homes. 

As strategic enabler 
As a strategic housing enabler there are a number of actions that we can take to support an 

increased and improved delivery of more affordable housing. Whilst we will continue to identify 

opportunities to enhance our enabling role areas for prioritisation are discussed below. 

Better use of 106s 
As discussed previously, section 106 agreements are an effective mechanism for delivering 

traditional housing products through planning gain. Between 2000/01 and 2019/20 57% of new 

affordable housing in the district has been delivered in this way.  

The rent reduction announced in July 2015 lead to a significant reduction in demand for section 106 

homes and as a result the cascade mechanisms within these agreements came under increased 

scrutiny. By standardising the approach to future cascades the Council can ensure that even where a 

site does not deliver the preferred policy compliant affordable housing mix the opportunity to 

respond to local needs is not compromised.  

As the Council, as strategic housing authority negotiate the affordable housing provision within the 

section 106 agreement the onus on ensuring that the affordable housing scheme is attractive to 

prospective bidding rests with the Council. Whilst the Council has recently bid for a number of 

section 106 sites it is important that we act in an objective manner and ensure that negotiations are 

informed by both need and the likely demand from a range of potential bidders 

Currently there is a clear preference from RPs for family housing with many expressing reservations 

about taking on sites with a significant number of one bedroom units. In terms of these smaller units 

there is a strong preference for designs that minimise the amount of communal space and as a result 

management issues and service charges. 

Whilst we will do everything we can to ensure that there is a market for the affordable units on 

section 106 sites there may be circumstances where there is still interested RP. In such 

circumstances the Councils preference for a cascade are: 

 Optimal Offer 

 Gifted Units 

 Commuted Sum 

 Discounted Market Sale 
 

175



26 
 

Whilst this is indicative of the usual preferred hierarchy agreements will be drafted to allow the 

Council to vary these at their discretion to reflect individual circumstances. 

An explanation for each is set out below 

Optimal Offer 

Section 106 agreements are usually negotiated as part of an outline planning permission and so a 

developer or land owner will often not have an RP in place at the time of signing. Furthermore 

assumptions will have been made about income to be received for the affordable housing at the 

time of securing the outline permission. 

If at the time of delivery the developer cannot contract on a policy compliant affordable housing 

scheme, and viability issues can be demonstrated then the Council’s preference is for an “optimal 

offer.” In these circumstances the developer in discussion with potential purchasers should identify a 

mix that can be delivered through either reducing the overall level of affordable housing and/or 

switching tenure of a proportion of units to improve overall viability. Preference will be given to 

schemes that maximise the delivery of rented units. 

Gifted Units 

There were a number of situations in the immediate aftermath of the rent reduction where 

developers were not able to secure providers who wished to take on the affordable housing. In a 

number of circumstances the Council agreed to a reduced number of units on the scheme which 

were then transferred to the council as affordable housing provision at no cost. Whilst the demand 

for section 106 units from RP’s has increased again and there have been no recent approaches from 

developers unable to secure an RP, but gifted units are still an option that will ensure delivery of a 

proportion of rented units where a more advantageous optimal offer cannot be agreed. 

Commuted sums 
Commuted sums are payments made by developers in lieu of affordable housing delivery on site. 

Whilst the Council’s priority will normally be for affordable housing to be delivered on site there will 

be situations where this is not possible.  

When will a commuted sum be considered? 

In some circumstances site viability will be such that no affordable housing can be provided. In this 

situation the commuted sum sought will be the maximum that an independent expert deems 

affordable. 

There will also be situations where there is an affordable housing requirement but the development 

does not lend itself to on site delivery such as private retirement villages or build to rent schemes. 

In these circumstances a robust approach to quantifying the expected payment will be required and 

the contribution should at the very least provide sufficient resource to develop sufficient homes to 

offset what should have been delivered on site. 

Calculation of commuted sum  

As mentioned above there will be situations where a commuted sum is provided because of viability 
issues with the site. In these circumstances the level of payment will be set by an independent 
surveyor.  

As part of the preparatory work for the local plan the Council commissioned Cushman and Wakefield 
to test the viability of the plan. To do this they made assumptions on the level of discount that a 
developer would expect to provide for affordable housing developed on site. They concluded that 

176



27 
 

for Social Rented units RPs would offer 35% of OMV, for Affordable Rent, 45% and for shared 
ownership 60%. 

As 106 units are intended to be self funding from the resultant income stream we can therefore 
assume that an RP will require subsidy of 65% of OMV for social rented units, 55% for Affordable 
rent and 40% for shared ownership. 

By making assumptions about a notional on site mix of affordable housing a figure can be calculated 
having regard to these levels of discount and the OMV of units on site. Where the development does 
not have appropriate unit types a 2 bed town house in the location of the site in question will be 
used as a proxy for valuation purposes.   

Discounted Market Sale 
The Council’s preference for LCHO is as shared ownership because there can be flexibility in the 

share purchased and in most instances a social housing provider to act as custodian of the property, 

and future sales.  

Furthermore there can be difficulties for homeowners securing mortgages on such products due to a 

lack of consistency in provision leading to a cautious approach from lenders. With no provider 

involved in the transaction, monitoring resales and ensuring such homes continue to meet an 

affordable housing need is also problematic.  Whilst the Council will consider discounted market sale 

where no RP is forthcoming for the Affordable Home Ownership the Council will only accept 

Discounted Market Sale where there is no viable alternative. 

To ensure that the property meets a genuine affordable housing need it is expected that the level of 

discount will be set having regard to both lower quartile incomes and lower quartile house prices in 

the locality of the site. Furthermore there should be no incentive for the developer to seek 

Discounted Market Sale over other tenures simply to inflate their capital receipt for the affordable 

housing unless they can demonstrate an issue of viability. 

Other models of affordable housing 
The council is committed to delivering affordable housing that is affordable in perpetuity and 

continues to meet housing need or allows the recycling of subsidy. This is most effectively achieved 

by developing products where an affordable housing provider has control over the allocation of 

properties.  

When considering other tenures or models of provision the Council will ensure these are on 

comparative terms to affordable rented and shared ownership both in terms of affordability but also 

in terms of meeting an affordable housing need in perpetuity. 

Financial support to Registered Providers 
The Council has some capital funding available to support the delivery of affordable housing. This is 

often received in lieu of affordable housing delivered by private developers but may arise from other 

capital receipts.  

This money can be used to support direct council delivery or other development partners working in 

the district. 

Such monies can be used to pump prime sites so that they are suitably attractive for more 

substantial Homes England Funding or be used to bring forward schemes that would not meet 

Homes England strategic priorities. 

177



28 
 

There is a trade off then between lower levels of support used as leverage which will predominantly 

deliver more traditional housing products or significantly higher levels of support to bring forward 

more specialist units that would not meet vfm criteria for other funding.  

The Council has taken a pro-active approach to supporting RP development in the district in the past 

and has provided financial support to a number of RPs to ensure development within North West 

Leicestershire. 

The Council is making a capital contribution of £1.25m to EMH to ensure the delivery of the Extra 

Care scheme in Ashby and in recent years the Council has supported RPs to deliver 204 new homes 

at an average contribution of £8,815 per unit. 

The Council will continue to offer financial support to registered providers and maintain ongoing 

dialogue with developing RPs to ensure they are aware of our strategic priorities whilst encouraging 

and supporting them to remain active in our district. Our priority will be to support schemes that 

meet needs which are not easily met through other routes. 

Working with Homes England 
As a strategic housing authority NWLDC are required to provide strategic support to RP bids when 

seeking Homes England funding. 

The Housing Strategy team work closely with the developing associations active within the district to 

ensure that proposals that they bring forward compliment existing provision and meet the future 

demands as forecast. 

Equally though we are realistic about the constraints within which they work and the need for 

proposals to meet the wider priorities of Homes England and so acknowledge that proposals may at 

times need to be best fit rather than perfect fit. 

We encourage RPs to approach us at the earliest possible stage in working up development 

proposals to allow us the maximum opportunity to support the development and maximise the best 

fit. 

Currently there are a number of providers developing proposals for larger affordable housing lead 

scheme in the North West area. We are having strategic discussions with Homes England to ensure 

they understand the opportunities and challenges larger scale development can present to allow 

better co-ordination of such schemes. 

We will continue to work with all stakeholders to allow us to be more pro-active when dealing with 

such opportunities going forward. 

We will involve our local RP development partners in developing priorities to ensure that we can add 

value to developments within our district. 

Council Delivery 

Site Identification 
One of the biggest challenges facing the Council when progressing a development pipeline is the 

availability of land. The majority of Council direct development to date has been on infill 

development within HRA land holdings but such sites are often small and with constraints that are 

often the reason they remain undeveloped. 

Of the 6 HRA sites developed to date 5 of them delivered just 13 units between them.  

178



29 
 

A number of potential sites are currently on hold due to a restriction on development within the 

catchment of the River Mease and significant activity on site finding within our ownership has lead 

to a significant number of sites discounted out of hand and a small number of potential sites 

warranting further investigation but with limited capacity for development.  

Whilst infill development will continue to have a role to play alongside estate and environmental 

improvements to increase the scale of delivery to meet the Council’s aspirations a pro-active 

programme of site acquisitions will be commenced. 

This will allow us to direct our focus in areas of identified need and increase our scale of delivery 

which in turn should enhance value for money. 

Delivery  
The first phases of the Council’s newbuild programme were delivered directly by the Council 

identifying sites and then procuring a development partner to build on our behalf. 

The initial procurement has now expired and work is underway to procure a replacement. A range of 

options through framework arrangements are currently being explored. 

We intend to procure a replacement contractor by the Autumn with the aim of securing a contract 

that allows flexibility as opportunities arise whilst providing continuity to build up relationships over 

a number of phases of development. 

At the same time we are also looking to develop capacity inhouse to begin construction with our 

own labour force. 

The Council will begin a pilot programme as direct developer in the next phase of the newbuild 

programme with the ambition to take the lead in the majority of newbuild over time. 

Partnership opportunities 
The Council developed the Police Station site in Coalville in partnership with Countryside 

Developments. Countryside are a Homes England Investment Partner who had secured funding for 

the scheme. As they are not a landlord themselves their developments are always done in 

partnership. The Council as the ultimate stock holder became the final recipient of the grant funding. 

The Council will continue to explore partnering arrangements with other organisations that can 

bring added value to development alongside our direct development. 

Furthermore the Council will explore the opportunities for partnership arrangements with existing 

housebuilders where opportunities to secure homes originally intended as market housing are 

advantageous to both parties. 

Planning Gain 
The Council has in the past taken receipt of gifted units where no RP was willing or able to make a 

viable offer for the scheme and has more recently begun to make offers for some section 106 sites 

when approached by developers. Currently there are two sites where the Council is the preferred 

Registered Provider and is expected to become landlord. 

Both of these sites were small and unattractive to other partners because of the diseconomies of 

scale in management. This will be less of an issue for the Council. It is important however that by 

joining the market for section 106 schemes the council doesn’t simply inflate the value of such 

schemes pushing out existing partners. 

179



30 
 

Whilst section Right to Buy one for one money cannot usually be used to fund section 106 purchases 

as they are not delivering additional affordable housing, some local authorities have used the 

funding once there has been no offer made under normal circumstances and the units would 

otherwise be lost as affordable housing. Such an approach would increase the available resources to 

fund acquisitions although the pipeline of potential schemes will be dependent on the activity of 

other partners. 

On all of the planning gain sites the Council has secured units to date an agreement has been 

reached with the developer to deliver the entire affordable housing element as rented units. Now 

that the NPPF specifies a proportion of a site to be delivered as Affordable Home Ownership there 

will be a need to address this when negotiating for such sites in future. 

Ad-Hoc Purchases 
Whilst in recent years the majority of new affordable housing has been brought forward through 

new development there are opportunities to increase the affordable stock by changing the tenure of 

market homes.  

To facilitate open market acquisitions delegation has been granted to the Head of Housing to bid on 

properties at auction within pre-defined parameters. To date bids have been placed on one property 

that had been subject to a financial appraisal but the level of offer was significantly below the 

successful bid. 

Because of the wider benefits of bringing empty properties back into use a pilot project was 

undertaken to engage with property owners with a view to purchasing as housing stock. However no 

suitable property could be identified. 

There may also be situations where we are approached by an existing owner occupier who has fallen 

into difficulty who is seeking a “mortgage rescue.” These will be appraised on a case by case basis. 

Where a former tenant has exercised their right to buy  and wishes to sell within the first ten years 

there is a right of first refusal for the Council. Each property is appraised when the Council is 

approached but as the majority are offered at full market value their impact on the HRA business 

plan is often negative. 

Whilst ad-hoc purchases are unlikely to be a significant source of new supply to the Council such 

purchases do offer opportunities to address wider social issues, acquire stock in areas where no 

other opportunities may exist and can acquire homes in a much shorter timeframe than traditional 

development and so opportunities that are identified will continue to be assessed on their merits. 

Other Strategic Considerations 
Value for Money 
The Council is committed to becoming more active in the development market. However it is 

important that when investing in new housing the Council can demonstrate value for money.  

On 9th January 2019 a report was taken to Policy Development Group on the Value for Money of the 

newbuild programme.  This concluded the programme has delivered environmental and 

regeneration benefits to the local estate / neighbourhood, as well as delivering a significant long 

term benefit to the HRA.   

 

When appraising in house development opportunities the Council will assess value for money 

against alternative provision through other local partners. Where RP partners are better placed to 

180



31 
 

deliver the Council will continue to support RPs through access to funding and land deemed surplus 

by the Council. 

Design Standards 
As an authority NWLDC place a high value on good design. Nowhere is high quality design more 

crucial than for affordable housing where use of space is of a premium and layout and the use of 

open space can impact on the viability of schemes because of the implications of service charges.  

The Council has/will develop guidelines on affordable housing on section 106 sites to inform 

developers at initial design stage of what is likely to be acceptable to the council and secure interest 

from RPs.  

Meeting Specialist Needs 
The Council will work with the County Council to develop an evidence base for specialist affordable 

housing. Alongside this needs information we will work with a range of stakeholders to better 

understand the requirements of specialist housing so that we are able to robustly advocate such 

provision as part of wider developments.  

Furthermore where identified specialist needs cannot be met through other funding routes the 

Council will priories these areas for direct intervention either within the development programme or 

through support to partners. 

Rural Affordable Housing 
The Council will continue to work collaboratively with local partners to ensure a rolling programme 

of housing needs surveys are carried out 

Carbon Impact 
The Carbon impact of new development is not just the energy efficiency of a home during its 

lifetime. Construction itself is a significant source of carbon emissions. As a result the Council will 

explore opportunities to minimise and mitigate the whole carbon impact of its development 

programme. 

Summary of Actions 
The strategy has identified a number of priority actions to support the Council’s ambition to increase 

and improve affordable housing supply. 

We will work with the County Council to understand the levels of need for specialist housing within 

the district 

We will develop a clear and transparent approach to section 106 agreements, in particular how we 

will deal with situations where a developer cannot provide a policy compliant on site affordable 

housing scheme. 

The Council will continue to offer financial support to registered providers developing in the district. 

Our priority will be to support schemes that meet needs which are not easily met through other 

routes. 

We will work with Homes England to develop a more pro-active approach to larger predominantly 

affordable housing developments within the District. 

As a developer we will begin a programme of pro-active site acquisition to accelerate new home 

delivery. 

181



32 
 

We will procure a new development partner to support us with the next phase of our newbuild 

programme whilst growing our in house capacity to develop sites directly in the future. 

We will pro-actively seek partnerships that can bring added value to our development aspirations 

We will continue to appraise section 106 opportunities however we will only bid for properties 

where there is no viable bid from other registered providers. 

We will consider the opportunities within our own programme to develop specialist accommodation 

that is not forthcoming through other programmes. 

We will develop a newbuild specification for our own programme and ensure that Capital funding is 

only provided to schemes with similar high standards. 

  

182



33 
 

Appendix One – Low Cost Home Ownership Products 
Shared Ownership 

One of the most common is shared ownership whereby a would be homeowner purchases a 

proportion of a property from a registered provider either with savings or through a mortgage and 

then usually pays rent on the remaining share. Such arrangements will be at a lower overall cost 

than outright purchase. 

Discounted Market Sale 

Discounted Market Homes are properties that are sold outright but at a fixed discount from the 

open market value with a charge attached to the title that ensures future sales remain below market 

value and the property is only sold to others in housing need.  

Starter Homes 

Starter Homes as a specific product were first mooted towards the end of 2014 as a route to home 

ownership for those under 40. Subsequent detail was added to the scheme which would help first 

time buyers between 23 and 40 with a household income of £80,000 or less (£90,000 in London) buy 

new-build properties at a discount of at least 20%, for which the discounted price is less than 

£450,000 in London but £250,000 everywhere else in England. 

It is unclear as to the future of starter homes considering the intention to introduce “First Homes” 

First Homes 

First Homes are homes delivered as part of new developments sold with a discount of at least 30 

percent. They will be sold to people unable to access owner occupation through the market and 

there will be an element of local connection attached in most cases. First-time buyers, serving 

members and veterans of the Armed Forces, and key workers, such as nurses, police and teachers 

are likely to be prioritised. The discount will be passed on to future buyers when First Homes are 

resold protecting discounts in perpetuity. 

 

 

183



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

PROCUREMENT OF HOUSING NEW BUILD 
CONTRACTOR 
 

Presented by Councillor Roger Bayliss 
Housing, Property and Customer Services Portfolio Holder 
 

Background Papers None Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications This procurement would cover up to £17m expenditure over 
a three year period 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Legal Implications Advice on procurement has been sought from the Corporate 
Procurement Officer. Further advice from legal services will 
be sought prior to entering into contract 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

There are no direct staffing implications. This proposal 
supports Council Deliver Plan priorities 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service:  Yes 
 
 

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to procure contractor support for 
the newbuild programme over the next 3 years. 

Reason for Decision To allow the Council to be compliant with the Procurement 
Rules within the Constitution. 

Recommendations THAT CABINET:  
 
1. APPROVES THE PROCUREMENT OF (A) 
CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTOR(S) FOR THE DURATION 
OF THE CURRENT 3 YEAR PROPOSED NEWBUILD 
PROGRAMME 
 
2. DELEGATEs AUTHORITY TO THE STRATEGIC 
DIRECTOR OF HOUSING AND CUSTOMER SERVICES IN 
CONSULTATION WITH THE SECTION 151 OFFICER AND 
RELEVANT PORTFOLIO HOLDER TO SELECT 
CONTRACTORS AS NECCESARY TO DELIVER THE 
PROGRAMME THROUGH LEGALLY COMPLIANT 
FRAMEWORK/DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEMS  

 
1. BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  On 10 November 2015 a report was taken to Cabinet providing an update on the new 

build work to date and seeking approval for 3 schemes to be included in the initial new 
build programme. 

 

185

Agenda Item 10.



 

1.2 These schemes were described as: 

 Willesley Estate Sites x 2 (3 no. 1 bed units 4 no. 2 bed units) 

 Greenacres Colaville (4 no. 1 bed units and 6 no. 2 bed units) 

 The Brownfield Site, Coalville (4 no. 1 bed units 8 no. 2 bed units)  
  

1.3 A subsequent report was agreed by Cabinet on 17th January 2017 providing delegated 
authority for the Director of Housing to award the construction contract for the 
newbuild programme phase 1 and potentially phase 2 to Robert Woodhead 
(Woodheads) via Efficiency East Midlands (EEM.) 

 
1.4 This decision was made through a mini competition through the EEM framework and 

Woodheads were contracted for 24 units on Phase 1 and up to 20 units for a further 
phase with details to be determined. Phase 1 was built out as specified and phase 2 
has recently been completed albeit in a reduced form with 8 units delivered on the 
former Cocked Hat site. 

 
1.5  Over the 3 1/2 years we have worked with our current contractor and have developed 

an effective partnership that has benefitted from continuity over time, and this is a 
feature we wish to secure in future arrangements. Working with a common contractor 
has assisted in progressing schemes quicker due to a closer and growing working 
relationship and has improved the overall delivery of housing sites within the HRA.  

 
 
2. SCOPE OF FUTURE PHASES 

 
2.1 The housing service has been working up details for the next stage of the newbuild 

programme for some time and has now identified a number of sites with a combined 
capacity for approximately 30 units that it intends to build, as well as a number of 
others with varying degrees of potential.  In addition, there is an ongoing programme 
of actively working with RP partners to identify development opportunities and 
seeking to directly acquire land for the construction of new Council housing.  This 
new build programme is part of our wider approach to the supply of new affordable 
homes for rent as a landlord, which also includes acquiring Section 106 properties, 
buy back of former Right to Buy properties, and open market purchase of both new 
and existing homes in areas of housing need. 
 

2.2 Some of the challenges that we have identified when bringing these new build sites 
to planning have highlighted that there are direct benefits in having a contractor in 
place prior to submitting planning, especially where constraints of the site require an 
innovative technical solution, as the contractor may have skills and experience that 
will influence the proposed. Without a contractor in place third party advice is often 
needed which may not follow the eventual contractors preferred approach and has 
the potential to create additional cost, complication and delay. 
 

2.3 The HRA Business Plan has identified capacity to deliver circa 95 new homes over 
the next 3 years at a cost of £17m.  This figure is kept under review as our short, 
medium and longer term financial plans are refined in the light of experience.  This 
makes projecting a long terms detailed new build programme inherently challenging, 
as we need to retain the flexibility to respond to business opportunities as they 
emerge, whilst also having an underlying new build supply through our own activities. 
 

2.4 To deliver this programme and utilise the learning of the previous phases the 
intention is to identify a suitable development partner contractor through an existing 
framework agreement. This can be achieved by way of a direct award if we find a 

186



 

contractor that meets our requirements or a mini competition if we want a more 
bespoke scope of works. This will allow us to build up a long-term relationship with 
one or more contractors and benefit from their experience as we confirm the later 
stages of the programme. 
 

2.5 The current plan for new build includes the following sites 
 

 

Scheme Number 
of units 

Budgeted 
Lifetime Cost 

Delivery 
timetable 

Comments 

Moira – former 
garage site 
 

2 £298,000 2021/22 – 22/23 Planning Permission obtained, potential 
in house build being evaluated 

Measham – 
brownfield site 
 

6 £924,000 
 

2021/22 – 22/23 Land assembly underway, draft designs 
completed, Planning Application to follow 

Moira – 
brownfield site 
 
 

10 £1,445,000 2022/23 – 23/24 Planning application pending 

Whitwick 
 
 

16 £2,476,000 2022/23 – 23/24 Complex site, drainage pumping scheme 
design underway as part of detailed 
Planning Application preparation. 

TOTALS 34 £5,143,000   

 
 

 
3. PROPOSED PROCUREMENT 

 
3.1 The Housing Department plans to seek permission from Cabinet to procure 

development partner(s) for the next three years of the newbuild programme.  
 

3.2 The exact scale of the programme will be driven in part by the nature of the sites that 
come forward over this time, however the HRA business plan currently has an 
allocation of £17m for the supply of new affordable and social housing, and this 
provides an indication of the scale involved. It is important to note that this amount 
will fund both new build and the acquisition of properties, with the balance between 
the two sources of new homes to be determined by the new Housing Supply 
Strategy, and the evaluation of sites and other opportunities as they become 
available.  In order to take advantage of emerging opportunities that offer value for 
money it is important to retain flexibility.  The “new build programme” will consist of all 
works planned to commence in the three years after the contract is let, although 
some completions will be after the end of this period. 

 
3.3 The Housing service have identified a number of compliant Procurement Frameworks 

and Dynamic Purchasing Systems (DPSs) and delegation will be sought from 
Cabinet for the Strategic Director to award a contract to the most economically 
advantageous supplier, in consultation with the Section 151 officer and  relevant 
Portfolio Holder. One of the benefits of using a framework agreement to appoint a 
contractor is that the competitive tender process has already been undertaken.  Any 
contract awarded will be compliant with the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 and 
the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU). 

 

187



 

3.4 The quality criteria for assessing submissions to any competitions run through the 
DPS/Framework will include social value, support of local supply chains, and 
experience of low carbon solutions as well as demonstrable understanding of the 
Council’s Design SDP to ensure that the newbuild programme embeds delivery of the 
Council Delivery Plan priorities within it. 

 
3.5 The expectation is that the procurement exercise through a framework will identify a 

primary contractor who will support the Council through the lifetime of the contract 
with bringing sites forward in the most efficient and cost effective manner. However if 
the procurement route selected is through a DPS this provides some flexibility to 
select a contractor on a scheme by scheme basis, potentially offering better value for 
money but without the longer timer commitment of a partnership contract through a 
framework. 
 
 

4.0  CONSIDERATION BY SCRUTINY 
 
4.1   The proposal was considered by Corporate Scrutiny Committee on 2nd September 

2020. Whilst the Committee were in favour of the approach it was suggested that a 
Framework agreement may be more advantageous to the Council than DPS.  The 
draft minutes of the scrutiny meeting are attached as Appendix 1. 

 
4.2  This will be considered alongside other advice when finalising the procurement route 

to be taken. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

188



 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

- Support for businesses and helping people into 
local jobs 

- Developing a clean and green district 
- Local people live in high quality, affordable 

homes 
 

Policy Considerations: 
 

Contract Procurement Rules within Constitution 

Safeguarding: 
 

None identified 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

No direct implications identified  

Customer Impact: 
 

Successful procurement of a newbuild contractor 
will ensure the Council meets its target for new 
home delivery directly benefiting customers as 
allocations will be made through the housing 
register. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

The intention is for the assessment process to have 
regard to social impact and use of local supply 
chains as part of the quality assessment criteria 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

The intention is for the assessment process to have 
regard to experience of and commitment to low 
carbon technology as part of the quality assessment 
criteria 

Consultation/Community 
Engagement: 
 

The proposal was considered by Corporate Scrutiny 
Committee on 2nd September 2020 

Risks: 
 

Whilst there is a risk that a successful contractor will 
not be secured Officers, have carried out extensive 
preparatory work and are satisfied that there are 
several potential framework/DPSs that could 
provide the services required. 

Officer Contact 
 

Chris Lambert 
Head of Housing 
chris.lambert@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

 

189

mailto:chris.lambert@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

APPENDIX 1 
 
Extract from the MINUTES of a meeting of the CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held in the 
Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams on WEDNESDAY, 2 SEPTEMBER 2020  
 
Present:  Councillor R Boam (Chairman) 
 
Councillors J Hoult, E G C Allman, A J Bridgen, G Hoult, R Johnson, S Sheahan, N Smith, 
D E J Tebbutt and M B Wyatt  
 
In Attendance: Councillor R Bayliss   
 
Officers:  Mr A Barton, E Tomlinson, Miss A Wright, Mrs T Bingham, Mr C Brown, M D'Oyly-
Watkins, Mr T Delaney, Mrs A Harper, Mrs M Long, Mr M Murphy, Mr P Sanders, Mr D Scruton and 
Walford 

 
 

7. PROCUREMENT OF HOUSING NEW BUILD CONTRACTOR 
 

Andy Barton, Strategic Director, presented the report to the Committee.  
 
He advised the Committee that the housing department has been working up details 
for the next stage of the new build programme, the details of which were set out in 
the report. 
 
The Housing Department plans to seek permission from Cabinet to procure 
development partner(s) for the next three years of the new build programme. It has 
identified a number of compliant Procurement Frameworks and Dynamic Purchasing 
Systems (DPSs) and delegation will be sought from Cabinet for the Strategic 
Director to award a contract to the most economically advantageous supplier, in 
consultation with the Section 151 officer and relevant Portfolio Holder. 
 
David Scruton, Housing Strategy and Systems Team Manager, added that during 
the first phase of the new build programme, it was established that there were some 
benefits to having an ongoing relationship with a developer to draw on their skills so 
the procurement proposals provide this opportunity. 
 
The Chairman invited Councillor Bayliss as Portfolio Holder to make any additional 
comments. He advised that he would listen carefully to the comments made in order 
that he could convey these to Cabinet. 
 
The Chairman thanked the officers for their report and invited questions and 
comments from Members. 
 
Councillor Sheahan felt that DPS was not suitable for this type of contracting as he 
felt it would create a lot off administration with having to put each part of the work out 
to tender, which could result on having to work with a raft of different people which 
could be complicated. He also felt that contractors may cherry pick which pieces of 
work they wanted to do. Councillor Sheahan felt that the framework agreement was 
the way forward with a clear and transparent selection process. 
 

190



 

Councillor Johnson considered that new build homes which were replacing those 
which had been bought under ‘right to buy’ should be like for like in terms of numbers 
and size. 
 
He was advised the new build was only one element of the supply strategy with 
others being affordable homes provided through Section 106 agreements and also 
purchases including, for example, buy backs of previously sold properties. 
 
Councillor Wyatt referred to paragraphs 1.4 and 1.5 of the report which referenced 
the Cocked Hat site and stated that when new tenants moved in recently a 
registered gas engineer was called, who allegedly claimed that the works were not 
up to standard with lives being at risk through appropriate regulations not having 
been followed. He therefore urged that the inspections were up to date to address 
this situation. Officers provided reassurance the issue would be looked into. 
 
The recommendation as set out on page 37 of the agenda was moved by Councillor 
Tebbutt, seconded by Councillor Sheahan and by affirmation of the meeting:- 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The report be duly noted and the comments made at this meeting be reported to 
Cabinet. 
 

 
 

191



This page is intentionally left blank



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
 

 
Title of Report 
 

MINUTES OF THE COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES 
WORKING PARTY 

Presented by Councillor Andrew Woodman 
Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

Background Papers Agenda and minutes of the 
meeting held 30 June 2020 

Public Report: Yes  
 

Key Decision:  Yes 
 

Financial Implications As set out within the Coalville Special Expenses Finance Update 
and Capital Project Update  reports presented to the Coalville 
Special Expenses Working Party on the 30 June 2020  

Signed off by the Deputy Section 151 Officer: Yes 
 

Legal Implications There are no legal implications 
 

Signed off by the Deputy Monitoring Officer: Yes 
 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None 
 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report To consider the recommendations made by the Coalville Special 
Expenses Working Party. 
 

Reason for Decision To consider the recommendations made by the Coalville Special 
Expenses Working Party. 
 

Recommendations TO NOTE THE RECOMMENDATIONS MADE BY THE 
COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES WORKING PARTY AS 
DETAILED WITHIN THE MINUTES AND APPROVE THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS AS SUMMARISED AT 3.0 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1 The Coalville Special Expenses Working Party meets as often as is required to meet 

business demands – usually quarterly. As the working party reports directly to Cabinet, all 
recommendations made are to be sent to the first available Cabinet meeting after the 
group have met for final approval. 

 
2.0       TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
2.1      To consider budget and financial issues which either solely or predominantly affect the              

Coalville special expenses area and to make recommendations to Cabinet. 
 

2.2 To receive reports and examine possible project options on which  recommendations will 
be made to Cabinet. 

 
3.0      RECOMMENDATIONS FROM MEETING ON 30 JUNE 2020 
 
3.1      Events Update 

      
3.1.1 There are no recommendations. 

 
3.2      Capital Projects Update 

193

Agenda Item 11.

https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=131&MId=2176&Ver=4
https://minutes-1.nwleics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=131&MId=2176&Ver=4


 

 
3.2.1 Approval be given to the allocation of £5,000 from S106 funding for the planting of trees 

and shrubs in the rear field at Coaville Park. 
 

3.2.2 Approval be given to allocation of a maximum of £5,000 from balances for the planting of 
trees, shrubs and plants at Scotlands Recreation Ground.  

 
3.2.3 Authority be delegated to the Chairman and Deputy Chairman in consultation with the 

Ward Member to progress the above initiatives and agree design works.   
 
3.2.4 Coalville Special Expenses Finance Update 
 
3.3.1 There are no recommendations. 
 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

Supporting Coalville to be a more vibrant, family-
friendly Town 

Policy Considerations: 
 

N/A 

Safeguarding: 
 

N/A 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

N/A 

Customer Impact: 
 

Ensuring the correct spending of the special expense 
budget. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

Progression of events and projects cannot be taken 
forward if not agreed. 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

N/A 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

N/A 

Risks: 
 

Progression of events and projects cannot be taken 
forward if not agreed. 

Officer Contact 
 

Paul Sanders 
Head of Community Services  
01530 454832 
paul.sanders@nwleicestershire.gov.uk  

 

194

mailto:paul.sanders@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


 

Chairman’s initials 

APPENDIX A 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES WORKING PARTY held as a 
Remote meeting using Microsoft Teams on TUESDAY, 30 JUNE 2020  
 
Present: 
 
Councillors E G C Allman, A S Black, A J Bridgen, D Everitt, M French, J Geary, J Legrys, 
J Windram and M B Wyatt  
 
Officers:  Mr J Knight, Mrs W May, Mr P Sanders, Mr T Delaney and Mrs M Long 
 

1. APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN FOR ENSUING YEAR 
 

Melanie Long, Democratic Services Team Manager opened this first meeting of the civic 
year by inviting nominations for the appointment of Chairman for the ensuing year. 
 

  Nominations were moved and seconded in respect of Councillor M Wyatt and Councillor 
E Allman and, upon voting on each nomination, it was subsequently 

 

 RESOLVED THAT: 

  

 Councillor M Wyatt be appointed Chairman of the Coalville Special Expenses Working 
Party for the 20/21 civic year.  
 

2. APPOINTMENT OF DEPUTY CHAIRMAN FOR ENSUING YEAR 
 
A nomination was moved and seconded in respect of Councillor A Bridgen and, there 
being no other nominations, it was   

 
RESOLVED THAT: 

 
 Councillor A Bridgen be appointed Deputy Chairman of the Coalville Special Expenses 

Working Party for the 20/21 civic year. 
 

3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
No apologies for absence were received. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
Councillors Legrys declared a non pecuniary interest in any items relating to the Town 
Centre given his role as a volunteer at Hermitage FM; and Councillor Geary declared a 
non pecuniary interest in any item which referred to the Springboard Centre given his role 
as a director there and also to any reference to Mantle Arts and Coalville Football Club 
given his role as a Council representative on these bodies. They both remained for the 
entirety of the meeting. 
 

5. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
 

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting held on 17 December 2019  
 
 RESOLVED THAT:  
  
 By affirmation of the meeting, the minutes of the meeting held on 17 December 2019 be 

approved as a correct record subject to a minor amendment to show that Councillor 
Geary moved the minutes of the previous meeting. 

195



 

Chairman’s initials 

 

6. EVENTS UPDATE 
 

 Wendy May, Cultural Services Team Manager provided an update on the 2020/21 events 
and projects funded within the Coalville Special Expenses Area, the details of which were 
set out in the report. This included the impact on these events as a consequence of 
COVID-19. She advised Members that, since writing the report, there had been some 
early discussions with fairground operators given the recent relaxation of the lockdown 
rules, which may enable a funfair to be held later in the year, though it was too early to 
confirm that at this stage. She also reassured Members of the ongoing discussions 
surrounding Remembrance 2020 adding that a county-wide meeting was scheduled at 
the end of July.  

 
 The Cultural Services Team Manager took Members through the report and invited 

comments thereon.   
 
The Chairman referred to the report on the Artwork at Needhams Walk stating that it was 
a very comprehensive report and that he agreed with the suggested recommendations. 
He stated that he was eager to see how the work on the Christmas lights could be 
progressed to enable a more robust contract to alleviate some of the issues of the past, 
adding that he believed there would be more funding coming forward from developers in 
the future. The Chairman urged Members to ask any future developers coming forward 
with applications in and around the town, if they would like to contribute to the Christmas 
lights in the future.  
 
The Chairman invited comments from the floor. 
 
Councillor Legrys asked whether, in light of the recent planning application from the 
precinct owner, discussions regarding Needhams Walk would be progressed or put on 
hold until the planning application had been determined.   
 
The Cultural Services Team Manager advised that she had not had sight of the full details 
of the planning application but she considered that the artwork in this area to be ‘the icing 
on the cake’ and did not consider discussions at this very early stage to be a primary 
matter for the developer. Timely conversations would be had once she was in a position to 
better understand the anticipated timescales of the proposals of the planning application. 
The Chairman added that he had spoken with the precinct owners and he had mooted the 
idea of artwork at Needhams Walk and they were very favourable of the initiative and 
would very much like to support such a project. He agreed with the Cultural Services 
Team Manager that conversations on how this would be progressed would need to be had 
in a timely manner. 
 
Councillor Geary fully supported this view and asked that conversations not be held with 
the developer until their intentions for the site were fully understood. With reference to 
Remembrance 2020, he asked for clarification on the references in the report to plans A, 
B and C. The Cultural Services Team Manager advised that Plan A – life is normal and 
the delivery of the event would be as previously, Plan B – dependant on guidance on the 
lockdown position and any restrictions on mass gatherings, restrictions on numbers may 
need to be applied and Plan C – should a full lockdown be imposed, there would be no 
external interaction and a completely virtual scenario may have to be enacted. She 
reiterated that, at this stage she did want to try and second guess where we will be in 4 
months’ time but wanted to reassure Members that plans were in place to cover for all 
eventualities.  
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was 
   
 
 

196



 

Chairman’s initials 

RESOLVED THAT: 
 
(1) The progress update on the 2020/21 events programme be noted. 
 
(2) The progress update on the artwork options for Needhams Walk be noted. 
 
(3) Further development of options two and three for the Artwork at Needhams Walk be 

supported, subject to the outcomes of the planning application. 
 

7. CAPITAL PROJECTS UPDATE 
 

 Jason Knight, Leisure Services Team Manager provided an update on the 2020/21 capital 
projects, the details of which were set out in the report.  

 
 Upon the request of the Chairman, the Leisure Services Team Manager took Members 

through each item in turn and invited questions thereon. 
 
 Turning to the first item, Thringstone Miners Social Centre Training Pitch, Councillor 

Everitt advised that the issues surrounding the Club had been rumbling on for quite a 
while but he was hopeful that a solution would be found and that works could progress.  

 
 Councillor Geary added that Thringstone once had a prime football club within 

Leicestershire which had rapidly declined and he had been following the circumstances 
around this very closely over the past few years and he urged caution on the provision of 
funding until they could prove beyond all reasonable doubt that they were capable of 
running a stable organisation. The Leisure Services Team Manager assured Members 
that the Club had now left the site and had no involvement whatsoever, so any funding 
would go to the Trustees and any resident clubs who would oversee any projects.  

 
 On the issue of the Melrose Road Play Hub, Councillor Everitt asked whether 

stonemasons, who cut granite as a matter of course, had been contacted to do the work. 
The Leisure Services Team Manager advised that he could not confirm this but he would 
find out and report back outside the meeting. That said, he was confident that the 
contractors would be able to do this work and will be in a position to commence in the next 
two weeks.  

 
 In relation to Coalville Park, the Chairman expressed his concern regarding the capacity 

of the park in retaining the ability to hold future events adding that it would be a huge 
shame to lose this space. Therefore he encouraged any planting to be around the 
perimeter of the site and not in the centre which would render it incapable of being used to 
host large events.  

  
 Councillor Black and Councillor Allman echoed these concerns, acknowledging that 

enhancing green open spaces was vitally important but that this should not be at the 
expense of the ability to use those spaces. 

 
 Councillor Legrys asked that his thanks and appreciation be passed on to the Parks Team 

for their efforts in keeping Coalville Park maintained throughout the difficult past few 
weeks. He asked whether local residents and volunteers could be consulted on the design 
element of the planting scheme before a final decision was made.  The Chairman gave his 
assurance that no scheme would be progressed if it did not meet with approval from local 
residents.  

 
 Councillor Everitt stated that the problem over lack of green spaces was not limited to 

Coalville as this was replicated throughout the district with even the smallest pieces of 
land being built on. He endorsed the comments already made. 

 

197



 

Chairman’s initials 

 Councillor Allman made reference to a protection order for Ashby Baths Grounds and 
asked whether something similar was or could be applied to Coalville Pak. The Leisure 
Services Team Manager advised that protection was in place for the Park itself but not the 
field at the rear as this wasn’t classed as part of the Park. If it were, then the Order might 
be able to be extended to cover it. In terms of consultation, he added that this was 
possible but regard needed to be had to the very strict timescales which needed to be met 
in order to access the funding so any consultation would need to be swift. It was agreed 
that he would look at some wording which could be put on the website seeking views from 
local residents. 

 
Councillor Geary asked whether consultation on the skate park graffiti project could be 
deferred until Picnic in the Park next year to ensure that an opportunity to consult with 
young people was not missed. It was therefore agreed that this would be postponed until 
next year.  
  
Turning to the issue of Lillehammer Drive, Councillor Legrys asked if there was any 
indication from Barratts as to when they were going to clear the site. The Leisure Services 
Team Manager advised that Barratts no longer have any responsibility for that site as it 
has been transferred to the District Council, and due to COVID-19 it was not possible to 
maintain it, but now that grass cutting had been resumed, this should now have been 
done. 
 
On discussing Coalville in Bloom 2020, Councillor Geary asked whether the surplus could 
be spent on infrastructure for next year and would be ringfenced. It was confirmed that 
because the money was external funding specifically for this project then it had to be 
ringfenced to this project and would roll over to the next financial year with no impact on 
the precept. 
 
Councillor Allman urged caution in extending the scheme into Ashby Road given that for 
much of next year it is likely to resemble a building site. The Chairman agreed that this 
would be taken into consideration. 
 
In relation to Scotlands Bowls Pavilion, the Chairman asked whether the building was 
structurally sound and likely to still be a viable option to be taken on even if left empty for 
a while. He was advised that the biggest risk was damage caused through anti-social 
behaviour and additional fencing had been erected in an attempt to deter this. Councillor 
Geary sought clarification on the bowling green and how this was being maintained.  He 
was advised that the grass was being cut but it was not being maintained as a bowling 
green as this would incur additional costs but he was assured that to return it to its former 
glory would not be too excessive and would only take a few weeks.  
 
Turning to the issue of Asset Management, Councillor Allman expressed concern over the 
amounts being charged to the local authority by structural surveyors. He asked that we 
check to make sure we were using the right people as the figures appeared excessive 
given his knowledge in this field. The Leisure Services Team Manager advised that he 
would check with Property Services who are responsible for the procurement of the 
structural surveyors.  Councillor Everitt echoed these concerns given his experience in the 
telecoms industry where over charging local authorities was said to be rife. 
 
In relation to Scotlands Recreation Ground, Councillor Legrys asked if the football club 
would be inclined to want to fence it off to prevent dog fouling and he was advised that it 
would have to be retained as a public open space and could not be fenced off without 
Council approval and it would also be built into the lease that the Council could use the 
land for events should it wish to do so. Councillor Wyatt sought confirmation as to how 
much a lease for the football club would save Coalville Special Expenses. The Leisure 
Services Manager said that any income received above the annual fee paid by the club 
would effect a saving and that the club would also have to take on the liability and costs 

198



 

Chairman’s initials 

incurred through maintenance issues arising with either the grass pitch or the changing 
pavilion. 
 
A lengthy debate was had on tree planting and the desire to protect trees from vandalism, 
ongoing maintenance, and the concerns expressed by local residents who would support 
tree planting to act as an intrusion barrier. Support was given to the possibility of planting 
more mature trees to help alleviate some of the issues raised and it was agreed to seek 
advice from the National Forest.  
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was  
  
RECOMMENDED TO CABINET THAT: 
 
(1) Approval be given to the allocation of £5,000 from S106 funding for the planting of 

trees and shrubs in the rear field at Coaville Park. 
 

(2) Approval be given to allocation of a maximum of £5,000 from balances for the 
planting of trees, shrubs and plants at Scotlands Recreation Ground.  

 
(3) Authority be delegated to the Chairman and Deputy Chairman in consultation with the 

Ward Member to progress the above initiatives and agree design works.   
 

8. COALVILLE SPECIAL EXPENSES FINANCE UPDATE 
 
Paul Sanders, Head of Community Services presented the report.  
 
The Working Party was advised that, at the time of writing the report, the revenue outturn 
and asset protection fund for 2019/20 was still being finalised. The provisional outturn will 
be reported to Cabinet on 23 July 2020 and an update will be provided at the next meeting 
of the Working Party in October. 
 
It was noted that the 2019/20 outturn had not yet been finalised and therefore the opening 
balance of the reserve was likely to change.  
 
Members were advised that, due to the pandemic, there would be a reduction in planned 
expenditure of £81k due to the suspension of the grounds maintenance services received 
(£52k) and the cancellation of a number of events (£28k). As the special expenses 
account is ring-fenced, the reduction in planned expenditure will be transferred into 
reserves. This has meant that that there will now be a contribution to reserves of £66k, 
compared to a budgeted deficit of £15k that was to be funded through reserves. 
 
There is a planned maintenance programme in place for 2020/21. The approved budget is 
£46k, of which £24k is funded through the asset protection fund, £12k from reserves and 
£10k from external contributions. There has been no planned maintenance undertaken 
during the year yet and therefore nil expenditure. 
 
By affirmation of the meeting it was 
  
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
The 2020/21 Period 1 actuals and forecast outturn for the year, be noted.  

 
 
 

199



 

Chairman’s signature 

Before the close of the meeting, Councillor Geary reported that during the lockdown 
period, the Owen Street Pavilion had been refurbished from top to bottom at the Football 
Club’s expense which was welcome news. He also asked whether there would be any 
further meetings of the Events Sub Group before the end of the year. It was 
acknowledged that a date had been agreed for a meeting on 16 September at 5pm. The 
membership of this had been agreed at an earlier meeting. Councillor Geary asked if he 
could attend and was advised he would be welcome.  
 
 
POST MEETING NOTE - As the above date now clashes with a changed time to a 
meeting of the Local Plan Committee, the Events Sub Group will be held on 
Tuesday 15 September at 5pm. 
 

The meeting commenced at 6.30 pm 
 
The Chairman closed the meeting at 7.55 pm 
 

 

200



NORTH WEST LEICESTERSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
CABINET – TUESDAY, 29 SEPTEMBER 2020 
 
 
 

Title of Report 
 

PROCUREMENT EXEMPTION IN RELATION TO THE AWARD 
OF A CONTRACT IN RELATION TO THE COUNCIL'S STRAY 
DOG COLLECTION SERVICES 
 

Presented by Councillor Andrew Woodman 
Community Services Portfolio Holder 
 

Background Papers Exemption form signed by 
the Statutory Officers – kept 
on file 

Public Report: Yes 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Financial Implications The annual contract value is £30,000.00 
 

Signed off by the Section 151 Officer: Yes 

Legal Implications The Environmental Protection Act provides a statutory duty on 
local authorities to collect stray dogs within their area. 
 

Signed off by the Monitoring Officer: Yes 

Staffing and Corporate 
Implications 
 

None identified. 
 

Signed off by the Deputy Head of Paid Service: Yes 
 

Purpose of Report To report on the exemption to the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules in order to award of a contract for the 
provision of dog warden and kennelling services that could 
not be competitively tendered 

Reason for Decision The council’s Financial and Contract Procedures require that 
exemptions be reported to Cabinet 

Recommendations CABINET IS ASKED TO NOTE THE EXEMPTION IN 
RELATION TO THE AWARD OF A CONTRACT FOR THE 
PROVISION OF DOG WARDEN AND KENNELLING 
SERVICES 
 

 
1.0 BACKGROUND 

 
1.1  Procurements and purchases made by council services are controlled by the Contracts 

Procedure Rules and the Financial Procedure for Special Circumstances (CPR 3.1.1/FPR 
C53)  

 
1.2 In August of this year, an Exemption Request was approved by the council’s Statutory 

Officers to approve the direct award of a contract for the provision of Dog Warden Services 
and Kennelling to Animal Care Services Limited 

 
2.0 ISSUE WITH CURRENT CONTRACT 

 
2.1 The current contract with College Garth kennels for provision of Dog Warden Services and 

Kennelling is due to expire on the 30th September 2020.  A competitive tender process had 
been anticipated and was being prepared for as much as possible. 

 
2.2 The council was advised of a change in family circumstances which was likely to have a 

significant impact on the operation of the business going forward.  As a result the company 
is expected to be put into administration in September 2020. 

 
2.3 The appointment of an administrator constitutes a breach of our contract and provides for 

the immediate termination of the contract. 

201

Agenda Item 12.



 

 
2.4 As there are dogs currently in the kennels and the provision of a dog warden is a statutory 

service of the council it is imperative that a new contract is lined up to take over as soon as 
the old contract is terminated.  

 
3.0 NEW CONTRACT 

 
3.1 Animal Care Services Limited is being set up by some of the shareholders of College Garth 

Kennels and will be run from Kennels in Queniborough, Leicestershire.   
 
3.2 A contract identical to that with College Garth has been negotiated with the same terms 

and fees applicable.  The estimated value of the contract is £30,000.00 per year. 
 
3.3 A one year plus one year term has been negotiated.  This will provide the council with the 

reassurance that their services will still be provided for at least one year and will afford the 
council the time to undertake a full procurement exercise.  The option to extend for a further 
year at the sole discretion of the council will offer the flexibility and reassurance that the 
council needs when providing a statutory service. 

 
3.4 Working with the same team that had previously been at College Garth will offer the council  

with the continuity of a reliable service that it has received to date. 
 
3.5 Soft market testing has not identified any other provider of this service in the county, 

although this was not relied on as a reason to request exemption. 
 

 
 

Policies and other considerations, as appropriate 

Council Priorities: 
 

- Our communities are safe, healthy and connected 

Policy Considerations: 
 

N/A  

Safeguarding: 
 

There are no Safeguarding implications 

Equalities/Diversity: 
 

No negative equality impacts highlighted. 

Customer Impact: 
 

The award of a contract ensure that the council is 
able to meet its statutory duty to collect stray dogs in 
its area. 

Economic and Social Impact:  
 

There are no negative economic or social impacts 

Environment and Climate Change: 
 

There are no environmental or climate change 
impacts 

Consultation/Community Engagement: 
 

No consultation undertaken as no impact on the 
community 

Risks: 
 

For reasons explained in the report the current 
contract had to be terminated. The award of a new 
contract ensures that the council continues to meet its 
statutory duties in relation to stray dogs.    

Officer Contact 
 

Lee Mansfield 
Environmental Health Team Manager 
lee.mansfield@nwleicestershire.gov.uk 
 

 

202

mailto:lee.mansfield@nwleicestershire.gov.uk


Document is Restricted

203

Agenda Item 14.
Likely to contain exempt information under paragraph(s) 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

215

Likely to contain exempt information under paragraph(s) 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

217

Agenda Item 15.
Likely to contain exempt information under paragraph(s) 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

219

Likely to contain exempt information under paragraph(s) 3 of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4. Minutes
	5. Council Delivery Plan 2020/21 Formal Adoption, 2019/20 Q4 & 2020/21 Q1 Monitoring
	Annex A - Scrunity Minutes
	Annex B - CDP 2020-21 Cabinet
	Annex C - Performance Reporting

	6. MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES AND LOCAL GOVERNMENT CHANGES TO THE CURRENT PLANNING SYSTEM: CONSULTATION ON CHANGES TO PLANNING POLICY AND REGULATIONS
	7. Review of Medium Term Financial Plan
	8. Provisional Financial Outturn 2019/20
	9. New Affordable Housing Supply Strategy 2020
	Enc. 1 for New Affordable Housing Supply Strategy 2020

	10. Procurement of Housing New Build Contractor
	11. Minutes of the Coalville Special Expenses Working Party
	Enc. 1 for Minutes of the Coalville Special Expenses Working Party

	12. Procurement exemption in relation to the councils dog warden and kennelling services
	14. The Recovery of our Leisure Centres and the Partnership Contract with Everyone Active
	ANNEX A for The Recovery of our Leisure Centres and the Partnership Contract with Everyone Active

	15. Agile IT Equipment Supplier Procurement Exemption
	Enc. 2 for ANNEX 1 - Agile IT Equipment Supplier Procurement Exemption


